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Who we are

National Express Group is a leading transport
provider delivenng services in the UK,

North America, Spain and Morocco.

Our vision

Is to eam the lifetime loyalty of our customers
by consistently delivering frequent,

high performing public transport services
which offer excellent value.

Our strategy
We are focused on the following:

Deliverng operational excellence
read more on pages 11 and 16

Driving organic growth
read more on pages 12 and 17

Generating supenor cash and retums
read more on pages 13 and 18

Delivering new opportunities from
capital-light markets
read more on pages 13 and 19

Unless otherwsa stated, all profit, margn and EPS data refer to normalised results,
whuch can be found on the face of the Group Income Statement n the first column
The defiruion of normalised profit s as follows statutory result excluding profit or
loss on the sale of busness, exceptional profit or loss on sale of non-current assets
and charges for goodwll impairment, intangible asset amortisabon excephonal
tems and tax relief thereon The Board believes that the normalised resutt gves

a better ndication of the undertyng performance of the Group

Commercial reveriue growth refers to revenue generated by passenger transport,
excluding concessionary and subsidy Income

Operatng margin s the ratio of normalised operating profit to reverue
for continuing businesses

Operating cash flow is ntended to be the cash flow equivalent of normatsed
operatng profit. Free cash flow 1s ntended to be the cashilow equivalent of
normalised profit after tax. A reconciiabon s set out n the table within the
Finance Dvector's review on page 21

Net debt 15 defined as cash and cash equivalents (cash overmight deposits and
other short term deposits) and other debt recevables offset by borrowings
flcan nates bank loans and finance lease obhgatons) and other debt payable
{exctuding accrued nterest)

EBITDA 15 ‘Earmings Before nterest Tax, Depreciation and Amortisation’

it 1 calculated by takng normakised operating profit and adding depreciation,
fixed asset grant amortsation, normalised profit on disposal of nor-current
assets and share-based payments It s defined n ine with the Group s
banking documentation

The EPS generated by the Rall business s caleuiated using the nomalised
operating profit of the Rail dvision taxed at the UK tax rate
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Overview

Financial highlights

Delivering tfinancial retums,
managing uncertainty

« Third successve year of margin growth, up 150 basisponts to 116%  » Won nearty £2 billon of new contracted revenue n the (ast 12 months
o Thurd year of growing non-rail profit, at £185 2 mdkon (2011 £181 Brm) ¢ Successfully integrated Petermann with annualised synergies of

« Delivered £34 milion of cost savings In year $10 milion delvered

* Improved operational performance with industry-leading busnesses + Dwarsified our nsk by broadening our product range and entering

¢ Delvered a Group non-rail ROCE mprovement of 14% over three years new markets
0 106%  Strong balance sheet with long term funding matunty

Generated £140 millon of free cash flow {before rail franctise handover) ¢ Fin@ proposed dividend of 6 6p, total dndend for year 9 75p,
and funded over £125 millon of organic capital mvestment up 3% year-on-year

Group revenue Operating margn Group operating profit

£1,831.2m 11.6% £211.9m

Non-Rail operating profit Eamings per share Dmidend per share

£185.2m 25.5P 9.75°

www nationalexpressgroup com
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Overview
Where we are today

An integrated approach

Below 15 a snapshot showing the foundations of our Group and our progress dunng the year

How we create value
Our business

A leading transport promder delivenng services in the UK, North Amenca,
Spain and Morocco

Naticnal Express Group PLC

Bus Coach Rall
Spain uK UK
* ALSA + National Expross * c2C

* Eurdlines

North America
* Duwham School Serices * The Kings Femy
» Stock Transportation Spain
+ Pgtermann « ALSA
UK

* Natonal Express Bus

4 7 Readmore

How we manage our business

Our Board of Directors

Balance 1$ considerad a kay requirement for the composition of
the Board, not only In terms of the Executives and Non-Executves,
but also with regard to the mix of skills, expenence, knowledge,
ndgpendence and diversity

2012 saw the appointment of Jackie Hurt to the National Express
Group PLC Board She was joned by Sir John Ammitt at the start of
the year, who has since become our Charman Additionally, both
Meranda Curtis and John Devaney stepped down from the Board

Our strategy |
2012 has been ancther year of good progress
In delvenng on each part of this strategy ‘

Dniving organic growth '
12 17 Read more ‘

Generating supenor cash and returns i
13 18 Read more |

Delivenng operational excellence
11 16 Read more

Delwenng new opportuntties
13 19 Read more

SirJohn Ammitt  Dean Finch Jez Maiden
52 Read more Chamman Group Chief Group Finance
Executive Director
Full biographigs at
nationalexpressgroup com/aboutus/ourmanagement aspx
The joumey so far
2010 201
Two year extension
granted to
£350m 7-year Steriing bond £225m 10-year Sterling cZc franchise
issue oversubscribed bond issued
Jan Feb Mar Apr May 4n Jed Aug Sep Nov Dec Jan  Feb Mar Apr May Jun
Dean Finch joins as new Start of Agadir bus service Three new directors appointed
Group Chief Executive contract m Morocco to the Board

National Exprass Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2012




Risks

Cur nsk management procass

+ provides a framework to identify, assass and
manage nsks 1o the Group’s overal strategy
and the contnbution of its incrmdual dvsions,

* gves business unit management tools to
identfy and manage nsks,

+ alows Group managemsnt to identify and
manage the nsks that are lkely to have a
more sigrificant mpact on the financial
results and strategy and share common

Our markets

Spain

Al SA has a leading possition in a regulated
and highly segmenied market Concessions
exclusive {0 each operator

24 Read more

North Amenca
One third of school bus market outsourced
Public funding pressures are driving

conversion to outsourcing New opportunities
in transit and para-transit

28 Read more

1ssues and solutions, and

« allows the Board to fulfii its governance
responsibiites

43 Read more

Govermance

National Express is committed to operating its businesses In a responsible manner
Qur corporate governancs framework forms an integral part of this appreach in order
to sateguard shareholder value

Our company-wide policies and procedures, including nsk management, are considered
as part of the overall governance of the business

This report focuses on the Group's approach to corporate govemance as provided in the
UK Corporate Governance Code 2011 which is applicable to the company for the financial
year being reported  The Group also has regard to developing corporate govemance best
practice Including matters contained in vanous investor guidelines

50 Read more 46 Read more
New coachcards launched after 201 2
the UK Government removes its
concessionary travel scheme
Prequalification for Essex Petermann deal completed
Drvidend reinstated, Thameside and Great - opens up transit/para- Guadalajara contract
with new payout policy Westem rail tenders transit markets won n Spain
Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec
Announcement of Feet invastment End of East Angha ratl National Express Sir John Armitt named as
Petermann acquisition of £132m i Bus, franchise Foundation launched new Chalrman
- opens up transit/ Coach and Spain
para-transit

UK Bus
Largest five operators represent 70% of the
UK market Pnmarily a deregulated market

32 Read more

UK Coach

The UK scheduled coach markst leader
operating in a highly deregulated markst
Selectve competiion from other coach
operators and rail

36 Readmore

UK Rail
Regluated snvironment and evolving
franchise model

40 Read more

Living our values

We shars a common set of values across
the business which help us delver our
strategy They are embedded in our
day-to-day operatons and shape how
we conduct our business

Safety Customer People Community

www Nationalexpressgroup com
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Overview
National Express Group at a glance

A leading global

transport provider

Delvenng services in the UK, North Amenca, Spain and Morocco Every year more than

800 milion journeys are made on our buses, trains, hght ral services and coaches

Span Bus and Coach North Amenca. Bus UK Bus
Segment descnption * ALSA * Durham School Services s Natonal Express
Our Spanish business, « Stock Transportation West Mdlands

ALSA, operates long distance,

+ Petermann

» National Exprass Coventry

g&naj Eand urbaEa ) buiss?;;n The main focus of our business ~ * National Express Dundes
and i Morocco n North Amenca Is student * Midiand Metro
transportation and operates National Express 1s the market
ALSA was acquired by in 32 US states and four leader n the UK's largest urban
National Exprass in 2005, Canadian provinces bus market outside of London
and our posstion in Spain We also run services In
The business is the second

was sl;;fngzeggndnme largest private operator of Coventry and Dundee
acquisition
Auto In 2007 Apart from s school buses in North Amenca In addftion, we operate
bus and coach services, Wa are also buldng the the Mdland Metro ight rad
the business also operates number of transtt and service between Bimingham
service areas and other para-transit contracts we and Wolverhampton
transport-related businesses, operate in the US
such as fuel distnboution

Financial highlights Revenue Revenue Revenue

m m m
££635.0 £6578.3 £269.0
Operating profit Operating profit Operating profit
m m m

£83.8 £691 £34.1

More information 24 Readmore 28 Read more 32 Rsadmore

National Express Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2012




Our global position

North America
* Durham Schodl Services
= Stock Transportation

UK
= National Express Bus

*c2c
+ National Express
* The Kings Ferry

Spain and Merocco
* ALSA

The Group operates In the UK, North Amenca, Spain and Morocco
and at the end of the year we employed 42,000 people and operated
over 25,000 vehicles Passengers made more than 800 million

The National Express name first appeared on UK coaches in 1972,
and the company was histed on the London Stock Exchange in 1992

= Petermann
National Express Group
journays on our senaces N 2012

UK Coach UK Rail

* Natonal Express * c2c

s Eurolines National Express operates the

* The Kings Ferry industry-leading ¢2c franchise

which serves London and

National Express 1s the South Esse

largest operator of scheduled

coach services in the UK It 1s an mportant commuter

The business operates high route serving 25 statons on

fraquency services inking the Iine out of Fenchurch Street

around 1,000 destinatons station, London

across the courtry We rar National Express East Group revenue by market
We are the UK partner in the Anglia untl February 2012 Spain 29%
Eurolines network which serves North Amenca  32%
over 500 dastinations across KB 15%
Europe and North Afnca UK Bus

UK Coach 14%
UK Ral 10%
Revenue Revenue
m m
£2551 £195.1
Operating profit Operating profit
m m
£20.6 £26.7
36 Readmore 40 Read more

Group operating profit by market
Spain 38%
North Amenca  26%
UK Bus 15%
UK Coach 9%
UK Rail 12%

Revenue and profit percentage in Sterfing.

www nationalexpressgroup com
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Overview
Our business model

Driving value for shareholders

We have set out a strategy to dnve further value from our core bus and coach operations, and from

our market opportunities

Bus
UK

How our business works

National Express West Midlands 1s the
rnarket leader In the largest single urban
network In the UK deregulated market
The deregulated model allows for total
flexibility in both fares and service The
busness has a high regonal market share,
with strong competition from muttiple
operators on specific routes Modal
competition 1s pnncipally from prrvate cars

North Amenca

How our business works

In North Amenican schoo! bus, the Group's
operations are carned out by our subsidianes,
Durham School Servicas (US), Petermann
{US) and Stock Transportaton {Canada}
The cutsourced (private operator) market is
only around one third of the total, with the
remainder being in-sourced, that 1s, owned
and run by the school beards themselves
Contracts typically run from three to five
years Once secured, contracts have low
revenue nsk over the contract Iife

Spain

How our business works

ALSA has a strong posttiort in the
outsourced urban bus market in Span,
operating city bus services on behalf of
urban councils and transport consoria
The outsourced rmarket in Span reprasents
smaller ctres and suburban services,

the major ciies are stil runin-house by
murucipalies or consortia Contracts
typically last from 10 to 20 years It also
has a fast-growing business n Morocco,
running services in Marrakech and Agadir,
where ALSA takes revenue nsk

How we build long term value
Revenue and profitability are drven by

the scale of operations delivenng frequent,
reliable and affordable services across
abroad network Passenger growth s
supported by sustainable investment

n a high quality fleet.

How we build long term value

We are the second largest private operator
n North Amenca with high contract
retention and a focus on customer serice
Management of capral 1s key; most new
contracts require investment in new buses
and asset uthsation 1s low, due to the part
tme usage of these specalised vehicles
Scale 15 beneficial but not overarching
—economies can be achieved through
procurement, centralisaton of adrmenistration
and businass development

How we build long term value
Revenue s dnven by contractual obligations
over fares and kilometres operated We
manage profit by maintanng a tight control
over costs ALSA continues to target and
win new city contracts in both manland
Spain and Morocco, and 1s well-postioned
for further outsourang opportunities

Key nsks to manage
* Recovery of higher fuel cost

* Economy stil fragle
« Annuahsation of BSOG cut
» Pensions accountng impact

32 Read more

Key nsks to manage
= Recovery of higher fuel cost

* Legislaton/regulatory change
= Ancillary/discretionary route reduction

28 Read more

] MNatonat Express Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2012

Key nsks to manage
» Recovery of higher tuel cost

24 Read more




Our business model

National Express operates pnncipally n outsourced public transportation markets Growth in these markets i1s dnven
by increasing social mebiity, GDP and the outsourang of public provision of services The forecast trend is for ongoing
deregulation in both developed and developing economies

The Group uses its operational expertise, expenence and accumulated know-how to provide best in class transport
services, which in tum dnves revenue and profit growth There are s0me economies of scale n procurement, insurance,
overhead costs and financing Private transport operators can provide a higher standard of service and better value for
money than publc or state management National Express can leverage this expertise acress different modes of transport

and in different geographies

The structurally cash-generative nature of the business, as many of cur customers pay in advance, enables us to combine
sustanable nvestment in existing operations with the opportunity to add shareholder value ether through high-return

growth or the return of capital

Coach

Spain

How our business works

The ntercity coach market In Spainis
regulated and supported by long term
coNcession agreements provided to
operators In exchange for public service
aobligatons Concessions typically run for
10to 15 years Public transport 1s seen
as an essential senace in Spain

Concessions are operated exclusnely,
resuting in competiion being pnmarnly
infermodal, 1 & with rall, low cost arines
and the car, rather than other coach and
bus operators {where competiion is at
point of tender)

UK

How our business works
‘National Express’ is the natonal coach
network operator in the UK, offenng
great value and accessble travel to all

It operates the only scheduled national
UK coach network and the largest n
Europe, iIn a deregulated market where
we have flexibiity over pneing and supply
Competiion is modal, aganst rail and
pnvate car National Express runs 500
coaches a day serving around 1,000
domestic destinations

Rail
UK

How our business works

National Express has a strong operational
skills base in UK rall, one of the few
privatised systermns in Europe The UK rait
industry compnises franchises awarded
on an exclusive operation basis to private
operators Pricas are predominantty
regulated and costs are substantally fixed
around track access, noling stock and
franchise payments Franchisees therefore
primarily target passsnger volume growth,
whilst fulfiling therr service obligations

How we build ong term value

ALSA 15 the largest pnvate operator of
coaches in Span |ts portfolio providas

a balance between long distance coach
operations, which recenve no subsidy and
take revenue nsk in return for flexibiity over
the number of services operated and a
regulated maximum fare, and regional coach
operations which may be partly subsidised
by the autonomous Govemments

How we build long term value
Natonal Express has a flexible, outsourced
business model, where third party
providers supply 80% of the coaches

and respongsibility for sales lles with the
company With 90% brand recognition, the
National Express coach business benefits
from its integrated network and scale,
offening breachh and interconnectnaty,
where competitors

offer only point-to-point services with
mrted infrastructure

How we build long term value

The Group ran two franchises in 2012,
operatng Nabonal Express East Anglia unti
February 2012 and c2c throughout the year
¢2¢ s the UK’s best perforrring franchise
The Group s now starting to explott its

rail expertise In deregulating markets
outside the UK, particularty in Germarry
where it has now been selected to run

its first two contracts

Key nsks to manage
* Racovery of higher fusl cost

* Threat from RENFE (rail)
* Weaker consumer demand
* Transport law reform

24 Readmore

Key nsks to manage
* Competrtion - rail
¢ Government policy - BSOG elimination

36 Read more

Key nsks to manage
* Department for Transpori bid delays
+ London/city employment trends

40 Read more
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Overview
Chairman’s letter

Delivering shareholder value

I am pleased to report that National Express has delivered a good revenue and profit performance
as part of another strong set of results for 2012

Dear shareholder,

| am delighted to have joined the Group in Jaruary this year,
taking over as Charrman from John Devaneay who has led
the company with clanty of purpose through a challenging
but successful penod |lcok forward to bulding on the solid
foundations that he has put in place

National Express continues to be one of the strongest
performing providers of public transportation  The strength
and resllience of the Group lles in our unigue, diversified
portfolio of high quality businesses, operating in Bus,
Coach and Rall, providing excellient geographic access

to those markets Transport trends over the last 20 years
have been posrtive and National Express benefits from

a combination of highly wsible revenues from long term
confracts and dereguiated operations addressing

a socially importart need

Our UK Bus, UK Coach and Raill operations, and the
dmsions In Spain and North Amenca, are well managed and
flexible businesses with a track record of successive margmn
improvement, delivered by completing a hughly succassful
tumaround programme begun in 2010 Our strength in
delvenng operatonal excellence has seen National Express
invest in new vehicles, technology and peopts, which have
helped to drve undertying revenue and IMprove margns
Across the Group, we contnue to focus on achieving
greater cost efficencies, reducing vanable costs by flaxing
operational mieage, and offenng highly competitive

prices with a quality service others find difficuft to mateh,
drmving organic growth

In 2012 we acqurred the Pstemrmann school bus business
in North Amenca, a strategically significant acquisibon
which has been successfully Integrated into the Group
Along with two other smaller acquisibions, this has also
provided a platform for us to establish and advance our
North Amencan Transit business

Sir John Attt

B National Express Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2012




National Express conminues to be an impressive

cash generator Our balance sheet 1s underpinned

by an appropnate dvdend and funding structure

The Group has strong hqudity and investment grade delst
with a long matunty profile The Board 1s committed to a
gearing polcy which provides secunty but at the same time
allows us to Invest for the future Publc transport markets
are growing and liberalising around the worid This offers
arange of market opportunties for National Express in
passenger transport contracts and concessions in selected
target markets

Dwidend

The quality of our business and our chosen strategy enable
us to generate an iImproving retum on capital The Board
has an attractive and sustanable dmvidend policy which s
appropnate for the current business ervironmant, where,
alongside our opportunities, challenges will continue

i1 a world of austenty Our am 1s to pay a dwvdend that

1s covered approximately twice by our Bus and Coach
eamings The Board s recommending that the final
didend for 2012 15 Increasad by 0 1 pence, 10 6 6 pence,
which, when added 1o the mtenm dmdend of 315 pence,
rapresents an increase of 3% for the year as a whole

Subject to approval by shareholders, the final dvdend will be

pad on 17 May to shareholders registered at 26 Apnl 2013

Board

On behalf of the whole Board, | would Iike to thank our
departing Charman, John Devaney, for the fortitude and
energy with which he has led National Express since 2009
We welcomed Jackie Hunt 1o the Board dunng 2012 and
she has quickly brought her strong financial skills and bsted
company expenence 1o our discussions

Our values

Durng my inihial wisits around the business, | have been
impressed by the high level of commitment shown by the
Group's management and employees to its core values
QOur employess place great value on safety, customer
service, ther colleagues and the communrties n which
we operate Doing therr difficult but often rewarding jobs,
our employees will ensure the long term sustanabirty

of the Group

Our future
With the nght strategy and inrbatives in place, | am excrted
about the opportunies avalable for us and believe we will
acd to our pipekne of long term contracts and concessions
coming months These have the potenttal to
er r growth and retums to shareholders

S N

r John Armitt
Chairman
28 February 2013

Investment case

1 Abestn class public
transport operator

Margin Bestin

% class %

Spain 157 NX
N Amenca 102 NX
UK Bus 127 17
UK Coach 81 NX
Raul 137 NX
Group 16 NX

2 Well balanced portfolio with
diversified exposure to modes

of transport and geographies
Span £535m
North Amenca £578m
UK Bus £269m
UK Coach £255m
UK Rail £195m

3 Credible strategy

Delivering operational

excellence

« Margin at 11 6% —best in class
1 4 out of 5 dmsions

¢ Record non-Rail profit at
£185 million — third successive
year of growth

Driving organic growth

* Revenueup 7%

* New contracts secured =
nearty £2 billon in revenue

Generating supenor
cash and retums

* Free cash flow of £141 millon
—investing for growth

» Non-Rail pre-tax ROCE
stable at 10 6%

Delivenng new
opportunities

» Delvery of $10 millon
annuahsed synergies from
Peterrnann school bus
acquisiion

+ $65 milion revenue US Transit
business established

14 Read more

4, Stable financial footing, with a commitment to investment
grade credit rating and medium term financing

Geanng ratios 202 201 Covenant
Net debt/ EBITDA 28x 19x <3 5x
Intarest cover 6 7x 72x >3 5x
Ratings Grade Outlook
Moodys Baa3 Postve
Fich BBB- Stable
Strong debt matunty profile
5 Dwidend policy offering growth on a sustamable non-rail
eamings basis
2012 p 2011 p
Basic EPS Non-rail 216 207
Rall 38 63
Group 255 270
Dridend 975 95
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Delvenng on our strategy

Group Chief Executive’s strategic review

Bullding on our strengths

National Express enjoys leading posttions in all of its principal markets,
which have attractve medium and long term growth charactenstics

Dean Finch

National Express Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2012

Introduction

The Group ended 2012 having established itself n a number
of new and growing markets n particutar, public transit In
North Amenca, German Ral and German Coach We are
corminced that our strategy of pursuing organic growth in
our core markets, deploying our expertise N new markats
where we have an existing geographic presence, and
focused debt reducton, will enable the Group 1o deliver
supenor retums to s shareholders

This has been a challenging year for the Group We have
overcome the loss of the National Exprass East Angha
franchise, nsing fuel costs, economic recession and austenty
1in mary of our markets Group profit before tax has reduced
by £16 milhon year-cn-year, entirely reflecting the loss of one
millon senior crtizen passengers due to the withdrawal of
thetr concessionary scheme by the UK Govermment

In each of our markets, we have taken considerable steps
to mprove the quality of our services, to reduce ¢osts and
grow revenues Group revenue increased by 7%, berefiting
frorn acquisitions and after adjusting for rail franchises
handed back at end of contract term Group operating
margin has improved by 150 basis points 10 a bast-in-class
116% Operatng profit for the year was £211 9 milion

(2011 £225 2mj} as we made substantial progress in
mitigating almost £50 million of profit headwinds

Profit before tax was £164 1 mulicn (2011 £180 2m)

As many of the UK's rail franchises reach the end of ther
current contract terms, Natonal Express stands outas a
dnersified bus and coach operator Our non-ral businesses
generated a record operating profit of £185 2 million

{2011 £181 8m) We reman the leading operator by margin in
rmost of our businesses Our core markets are sustamed by
long term, positive trends, such as outsouraing, deregulation
and the ever-ncreasing cost of fuel and motonng  For our
customers, we provide safe, reliable and frequent public
fransport services at low pnees n times of austenty




For our investors, we are focused on dmang our return
on capital, generating strong cash flows and enhancing
future earnings through leadership In our existing and
developing markets

Highhghts
In 2012 we achieved some impressive resutts, delvered
by our high qualty dnsional management teams

+ UK Bus achseved revenue (+2%), profit (+4%} and margn
(+30 basis points) growth We invested in over 200 new
buses over the last 18 months, camed out network
revews In two major locations and limited fare increases,
recognising the pressure on housshold budgets In doing
s0, wa have more than compensated for the £4 milion
BSOG fuel duty rebate reduction Passenger
satisfacton increased by 4% in the Passenger Focus
Bus Passenger Survay

* In North Amenca revenue grew by 19% overall, through
organic growth, a strong bid season with 97% contract
retention and 26 new contract wins, and the successful
acguisition and ntegration of the Petermann school bus
business Operating profit grew by 22% to $34 millon,
including the delivery of n-year synergies of $7 milkon
from Petermann and a first contrbution from our small
but fast-growing Transit dvision

In Spain, ALSA has shown a remarkable ability to continue
to grow revenue and mantan profit Overall revenue
growth of 4% was dnven by strong urban bus operations
and a resitent intercity coach business We delivered profit
unchanged at €103 millon Operatng cash generation
has been exceptional, ncreasing by over €70 million to
€125 millon The qualty and flexibiity of ALSA's business
madel gives us confidence for the future

+ Rail once agan delivered a very strong performance
Operating profit of £27 mdlion and a margin of 13 7% were
generated by best-in-class operations ¢2c 1s the leading
franchise in the UK for punctualty and customer service
it also won Raill Operator of the Year at the National
Transport Awards and was voted the best commuter
service In the UK by Which? magazine

» We put together two very strong bids for the Essex
Thameside and Great Western rall franchises Whilst
we are disappointed that the UK Government's delay
to the re-franchising process and cancelflation of the
Great Western bid process has wasted significant
rvestment in the bids, we hope to extend the exastng
c2c contract and look forward to restarting that franchise
tender process later n 2013 Our c2¢ credentials were
also fundamental to being selected for our first German
regional rall contracts in February 2013 Thisisan
axcrting opportunity for us to develop our posrion
n this large and Iiberalising market

Our UK Coach resut in 2012 was disappointing

Wa over-astimated our ability to mtigate the loss of the
Government's senior citizen concession funding However,
we grew our non-concession passenger volumes by 5%
and started to implement structural changes in revenus,
cost and orgarisation

Alongside a record profit performance from our non-ral
businesses, we have achieved strong resulis in our other
key performance metnes

» We generated £141 million of fres cash flow (before ral
franchise handover) We funded £125 million of crganic
capital investment, delivenng 1,300 new vehicles into our
flest to dnve passenger and contract growth We invested
ngarly £160 millon in new acquisitions to buld scale and
market presence We maintaned our non-ral pre-tax
ratum on capital at 10 6%

* We are making excellont prograss i improving our
core safety performancs, through our mvestment in
Group-wide safety programmes Responstbie major
irgungs fell 67% and lost time Ijunes 23% on 201
Alongside our responsibility to be a safe operator,
this will reduce future costs

* We made good progress In developing new businesses,
with our US Transt business achieving annual revenue
of $65 million by the end of the year and the first two
contract wins under our ownership secured, alongside
our German Rall success in February 2013

Strategy

Two years ago | set out a strategy to dnve further value from
our core bus and coach operations and from our market
opportunites We have focused on improving profitabulity
by delvenng operational excellence and drving organic
growth across our dwvisions We have targeted strong cash
generation We have sought to build on this platform and
expand into new markets 2012 has been another year of
good progress in deliverng on each part of this strategy

1 Delivering operational excellence

Delvenng operational excellence across National
Express raquires

s Consistent service performance for our customers,
+ Continuous cost efficiency improvernent, and

« Lwving our core values every day

Operational excellence ts crucial to our goal of achieving
best-in-class margins We outperformed our compeatiiors

in 2012 in North Amenca school bus, Spain, UK Coach

and Rall In UK Bus we have almost doubled the margin
over three years and have plans to match the best industry
performer Our operational excellence inhatives create more
sustanable, efficient businesses for the longer term

“We have focused on improving
profitability by delivering operational
excellence and driving organic
growth across our divisions.”

Www Nationalexpressgrours Com i1
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Delivenng on our strategy

Group Chief Executive's strategic review continued

In 2012 we delivered a number of Iniatves to ensure
consistent service performance Our c2c rall franchise
achieved outstanding passenger service, sconng a

record 93% satisfaction n the National Passenger Survey
and carmying two mitlion passengers dunng the London
Clympics In Morocco, we extended the Agadir bus
network, drving passenger revenue growth of over 50%
UK Coach implemented new customer service standards
and improved its passenger survay rating In every category
as a result, whilst UK Bus implemented automatic vehicle
location to enable better schedule management and provide
real-time information to passengers

Wa are also relentlessly drving cost efficiencies to protect
and grow margms across the Group Technology 1s helping
us to drive savings in every divison GPS technology and
vehicle telemetry are banging fuel savings in Spain, North
Amenca, UK Bus and UK Coach We are now able to
achieve better route management, monitor dnving style
and reduce the amount of engine iding, as well as ensunng
strong ¢ost control where routes and schedules vary,

for example in school bus operatons

QOur business models are flexible, allowing us to adjust
mileage as appropnate In Spain, we reduced kiometres
operated in the intercity coach business by 4% to match
lower passenger demand by flexing our outsourced supply
In UK Bus network optimisation reduced mileage by 1%
whilst better meeting passenger needs In the core UK
Coach business we increased mieage by 3% to support
naw routes

Wa continue to identfy ways to make savings through
structural change UK Coach 1s consuling with employeas
to closa its Crawley base, to reduce overhead cost without
compromising network efficiency, saving £0 5 million a year
Our global procurement team deliverad over £12 mition

of annual savings by leveraging the Group's scale in flest,
T, telecoms and engineenng

We are also making progress In developing the Group's
cutture around our four core values that we believe will
support a sustanable revenus and profit stream in the

long term — Safety, Customer, People and Community

QOur 'Drving Out Harm' safety programme has brought a
significant reduction In inunes and is helping to reduce the
number of vehicle accidents, these have a direct financial
benefit but, mportantly, help create a better environment
for our custormers and employees Our Customer inttiative
seeks to eam the Iifetime loyalty of our passengers In
2012, we introduced global standards and monitonng,
mproving customer satisfacton in alt dmvsions Amongst our
People Inbatves, we have pooled contract management
aexpertise to develop new opporturities and an tematonal
management scherme to reflect our business development
In the UK, we launched the National Express Foundation
to prowde support to community groups and students in
the West Midlands, East London and South Essax More
information on our progress IS set out i our corporate
responsibiity reporting

16 Readmore

2 Drnwving organic growth
In 2012 we achieved commercial revenue growth in each
of our dvsions, as we

* Grew passenger volumes in UK Coach,
¢2c and Moroceo,

* Increased contracted volumes in Spanish urban bus
and North Amenca school bus,

* Secured new bid wins in Spain and North Amenca, and
* Integrated bolt-on acquisitions with growth and
margin potential

The Group continues 1o buld a strong pipeline of contracted
revenues, with £3 6 bilon, equivalent to 31 years of Group
revenues that are erther contracted or operated on an
exclusive concession basis We have added just under

£2 bilion of new revenue dunng the last 12 months In North
Amenca this included 26 new school bus contracts, of
which eight were cornversion opportunities, adding a total of
1,300 new buses We also won our first two contracts in the
recently launched Transit business At ALSA we have added
aight new contracts, Including an extension to services In
Agadir and contracts in Cadz and Guadalajara, which were
secured through competitive bids against existing operators
In Gemmany, we have recently been selected to run our first
two ral contracts, starting in fate 2015

Average revenue yield iIngreased by 2% 1n 2012 Contract
pnces ncreased in School Bus, reflecting improving market
conditions and customer recognition of the quality of service
we offer In our Urban contracts in Span we secured an
average price ncrease of 3% In UK Bus, commercial
revenue increased by 3%, delivered through fare ncreases
that remain affordable for our customers In UK Coach

we reduced average commercial yield by 4%, dnving

a 5% increase \n passenger joumneys and supporing

our value posrioning

We operate in highly competitve markets and our customers
are affected by austenty Looking to the future, thersfore, we
must strive to mprove further the value we offer, the service
we deliver and ensure we are always competiive We will
continue to dnve growth, through investment in technology
and through inibatves to better manage flest utiisation

In UK Coach, the first stage of an improved revenus
management systermn will be Implemenied later in 2013,

with a more advanced package to follow This wall

allow better real-time managernent of fares, prormoting
travel on less utiised services and ensunng fares ars

always competitive This in tum shoutd deliver healthy
organic growth, supported by our intatves to improve
understanding, targsting and marketing to key customer
segments In UK Bus we will pilot commercial smart cards
from the second quarter of 2013, supported by iInvestment
this year in £25 milion of new buses in the West Midlands,
inchuding 30 hybnd vehicles, as we iocus on increasing

and sustaining the number of passenger joumeys I Spain,
as well as all of our UK operations, we are developing mobile
apphcations that will make ticket purchasing and real-time
tracking of vehicles easier for our customers, Improvng

the quality of ther joumeys

17 Readmore
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3 Generating supenor cash and retums
Through successful mplementation of our strategy,
National Express

* Continues {0 deliver excellent cash generation,

» Underpins its operagons with a sound debt and dwdend
paolicy, and

* |s growing non-rail retum on capntal through disciphned
caprtal deployment across the Group

tong term cash generation Is a key tenet for us, driving
shareholder value creation and supporting future retums
1o shareholders

2012 has been another good ysar for the Group in this
regard, as strong EBITDA, efficent cash management and
selective capital deployment have combined to ncrease
operating cash flow significantly Operating cash flow
increased by £50 million to £209 6 milion, with operating
cash conversion of 99% Spain alone generated

£101 million of cash this year, of key iImportance, we are
beng pad promptly by our municipal customers, with 2012
seeing a £20 millon reduction in oulstanding recenables
balances Qur free cash flow of £141 millon and low debt
position supported an invesiment of nearty £160 million

In acquistitions — of Petermann school bus and the creation
of our US Transit business, as well as funding the handover
of the East Anglia franchise

The focus on cash generation will continue Our target s

1o generate £125 million to £150 milion per annum in free
cash flow over the next two years Our geanng policy 1s 1o
mantan net debt between 2 and 2 5 tmes EBTDA In 2012
our gearing was at the upper end of our range We plan to
reduce this to 2 times by the end of 2014, enabling further
chowces over future Investment and retum of capral

to shareholders

Pre-tax return on caprtal employed (ROCE) from the
non-rad business (the ral business does not utiise caprtal)
was mantanad at 10 6% n 2012 Ws will contnue to target
capital deployment carefully, combining it with further
improvermnent of margins to enhance ROCE, and relsasing
capital where appropnate Our fleet 1s well-nvested across
the Group, and we are committed o mantaning an
appropnate level of nvestment in each business This wall
see us add 115 buses i UK Bus n 2013 and 230 vehicles
in ALSA In North Amenca we wil continue to cascade
existing fleet, improving utlisation as we consoldate the
Petermann fleet into our operations In addition, our range
of new market opportunies are capital-hght, allowing
ROCE to continue to improve over time, a key measure

of shareholder valug creation for us

18 Read more

4 Delivering new opportunities from
capital-hght markets

Our strategy 1$ also to target geographies which have,

or are, beralising therr public transport markeis This s

« Creating a pipelne of long term, sustanable transpon
operations,

s Laveraging the Group’s expertise running passenger
transport servces In adiacent markats; operating n the
sarne or simdar modes of transport, and bullding scale
In selected geographies, and

* Representing pnmarnly caprtal-ight opportundies which
waill not require significant asset investment

National Express 1S unique amongst s peers in owning

a diversified portfolio of assets that provides a platform for
growth In atiractive markets ALSA has a strong reputaton
outside Span In Morocco we expect to bid for further urban
coriracts, alongside our exsting Marrakech and Agadir
operahons which have driven recent revenue and profit
growih As the largest scheduled European coach operator,
we are launching ‘crty2aity” In Apnl n Germany's newty
Iiberalised coach market, taking the best of the ALSA

and UK Coach business models

Within exght months of intial acquisrion in 2012, we built

a Transit business In North Amenca that had annual

revenue of $65 millon In addition, we have a bid pipeline

of $100 mlkon of revenue opportunities, with total capral
requirements of only $7 milron Like urban contracts in Spain
and Morocco, these can be mobilised rapidly on award and
are profitable from the start.

Building on the strong credentials of our leading c2c
franchise, we invested in a bid tearn in German rait earty

n 2012 We are very pleased to have been selected for

our first ral contracts n Germany, which are due to start
operatons in late 2015 This will expand into a portfolio of low
nsk, smaller rall contracts in regional raill franchises Thesa
contracts offer a similar profile to a UK franchise in duration,
capital requirement and rnargn, but with less revenue and
guarantes nsk

We will contnue to expand the Group's capabiity 1o secure
contracts to operate public transportation services As the
leading public transport operator by profitability in Europe,
we are cumrently looking at a number of opportunites where
we can use Natonal Express’ ntelectual caprtal

and reputation to explore new markets

19 Read more

Prospects for the future

In 2013 we expect to make good progress In growing

our business in UK Bus, UK Coach and North Amenca

In Span, we have already submitted our first intercity coach
concession bid and are focused on protecting and growing
our market share dunng the renewal process In Ral, we
are i discussions 1o extend our c2¢ franchise and will
partcpate in future franchise opporunities

Looking to the futurs, we believe we have the nght strategy
In place to defiver long term value for our shareheciders
Firstly, we will continue to drive organic growth and better
margns, by focusing on improving the quality and value
offered by our operabons, attracting customers, ncreasing
revenus and creating a more efficient cost base Secondly,
we will drive cash generabion, reducing geanng to two
times over the next two years and deploying captal n

a cautious, targeted way Thirdly, we will continue to add

to the significant pipeline of bid and market opportunities
in North Amenca, Europe and North Afnea, where our
expertise m operating bus, coach and raill services s already
proving succassful

e

Dean Finch
Group Chief Executive
28 February 2013
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Delivenng on our strate_'gy
Strategic overview

Qur vision

Our vision Is to eam the
Ifetime loyalty of our
customers by consistently
delivenng frequent, high
performing public transport
services which offer
excellent value.

Qur values

Safety

More than anything else, we value the
safety of our custormers, employees
and the public generally

46 Read more

Customers

We will place customers at the heart
of our business Nobody will try
harder for our custorners than
wedo

47 Readmore

People

Enabling all our people to reach thesr
full potential and to give ther best

as indmduals and n teams

47 Readmore

Community

We will advance the social,
ervironmental and economic
conditions in the communities
where we operate

48 Read more

Focused on our strategy

Strategic prionties Performance i 2012
Delivenng " 50 toon pontato 116% Bee o
points to in class
1 operatlonal i four out of five dmsions
excellence « Record non-rad profit of £:185 million

c2c1s the top performing rail franchise

n the UK

Group-wide safaty programme detvenng
results — 67% drop in major inunes

Driving organic
growth

Commercal revenue growth across
the UK and North Amenca

School bus — 1,300 school buses won
In 26 new contracts, including exght
conversion opporiunities

New contracts secured in Span
Guadalgjara, Granada bus station
Passenger revenue growth of 19%

n Morocco

3

Generating supenor
cash and retums

Operating cash flow increased by £50 miflion
to £2096 mihon

Operating cash conversion of 99%
Free cash flow of £141 mulion

Delivenng new
opportunities from
capital-ight markets

14 National Express Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2012

Delivery of $10 rmifion of annualised
synergies from Patarmann acquisition
Withun eight months we have built a Transit
business with annual revenue of $85 billion -
target opportunties of $300 million
Prequalfied for five German raill contracts
and now selected for two of those,

due to start in late 2015

Set up German coach operahons based
on outsourced UK Coach model,
launching in Apni 2013

Completed two high quality UK Rail bids
Awanting resurnption of franctuse
tendenng process



Key Performance Indicators (KPlIs)

Metnc Margin %

Metnc Underlying* revenue growth %

* Like-for-like commercial or continuing bustness

Metnc Operating cash conversion %

Metnc Contract wins by value {£Em}

Opportunities ahead 2013

Continue to dnive organic growth
and better margins, by focusing
on improving the qualty and
value offered by our operations,
aftracting customers, increasing
revenue and creating a more
efficient cost base.

Targeting cash generation of
£125-£150 mulion in 2013 and
2014, reducing gearng to two
times over that peniod.

Continue to add to the significant
pipehne of bid and market
opportunities in North Amernica,
Europe and North Afnca,

where our expertise in bus,
coach and rall services IS
already proving successful

Www Nationakaxpressoroup com
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+ Delivering
operational
excellence

Operational excellence

trvesting i technology 1s generating both operational
efficiencies and passenger benefits

In October we opened our new Bus Control Centre
In Birmngham This allows us {o montor the location
of buses whila they're in service, and manage

therr frequency By December, punctuality had
mproved by 7%

Our rail franchise, c2c, set a new UK record for
annual train punctuality of 97 5% - more than
6% better than the natonal average Kt also came
top in the National Passenger Survey, with 93%
overall passenger satsfacton

Our new UK Bus control centre helped
punctuality mprove by 7% in December

11 Read more
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Driving organic
growth

Organic growth

We camed 15% more passangers in Moroceo last year
and increased our revenue there by 19% On top of
that we complsted a highly effective network review

N Agadir, and won a five-year extension to the
Marrakech bus contract

Meanwhile in Spain, we secured a new arangement
to operate Granada's bus station, as well as a 12-year
contract for aity bus services in Guadalgjara

Further ¢rties In both countnes are expected to look
to outsource bus transportation

Revenue growth in Morocco in 2012

19%

12 Read more
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Generating supenor retums

The £140 milion of free cash flow we generated last year
helped fund imestment of almost £160 milion in new
acquisiions to build scale and markst presence

We also funded £125 milion of organic capital
investrment, delivenng 1,300 new vetidles into

our fleet to drve passenger and contract growth

Our range of new market opportunities are capital-ight,
which will allow return on capital to Improve cver time
Last year it was stable at 10 6%

Generating supenor cash and retums
gives us choices over future investment

Free cashflow generation in 2012

£140m

13 Readmore

Generating superior
cash and returns
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Delivering new
opportunities from
capital-light
markets

AbBaens no uo Buueneq

New opportunities

Building up from thres small acquisitions,

our new North Amencan Transit dvision
began operating its first compettively tendered
contract in December across three cities

in North Carclina The two-year contract,
worth $12 mition, will see us carmying 500,000
passengers a year The Transit team has also
won & second bid, for para-transit in Chio,

and has a strong pipeline of bid opportunites

$7.3 billion — annual value
of Amencan transit and
para-transtt markets

13 Read more
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Bgsnness review _
Finance Director’s review

Driving strong results and cash

Cash generation is core to the strategy at National Express, representing a key dnver of shareholder
value alongside the maximising of returns on capital employed

Revenue

Group revenue N 2012 was £1,831 2 milion (2011 £2,238 Om),
with the reducton reflectng the handover of the Natonal
Express East Anglia (NXEA) franchise in February Ona
constant currency basts and adjusted for the ral handover,
total revenue grew by over 7% Yield mprovement has
delivered organic growth in four out of the five dvisions
Like-for-like volume growth was achieved in UK Bus, Ral and
North Amenca In Span, North Amenca and Gemmary we
have now added £2 biflion of total revenue from new contracts
inthe last 12 months

Nomalised results

Group operating profit decreased to £211 9 milion (2011
£225 2m), reflecting the loss of rall earnings from NXEA.
Strong performance in non-rall operating profit, Increasing
to arecord level of £185 2 milion from £181 8 mikon in 2041,
enabled the Group to offset a number of other headwinds,
such as a reduction in fuel duty rebate in UK Bus and UK
Coach (£4 million}, an increase in the hedged pnce of fuel
(£10 milion) and adverse foreign exchange movemnents on
franglaton of overseas eamings (£5 million) We were unable
to mitigate the cutin senior citizen coach CoNCessIoNS

{£16 milion)

We have generated incremental profit in the following key
arsas dunng the year

« Crganic growth — £21 mullion driven by yeld and
passenger iIncreases in UK Bus, core UK Coach servces,
UK Rail and Morocco, as well as contract increases n
Urban Spain, North Amenca and Olympic-related work

= Acquisiions and synergies — the profit from the Petermann
and Transit acquisiions, along with efficient execution of
synergies, to secure £11 muflon in year

Jez Maiden
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Efficency and other cost savings have also been made,
as follows

* Procurement savings of £12 milion in communications,
[T, parts and outsourcing of support serices

¢ Managng costs - £19 millon from overhead efficiencies,
Insurance and other savings

» Fuel efficiency - volume savings of £3 milion denved
from acjustrents to mileage in Spain, UK Bus and
North Amenca, as well as benefits from vehicle telemetry
improving consumption

Group operaing margin increased by 150 basis ponts
to 11 6% from 101% Four of our five dvisions achieved
ndustry leading marging

Net finance costs increased to £49 2 mikon (2011 £46 4m),
reflecting the impact on debt from the acquision of
Petermann and other businesses The iax charge was

£32 7 milion {2011 £41 5m), an effective tax rate of 199%
{2011 23 0%) Profit for the year was £131 4 milion {2011
£138 7m), gving a basic EPS of 25 5 pence (2011 27 0p)

Statutory results

Total exceptional costs for the year were £42 6 milion

{2011 Emf) tems charged as exceptonal reflect one-off
operating cost nvestments in the future We treat UK Rail bid
costs and business development costs for new businesses as
axceptional costs UK Ral bid costs for the Essex Thameside
and Great Westem tenders were £16 3 milion Bid costs in
German rall were £1 3 milion, reflecting the simpler tendenng
approach and reduced nsks irvolved, and leadng to our first
confract success In February 2013 We spent £3 0 millon

In business development actity around our pipaline of new
opportunitias, covenng the development of a German Coach
mocied for launch in 2013 and new market opportunties
elsewhere The acquistion and integration costs for the
Petermann and Transit transactions were £13 4 million

Other restructunng and rationalisation costs of £8 6 milkon

represertt the one-off mpact of cost rabonalisabon for future
savings, such as closing a UK Coach depet, reducing future
pension costs and nsks, fleet ratonalisation to mprove
capital efficiency, and significant headeount reductions
across the Group

Intangible asset amortisation was £51 7 milion {2011
£50 8m} and relates pnncipally to the value of the Group's
cancessions In Spain and contracts in North Amenca

Group statutory profit after tax was £61 3 milion (2011
£102 6m) Diluted eamings per share were 117 pence
{2011 198p)

Cash management

Cash generation 1s core to the strategy at National Express,
represerting a key drver of shareholder value alongside the
maximising of retums on capital employed This year the
Group Increased operating cash generation by £50 million
and operatng cash flow for 2012 was £208 6 mikon

(2011 £159 8m), as set out below, representing a 99%
corversion rate (2011 71%

2012 201

£m £m
Normalised operating profit 2119 2252
Depreciation 1098 105656
Grant amortisation, profit on
disposal and share-based payments (0.5} 24
EBITDA 321.2 3331
Net replacernent capital expenditure {108.6) Mo 2
Working caprtal movement 6.7 (525)
Pension contnbubons above normal
charge (9.7 (106)
Operating cash flow 2096 1598

Improvements in normalised non-Rail operating profit 2012

www natonalesqressgrouy com
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Business review
Finance Director's review continued

Working capital movement improved year-on-year

by £59 2 million, through mproving recenvables management
In the contract busnesses and iIncluding a €22 million
reduction n recevables with Spanish municipaliies

We continued to invest In the fleet, with replacement

caprtal expendrure In ine with depreciation The Group

1s well nvested in its flest and the average age has

remained unchanged at six yaars
2012 20M

£m £m
Operating cash flow 209.6 1598
Payments to associates
and minonties {8.2) 84
Net interast {47 3) @46
Taxation {13 3) )
Free cash flow 1408 98 4
UK Rail franchise exit {87.0) 58
Cash flow after
rail handover 538 926

Free cash flow, pnor to ral franchise handover, similarly grew
by £42 4 millon and reached £140 8 mikon (2011 £98 4m)
Dunng the year we paid the last instalment of £9 milion

to close out our Eurostar associate mvestment Cash tax
payments increased marginally dus to timing differences

In Span related to Govemment austenty measures Dunng
the year the Group paid out £870 millon in ral franchuse exit
cash for the NXEA franchise {£80 Om) and a final residual

payment for East Coast (£70m)
2012 2011

£fm £m
Free cash flow 538 926
Net growth caprtal expendture (16 8) 356
Financial irvestments and shares {0.8) 27
Exceptional cash flow {40.7) 82
Acquistions and disposals {157 8) (76)
Cash flow on the matunty of forexgn
excharge contracts 89 (12 8)
Foraign exchange and cther
non-cash movements 82 32
Dvidands {49 3) 458
Net funds flow (194.5) (233)

Growth capital investment, predominantly expendrure on
school buses In North Amenica, has reduced with a greater
focus on winming lower capital conversion contracts

Acquistion costs of £157 8 mithon related pamanly to the
Petermann school bus business, which completed in May
Other smaller acquistions included the purchase of two
businesses to complete our platform for growth in US
transit operatons The dmdend grew in ine with the
mereases in the 2011 final payment and the intenm
dnadend paid In September

Group net debt a1 31 December 2012 was £828 2 rmilion
{2011 2633 7m)

Caprtal retums

The Group’s obiective ts to maximise long term sharsholder
retums through the disciplined deployment of the funds at
ts disposal Our portioho of assets has a mix of attnbutes
that produce stable profitability, orgaric growth and exciing
strategic opportunities in 2012 we selectvely nvested in the
asset ntensve UK Bus, Spain and School Bus businesses,
drmang growth and concession renewal The man
opportunites in the future, in current and new markets,

are predominantly ‘capital-ight’, ncluding US Transt,
Gemman Coach and German Rall

We use pre-tax retum on capital employed (ROCE) as a key
performance iIndicator I the delvery of sirategic nvesiment
Internal caprtal allocation decisions are made with a 12%
pre-tax return on capital hurdle rate, based on exceeding the
estmated post-tax weighted average cost of capital of 8%

In 2012 Group pre-tax ROCE was 12 2% (2011 141%)
The change has been significantly influenced by the
handover of the NXEA ral franchise, which had a sizeable
negativa caprtal employed The Group’s non-ral ROCE
was stable at 10 6% in 2012

Treasury management

Funding sources

The Group has a strong funding platform that underpins
the delvery of its strategy Its sources of finance have an
attractive mix of long term public and private market debt,
fixed term finance leases and a bank facilty that remains
substantally undrawn, providing significant committed
headroom and iquidity for the Group to fund its cperations
and growth requrements At 31 December 2012 hsadroom
including cash was almost £500 milion

National Express has substantal long term, non-bank

debt compnsing of two Stering denominated bonds

a 2017-dated £350 mililon bond at & 25% and a 2020-dated
£225 milkon bond at 6 625% Both bonds are investrnent
grade rated, at BBB- with Fitch (Stable cutlook) and Baa3
from Moodys, who recently upgraded its outiook

to Positve Dunng the year the Group also completed

a pnvate placement note purchase agreement for €78 5
millon at 4 55%, due In 2021 The Group has finance leases
of $207 million, that provide low cost financing to purchase
vehicles pnmanly n North Amenca

The Group had, at 31 December 2012, drawn £81 million
of the £500 million unsecured committed Revohang Credrt
Faciity, arranged with a broad mutti-national banking group
The facility itself is due to be refinanced by August 2014
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Covenant compliance

The Group has a prudent approach to covenant compliance
on s barking debt wihuch 1s to maintan its debt geanng
ratio at between 2 0 and 2 5 times EBITDA At 31 December
2012 its covenant ratios were as follows

* Debt geanng ratio (net debt 10 EBITDA) 2 5 times
(2011 19 times), covenant not to exceed 3 5 tmes

* Interest cover (EBITDA fo net interest} 6 7 tmes
(2011 7 2 tirmes), covenant not to be less than 3 5 times

Interest rate and currency hedging

The Group hedges its exposure 1o interast rate movernents
to manan a balance between fixed and floating interest
rates on borrowings To achieve the desired fixed to floating
rabo the Group has ertered into a senes of nterest rate
swaps that have the effect of converting fixed rates into
floating rate debt. The net effect of these transactions

was that, at 31 December 2012, the proportion of Group
net debt at fixed rates was 63% (2011 84%;)

The Group's matenal exposure to foreign exchangs 1s limred
to translaton of its eamings and assets, as ts overseas
actmties are naturally hedged by earning revenue and
ncumng costs inlocal currencies In order to hedge its
exposure to curency fluctuations with regards to its banking
covenants, the Group held debt in Euros (€215 mifion) and
US dollars ($207 millon) at 31 December 2012 This can
include the use of foreign exchange contracts to create
synthetic debt postions

Fuel nsk management

The Group consumes approximately 230 milhon Itres of
fuel each year for which itis at nsk (e there 1s no direct fuel
escalator in the contract or concession pnce), mostly of Ultra
Low Sulphur Diese! and gasoline, which represented a total
cost {including delivery and taxes) to the Group in 2012 of
£163 milion (9% of Group revanue), at an average fug! cost
of 43 penca per tre The Group has adopted a forward fuel
buying policy n order to secure a degree of certanty in its
planning The Board's policy 15 (o hedge fully a rirmurn

of 15 months’ demand across all exposed businesses,
together with at least 50% of the next nine months'
consumption in contract businesses Based on expected
hedgable consumption, a proportion of this is fixed for the
future Cunentty, the Group 1 100% fixed for 2013 atan
average pnce of 49 penca/itre (excluding delivery and tax),
100% fixed for 2014 at an average pnce of 50p and 10%
fixed for 2015 at 49p

Where businesses have freedomn to pnce services, this
hedge provides sufficient protection to recover fuel pnce
increases through the fare basket In contract businesses,
where pnce escalation may be resincted by a formula
ndependent of fuel costs, extended cover, up to the Iife of

the contract, may be taken, subject to avallability and liquidity

n the hedging market The latter is rarely avaiable beyond
three years from the trading date

Pensions

The Group's principal defined benefit pension schemes are
all nthe UK At 31 December 2012 these schemes had a
combined deficit under IAS13 of £19 3 milion, an increase
from a deficit of £1 8 million at 31 December 2011, due to
lower asset return and liabllity discount rates The Natonal
Express Group Staff Pension Plan (UK Coach plan} 1s now
closed to all future accrual A funding plan aimed at banging
the plan to self sufficiency over a six year penod was agreed
in 2010, National Express contributes £4 2 milion per
annum to this scheme In 2011 UK Bus agreed a £5 5 million
annual deficit repayment plan with the trustees of the West
Midlands Passenger Transport Authorty Pengion Fund

{WM plan) fo fund a £71 million scheme funding deficit.

The plan remans open to accrual for exasting actve
mambers only This scheme was further de-nskad during
the year by secunng future payments for existing pensioners
N a £272 milhon insurance buy-in to the scheme

The 1AS19 valuations by division at 31 December 2012
were as follows

= UK Bus (under the WM plan and the Tayside
Transport Superannuation Fund} £32 9 millon defict
{2011 £16 8m deficil)

¢ UK Coach plan £16 6 million surplus
(2011 £18 6m surplus)

» UKRal £18milon deficit (2011 £2 2m deficid}
The Group's Ral business paricipates in the Ratways
Pension Scherme This exposurs transfers to an incoming
operator In the event of a franchise termunation,
as happened on the East Anglia franchise

2013 will see the ntroduction of updated provisions under
1AS19 The overall increase In pension costs charged to the
Income Statement 1S expected to be £2 millon No cash
change 15 Involved In this accourtting change

@v\/\m@

Jez Maiden
Group Finance Director
28 February 2013
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Business review

Spain

Resllient to austerity pressures

Revenue for ALSA In 2012 was £535 0 milion 2011 £5511m) and normalised operating profit £83.8 million
(2011 £90.1m}. In local currency, revenue was €659 1 milion 2011 €635.4m) and normalised operating profit

was €103 3 millon (2011 €103 9m)

Jawvier Carbajo
Cheef Executive, ALSA

KPIs - measunng cur progress

Revenue growth”

4%

Why we measure
Each Natonal Express dvision is targeting
revenue growth as a core dnver of value

2012 performance

Undertying revenue growth in Urban Spain
and Morocco and new contracts and
acquisttions, such as Bilbao, have offset a
decrease in underying Intercity revenue

Local cumency

Margin

16.7%

Why we measure
Nommahsed operating margin reflects
operational efficiencies and cost control

2012 performance
Flexibity in matching supply to demand
protectad dvsional margns
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Passenger journeys

242.3"

Why we measure

Passenger pumeys are reflectve
of undertying demand for bus and
coach travdl National Express s
targetng increased passenger
ndership as a long term drver

of sustainable value

2012 performance
Increase in total journeys from
underiying growth in Morocco,
plus new Bibac operations



Results

ALSA's performance was resiient in the face of a difficult
year, growing revenue by 4% and holding profit almost
flat at €103 3 millon Set aganst the background of
economic uncertainty and austenty measures N Span,
this mghhghts the qualty of the dvision’s managemertt
and its mix of busiNesses

Total revenue at ALSA grew by 4% in local curency @ 3%
decrease in Stering terms) to €659 1 milion (2011 €635 4m)
The growth was generated by a strong performance in the
urban bus business in Spain and Morocco, whilst a decline
In the intarcity coach business was offset by new wins and
acquistions Revenue in the non-core auxliary operations
declined by 15%, n ine with the wider economic situation,
but remains profitable

Operating profit in local currency was €103 3 milicn
(2011 €103 9m), with the improved revenue and lower
costs offsetting a €9 milton impact from fuel A weaker
Euro reduced Sterling profit by 7% (£6 million) to

£83 8 milion {2011 £90 1m) The operating margin
remains best-n-class for a bus and coach operation

Cash generation was very strong, Increasing by €73 miion
year-on-year to €125 mililon Much of this was from improved
working capntal, mainly n cash collection from murscipalites

Total revenue m the intercity coach business was flat,
underiying revenue fell 2% reflectng lower passenger
volumes in the third quarter, as lower discretionary
expenditure reduced summer trave!, a trend which has
been mantaned since A concession was secured, Serving
routes around Pamplona By contrast, underying urban
bus revenue In Spain grew by 4%, and 21% overall with the
acquistion of a major contract In Bilbao, whilst undertying
bus revenue in Morocco grew by 18%, benefiting from a
new contract and network review

“These results highlight the quality
of the division’s management
and its mix of businesses.”

Mileage

292.64"

Why we measure

Mileage ts a both a key cost management
tool and also an indicator of erganic growth
The ALSA model aflows for fiexibility in
kilometres operated to match demand

2012 performance

Total miteage increased as a result of new
business, such as in Pamplona and Bilbao
Undertying Intercrity mileage decreased 4%
and Urban Span by 3%

Revenue per km

€1.84

Why we measure

With a regulated maximum fare, this
measures the effectveness of our fares
strategy as we flex mileage to meet demand

2012 performance

An Increase delvered by cuts in underyng
milsage and pnce increasas of 2% in
Intarcity and 3% in Urban

Lost time injunes (per 1,000 FTE)

231

Why we measure

Satety 1s a key National Express value,
with a Group-wide objective of reducing
injunes to employees and making our
customers feel secure This will support
sustainable revenue growth and save
costs [mantenance, Insurance, dams)

2012 performance

A 41% reduction as a result of
magor Investment in the safety
improvesment programme
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Business review
Spain continued

Market overview

Market size

€3.5bn

Regulated bus and intercity coach market

Markat composition
ALSA has the Isading position in a highly fragmented market

Market trends

Shight dectine In bus and coach rmarket passenger volumes since
mid 2012, reflecting resience in public transport frends compared
1o other modes of transport and wider austenty impact in Spain
Passenger growth in Morocco

Market features

Regutated and highly segmented markat, with three levels of
Government regulation national (long distance coach), regional
(regional coach) and ety furban bus} Each concession 1s exclusive
to the operator, based on compliance with the public serice
obligahon Flexbility required to mest changing demand

Customers
Urban all ages, work and study, multple thps per week

Intercity mostly young people, few tnps per year; for leisure,
wvisrting family, on regional services also work and study

Competition

Irtercrty competihon from state-backed ral and low cost arines
{cutting capacity m 2013) Bus and coach concessions are awarded
through compstitive public tender, typically every ten years

Operational excellence Growth

Concessions

172

ALSA has 141 intercity coach concessions, 31 urban bus
contracts and one other concession

Group revenue by market
Intercty coach concessions
Urban bus contracts
Other concessions

Labour
Histoncally less flexible labour market reflecting domestic practices,
unionised Austerty measures dnving scme reform

Growth
New business growth from concession renewal, urban contract
wins in Spain and Morocco

ALSA revenue split

Passenger
Contract
Subsidy
Cther

Given the challenging economic backdrop and ncreased Growth opportunmes are high on the agenda The urban
fuel costs, AL SA responded by carefully matching milsage business in Morooco increased patronags by 15%, secunng
operated to customer demand, reducing overhsad costs, a new contract and completing a highly effective network
dentiying new opportunites and delvenng a quality service  review in Agadir Over tme we anticipate that further ciies

to maximise cortract bonus potential

ALSA's alility to manage supply to meet fluctuabing demand
oh a daly basis, by adding or removing services in real trme,
protected margins in the intercity business in particular,

n both Spain and Morocco will look to outsource bus
transportation and there will be opportunties as some
compettors are unable to continue to fund services and
capttal requiremants

where underlying mileage was reduced to match demand Dunng the year we renewsd the contract to operate

Ir urban bus in Spain we reduced margina services to
accommodate customer budgetary requests In retumn,
tuture Investment requirements have been reviewed and

Granada bus station, as well as competrtively wainning the
Guadalaara urban tender We obtaned a five year extension
1o the Marrakech bus contract We also acquired, at iow

deferred Improvernents introcluced by the Government in cost, some bolt-on investiments that are expectedto
labour flexibility have helped to restrain wages, and efficiency  add value over tme, such as a contract in Bibao

benefits have been achieved

Major mproverments have been made in safety dunng
the year and lost time inunes N Spain rmproved by 41%
Swgnificant progress has also been made in Morocco
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Cash generation

In June we recenved €25 milion through a central
Govemnment scheme to clear overdue local authonty debt
In addition, we have continued to maintain tight control over
working capital Total receivables at the year end were

€35 millon against a peak of €64 mullion i the first quarter,
and overdue amounts are now only €8 milion (aganst
€21m at the end of 2011}

Future prospects

The bus and coach market In Spain continues to be
fundamentally attractive Prowision of public transport 1s a key
social commitrment by the Government and a cormbination
of ALSA's high level of mvestment in fleet and technology.

its reputation for quality of operations and its financiat
strength make 1t a best-n-class participant in that market

The Government's national intercity coach concession
tendenng process has also recentty restarted after a delay
of 12 months ALSA will submit strong and competitive bids
n order to retain our franchises The first tender has now
been submitted and the result 1s ikely to be announced in
the coming months We expect the Government to continue
to adjust the national coach tendenng process, ncluding the
likely introduction of a fee equal to one percent of revenue on
new concession awards as part of a proposed change

to transport legisiabon

The Spanish Government 1s also considanng further market
Iiberaksation, such as opening the market for ral passenger
transportation or replacing loss-making regional rall
operations with coach services Our reputation and record
as Span's highest quality road transport prowider would put
ALSA In a good position to capitalise on any opportunities

Wa expect that the trends from the second half of 2012 will
contnue for the first six months of 2013, with lower intercity
revenue but resilient urban revenue and growth in Morocco
Further oppoertunities n Span and beyond will continue to
develop to enhance ALSA's eamings

Strategic focus

Cur key objectve over the next two years 1s to renew the
intercity concessions dus for retendenng In the ntercity
coach and urban bus operahons will adjust supply to reflect
recent market irends, in order 1o protect profitability and
improve retum on capital By wanning contracts in Spamn
and Morocco we can continue 1o deliver good growth,
whilst developing excriing opporturiies N new temtones

Living our values

Safety

Dmang Out Harm is a five-year, Group-wide, safety improvement programme,
that is intended to deliver a 50% improvement in our safety performance by 2016
Each of our busingsses has annual targets and the aim 1s to make our safety
record the best in the transport sector

One of the key measures of performancs is to cut the number of preventable
vehicle accidents for which we are responsible Progress last year In ALSA saw
the numbers of such acaidents fall by 20 3% compared to 2011 10 12 6 per milion
miles This means that dunng rts first two years, Dnving Qut Harm has helped
ALSA reduce rts accidents by 32 6%

Delvenng improvemants on the scale we are sesking requires changes in
behaviour ALSA, for example, has introduced scheduled safety bnefings for
drvers n its Spanish and Morocean operations, together with thorough dver
competence assessments These rvolve managers traveliing with each of the
dnvers for whom they are responsible, observing and assessing ther drmvng
behawour according 1o such cntena as speed profiles, anttoipation and
emotonal control

Feedback sessions inform the dnvers of their strengths and where they need
to make improvements

In addiion, new mantenance and engineenng staff assessments have led to
improvernents n comphance with safety instructions when working on vehicles

Raviewing ALSA’s iInhatives, the safety consuttancy company Arthur D Uittle,
recently praised the good progress that 1s being made
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Business review

North America

Benefitting from greater scale

Revenue in 2012 was £578 3 milion (2011 £481 0m} and normalised operating profit was £59.1 milion
2011 £479m) In local currency, revenue was $919 4 milion (2011 $772 2m) and normalised
operating profit was $94 0 millon (2011 $76 9m)

Dawvid Duke
CEOQ, National Express Corporation

KPIls - measunng our progress

Revenue growth*

19%

Why we measure
Each Natonal Express dvision 1S targeting
revenue growth as a core dnver of value

2012 performance

Undertying revenue growth of 3% was
supplemented by the acquisiion of
Petermann and the start up of the
Transit operations

* Local curency

28

Margin

10.2%

Why we measure
Normalised operating margn reflects
operatona efficiencies and cost control

2012 performance

We delvered robust undertying school
bus marging, executed the Petermann
transaction well and added good first-year
Transit profits

Natonal Express Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2012

Retumn on net tangible assets

17.7%

Why we measure

Schoal bus operations have low asset
utilsaton compared to other bus and coach
businesses Our strategy is now focused on
improvement N operating retums

2012 performance
We mairtaned a solid margin and continued
to ratonabse the fleet, seling 1,600 buses




Results The integration of Petermann has gone well We have
2012 has been a particulary good year for our opsarations achieved in-year synergies of $7 million, representing back
in North Amenca We have delivered undertying revenug office f$4m), nsurance §2m) and procurement ($1m)
growth, participated in a succassiul bhd season, acquired savwngs This represents annualised synergies of $10 milion
and integrated the Petermann school bus business, and We are particularly pleased that we have retaned all of the
set up and developed our fast-growing Transtt operations, Petermann customers With further benefits to corme from
outperforming our competrtors an expanded footpnrit that now includes Ohio and
Minnesota, as well as good paratransit contracts, we are

Pricing levels in bath contract renewals and new txd wins delighted by how quickly we have achieved and exceeded
improved Our retention rate was agan high, at 97%, our goals from the ransaction

reflecting a positve relatonship with our customers and

our INcreasing Investment m account management With a Operational excellence

school bus fleet of over 20,000 buses, we have consokdated  Qur team in North Amenca has made progress in dmang
our best-in-class margin position efficencies across the business Our Compass project links

the Oracle enterpnise system to the GPS locators recently
Total revenue in North Amenca in 2012 increased by 19%
10 $919.4 millon 2011 $772 2m) Underying schoolbus ~ "stalled on “t‘e Vet':'cl'es’ b’&”-"'t"g 2 greater degree (LJJf{ar
revenus grew by 3%, dnven by a combination of pnce management control over fiset operations, In pariic
Increases, further progress in developing charter ues in matching payroll to customer biling By the end of 2012,

the systern was Ive In 85 locations and has had a
:ta;:jd the arr:r;uahsed effect of the previous successiu! demonstrable effect when compared to non-Compass

depots on the 8,000 routes audited so far, 2,000 schedules
2012 operating profit grew by over $17 milkon to 394 O millon  have been adjusted defivering an average of 800 hours a
{2011 $76 9m} We successfully responded to increased day in staffing efficency

fuel costs, higher labour rates and some reductons in

discretionary revenue by adjusting routes and reducing

overhead costs Our newly established Transit operatron

also generated a profit as part of the overall dwisional resutt.

Route buses operated (own fleet) Retention rate Total injuries {per 200,000 hours)

17,870 g7* 5.02

Why we measure Why we measure Why we measure
Route buses are the revenue generating As a contracting business, retenbon rate 1sa Safety 15 a kay National Express value,
assets of schodl bus operations key measure of success In retaning contracts with a Group-wide objective of reducing
Inunes o employeas and making our
We won over B0O buses on a net basis 97% 15 another excellent performance sustanable revenue growth and save costs
in the contract blddlng season, as well and above the target retention level (maintsnance, Insurance, clams)
as adding the Petermann fleet.
2012 performance
Total munes per 200,000 hours
decreased by 29%

www nationalexpressgroup com
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Business review
North Amenca continued

Market overview

Market composttion
Top four players operate approximatety 90,000 routes

Market size

$24bn

Total schoof bus market in North Amernica, represented
by 531,000 route buses

32% 1s outsourced, 68% in-houss

40 comparies operate 200+ buses, rest of outsourced market spit
between 4,000 cperators

Market trends
Growth traditonally Inflaton and peputation driven, recent increase
N outsource conversion due to public funding pressures

Market features
Local relationship and service delivery important

Customers
Local school boards, funded largely by local property taxation

Transport is a significant part of local education spending

Outsourced Competition
In-house Bigger players have access to capital, gsographical reach
Market share and some scale advantages
11% of outsourced school bus market Potential for some market consolidation
Labour
Trackionally part time workforce

Over 30% of National Express staff unionised

Growth
Winring contracts in the school bidding season, pnmanty
through cutsourcing/conversion as well as market share shift

National Express Group New Transit business has a pipeline of contracts being targeted

Others
National Express operates 17,870 regular routes

North Amenca revenue split

Passenger
Contract
Subsidy
Other

Improved efficiency and fleet utdisation saw returmn on net
tangble assets In 2012 mprove to 17 7% (2011 161%)
Fest rahonalisaton and cascading of spare buses

We continue to focus on safety Our enhanced safety
programme saw vehicle colision frequency decrease by
10% dunng the year and a reducton in mjunes by 28%

saved $28 milion from our projected capital expenditure
requrement and reduced the fieet spare rabo to 117%
for the existing business We are now consolidating the
Patermann fleet to achieve further savings

We are investing heavly in improving performance
management, processes and support for our field
managers at over 200 locations

Maintenance efficiency and procurement of spare parts
are major areas of cost that we have targsted to /mprove

In preparation, dunng 2012 the exising bus flest was
migrated onto a new assel managerment system We wil
use trus too! to improve our standard operating procedures,
such as the way we schedule vehicdle maintenance, clam
aganst warraries and improve our parts holding systems

a0 National Express Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2012




Growth

In delvenng orgaruc growth, the 2012 bidding season was
again a successful one Over 1,300 buses were secured in
contract wins and we retained 97% of our exasting contract
base Corversion {outsourcing) contracts offer long term
customer relationships and can deliver a better return

on capral Invested This year we won eight conversion
contracts with 400 buses Net of contract losses, our overall
organic volurme growth was 800 buses for the 2012/13
school year In Charter, revenus grew by 9% i our existing
business We are now seeking to grow Petermann’s
charter share, using the sales platform developed in

the existing businesses

Withun less than a year of acquisttion, the Transit operation
achieved annualised revenue of $65 milion in s three core
sub-sectors paratransit, shuttle and fixed route contracts
Our platform 1s based on existing paratransit contracts in the
Petermann business, as well as two other srmall acquisitions
completed In 2012 Since Integrating these businesses,

we have won two further contracts, in Ohio and North
Carolna, and our pipeline over the medium term has
significant potential

Cash generation

Generating cash in this caprtal intensive market 1s clossly
aligned with optirising the return on that caprial We have
made further progress N generating cash in North Amenca,
butlding on the mprovernent of 2011 with operating cash
corversion reaching 68% in 2012, up from 39% in 2011
Thus benefitted from our mprovernents in fleet efficiency
and capital deployment

Future prospects

In North Amenca we will sesk {0 sustan the progress
made following the successful ntegration of Petermann,
to deliver further cost efficiencies and careful capital
deployment to dnve greater returns and cash generation,
and to secure a favourable win rate on our pipeling

of Transit contracts We will focus on corversion
opportunities in school bus, working In pro-outsourcing
states, and optimising our contracts

Strategic focus

We have the following prionties in 2013 firstly to continue our
investment in safety and employee management, secondly
to develop a talored account managerment structure, so that
our top class customer service 1S properly recogrised, and
thirdly to drive efficiencies out of the Compass technology
and our marrtenance programme

*2012 has been a
particularly good year
for our operations

in North America.”

Living our values
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People

Our school bus operation in North Amenca 1s a disparate business, with 22,000
employees workng from more than 250 locations

Enjoy the Ride 1s an over-arching employes relations programme, part of the
purpose of which is 1o help unify wadely separated colleagues Butitis also
ntended to mprove morale and staff retenton, as wel as creating a sense
of enjoyrnent about working for the company

Enjoy the Ride brings together several separate nitiatives, each inking to one
of Natonal Express’ four key values Safety, People, Custorer, and Community

Under the heading of People, for example, Smart Ride prowdes employees with
the opportunity to improve therr skills Some are studying for undergraduate
degrees, others taking language courses to alow them to communicate more
sastly with their child passengers or the chidren’s parents

Healthy Ride events include the 10,000 Step Challengs, which encourages
amployees to walk 10,000 steps a day (around three miles) - for which
pedometers have been provided The School Bus Sim Down 1s a team-based
weght loss cormpetbon run n March with prizes that inciude paid gym mermberships
In 2012, employees collectively lost over 8,600 Ibs falmast four tonnes),

and for some people this event has proved to be a life-changing expenence

Community-based programmes under the heading Share the Ride have been
particulary successful One of these, Adopt-a-School, has been taken up by

98% of our faciiies across North Amenca, and has seen employses reading with
children, landscaping schodls and taleng part in school events throughout the year
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Business review

UK Bus

Revenue and margin
growth continues

Revenue n 2012 was £269 0 millon (2011 £263 5m) and normalised operatng profit
£341 milhon 2011 £32 7m)

Peter Coates
Managing Director, UK Bus

KPis — measunng our progress

Revenue growth Margin Passenger yield {revenue per joumey)

2.2% 12.7% £0.94

Why we measure Why we measure Why we measure
Each Natonal Express division 1S targeting Normalised operating margin reflects Yield per passenger msasures valug
revenue growth as a core dnver of value operational efficiencies and cost control generated by each passenger joumeay

r network
2012 performance 2012 performance onou
Overall revenue growth of 2%, as an An increase of 30 basis ponts in margin 2012 performance
mereasa N commercial ncome of 3% provded by strong revenue growth and Fare increases at the beginnng of the year
was offset by a 1% decrease in tight cost control resultted in a net yield ncrease of over 3%
CONCessIonary revenLe
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Resuits

The UK Bus dvision performed well in 2012, combining
revanue growth and cost reduction inmatrves to deliver an
increase in profit, despite a reducton in the Bus Service
Operators' Grant {BSOG) fue! duty rebate by the UK
Govemment. Our strategy of fieet iInvestment, encouraging
increased patronage and improverments in cost efficiency
will support sustainable revenue growth and move us closer
to best-in-¢lass operating margn

Total UK Bus revenue grew by over 2% to £269 0 million
(2011 £263 5m) Commercial revenue increased 3%,
supported by fare yield and a growth in college and
corporate ravelcard sales Network reviews and fleet
improvements led to local growth in passenger demand,
with Iike-for-like volume shightty higher year-on-year
Concession income fell 1% but will see future nflation
protection under a new agreement through to 2015

Operating profit continued to iImprove, growing by over
4%, to £34 1 milion (2011 £32 7m) Operatng margin
increased by 30 basis points to 127% Solid commercial
revenue growth was supported by £9 milion of cost and
procurement efficiencies Together these more than offset
the impact of a £4 million reduction in BSOG, which was
absorbed without a specific fare Increase

Operational excellence

Qur priorty in UK Bus 1s to continue delivering consistent
fugh quality customer sarvice In 2012 we improved the
fraquency and qualtty of bus serwces, INncreased cost
efficiency and invested in technology on our bus fleet

Qur focus on service quality was recognised in an
rmprovemsent in customer satisfaction of four percentage
points, measured by the Passenger Focus Bus Passenger
Survey Across the network, investment in fleet cleaning
and presentabon, accompanied by an industry-leading
ant-socral behaviour reducton pregrarmme and enhanced
revenue protection, helped customers feel safer and saw
a reduction in recorded cnme

We worked closely with Centro, our lecal Integrated
Transport Authonty, to manage a major rerouting of buses
as part of tram extension works in Brmingham city centre,
without matenal impact on passenger volumes

Investment in technology 1s generating both operational
efficiencies and passenger benefits In October we opened
our new Control Centre, utiising automatic vehicle location
to monttor and drrect buses In service, Improving punctualty
by up to 7% n Dacember Nine of our depots now have
‘green’ technology, utihising photovoltaic electne cells

to reduce power consumption and winning a Gold

Carbon Saver award

Passenger journeys

271.6™

Why we measure

Passenger journays are reflective of
undertying demand for bus travel National
Express s targeting ncreased passenger
ndership as a long term drver of
sustanable value

2012 performance

Overall decrease in passengers, pnmarnly
driven by server citizens and milsage
reductions Good passenger growth
following network reviews

Mileage

69.2™

Why we measure
Mileage Is both a key cost management tool
and also an indicator of organic growth

2012 performance

A 1% decrease as a consequence of
removing unprofitable frequencies and
parts of the network

Lost trme injunes {per 1,000 FTE)

22.8

Why we measure

Safety 1s a key National Express value, with a
Group-wide obyective of reducing injunes to
employees and making our customers feel
secure Ths will support sustamable revenus
growth and save costs {mantenance,
insurance, clams)

2012 performance
The first fufl year of Drmang Out Harm has
reduced long term inpunes by 45%

www nationalaxpressgroup com
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Business review

UK Bus contmued
Market overview
Market size Customers
Q 4 Over 90% of West Midlands network 1s commercial, remander mostly
. 8 bn public service tenders
{UK exclading London) Around 75% of revenue from passengers, balance concessionary
97% 15 privatised
Passenger fares

Privatsed Concessions

Non-prvatised Competition
Market share Active compettion from national and local operators, as well
1,660 buses operated in the fleet as private car

Labour

Focused on the West Midlands and Dundee markets
' Primnarily unichised wath strong indusinal relations

Market compostion

Largest five operators represent around 70% of the UK market. Growth
Growth strategy is focused on increasing passenger volumes

Remander made up of a large Number of private operators through investment in vehicles and technology, as well as

delvenng high qualty serices
Market trends
Short term economic pressuras from austerty and local UK Bus revenue spiit
unemploymertt

Longer term economic regeneration and emvironmentally-driven
public transport growth opportunties over the car

Market features
Prnmanly deregulated market, vehicle/regulatory oversight

Low bamers to entry — fliexibility and scale of operations 1s key
Passenger

Subsidy
Other

Procurement savings were delivered in vehicle parts and We are pligting the extension of smart cards from

lean engineenng continues to be implemented across our concassion traveliers to commercial passengers in Dundee
bus operations On-board telemetry and monitonng of Along with mobile internat and smartphone applications,
drmving style 1s iImproving vehicle efficiency We have reached  this i1s expected to stimulate patronage growth through

a dnver wage agreement based on a 2 5% annual iIncrease  more flaxible tcket offers

for the next two years Network reviews in Coventry and Sandwell improved
Growth service frequency and ensured customers were batter
Commercial revenue growth of 3% benefitted fromanew  Served, resutting in passenger numbers locally increasing by
programme which delivered a 50% ncrease in corporate 4% by the end of 2012 Trus buit on sustaned Mprovements
and student travelcard sales, the latter tappng strong locat from previous reviews 1n Wolverharmpton, Walsall and
growth in college enrolment We also contnus toinnovate  East Birmingham, which have delvered growth rates

with our fares strategy, encouraging ditferentiation and of 2% to 5%

segmentation in the market The £1 inner oty hop proved

particularly popular, alongside famity and unfimited

evaning travel products
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Qur imestment N new vehicles saw 130 buses purchased
for the network in 2012 With deploymant focused on hugh

volume, high frequency comdors, these have proved popular

with passengers Our average fleet age has decreased
{0 less than nine years

Butlding on our close working relationship with Centro,

we are supporting enhancement of the integrated public
transport systarn in the West Midlands  This partnership
delivers modern, ervironmentally-inendly bus services
from National Express and investrment i bus infrastructure
and customer informaton from Centro The three-year
agreament on concessions which protects funding for
senor crizens and students 1s part of this partnership
Dunng the year we also agreed an extension to our
operations on the Midland Metro trarn system until 2018

Cash generation

Operating cash conversion was 61% in 2012, reflecting
capital expanditure of £30 riikon, more than twice
depreciation Annual investment n fleet 1s expected

to continue at around £25 millon, delvenng fleet
upgrades and moderrisation, which in tum should
lead to Increased patronage

Future prospects

The bus market continues to be attractive Natonal Express
15 the market leader in the UK's biggest deregulated bus
region, where 90% of the population five within 250 metres
of abus stop 2013 will see National Express continue to
buid on the progress made over the past three years We
will butd passenger volume growth We will continue to
invest, with over 100 busas to be introduced in 2013, as well
as improve flest turnout and punctuality The rofl out of new
tachnology will continue, with smart cards and real-time
passenger informaton delvered at bus stops and via mobile
applications Increased tuel costs will present a headwind
but cost efficency gans will help to mibgate this Cash
generaton will mprove This will continue to be a business
that generates a strong return on caprtal for the Group

Strategic focus

We beheve that we can grow revenue and passenger
volumes in particular by getting the essential ‘hygrene
factors’ nght This means prowding a reliable and on-tme
service with a well invested fleet We want o explore how
tachnology s able to help us to do this, through smart cards,
passenger information systems or mobile apps

“Our priority in UK Bus
is to continue delivering
consistent high quality
customer service.”

Living our values

Communtty

National Express 1s committed to improving the social and economic condrtions
of the local communities in which it operates

This Includes providing good quality jobs

We are already Brminghan's largest prvate sector employer — by some way
—employing around 6,000 people across the West Midlands Cur Digbeth
headquarters are n the pariamentary constituency of Ladywood, which has
the highest jobless benefil claimant count in the country Yet i 1s home to
1,000 National Express staff

In Apnl, we launched a new jobs Initative — Routes to Work — which commits
us to providing 1,700 new job opportuniies in the Bus business over three years
By the end of 2012 we had already taken on 650 new people

As part of the programme, we are working with locat Job Centres to provide
pre-interview traning for candidates who might need a cornfidence boost after
apenod of unemployment New entrants are helped to achieve NVQs in [nteracy
and numeracy, as well as all the traning they need to obtain the Drver Certificate
of Professional Competenca — which is now required by all professional bus and
coach dnvers This ts a highly transferable qualificaton

Many of the jobs under Routes to Work are as bus dnvers, replacing workers

as they retire But at least 120 are completely new jobs We have, for example,
doubied the size of our revenue pratecton team in the West Midlands, and have
nstalled — and staffed — the largest GPS tracking system in the country, which
will help to iImprove the servce we provide cur communties
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Business review

UK Coach

subsidy challenge

Revenue n 2012 was £2551 millon 2011 £259 1m) and normalised operating profit

£20 6 milion 2011 £34 9m)

Tom Stables
Managng Director, UK Coach

KPis — measunng our progress

Returning to growth after

Revenue growth

2%

Why we measure
Each National Express dvision Is targeting
revenua growth as a core drver of value

2012 performance

Total revenue decreased over the year as
concession Income was cut Underiving
revenue increased by over 2%

Margin

8.1%

Why we measure
Normmalised operating margin reflects
cperational efficiencies and cost control

2012 performance

The drop in margin, from the withdrawat
of the concessionary income, reflects a
lower but sustainable level of profitabifity
whuch 15 not dependent on matenal
Government support
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Passenger joumneys"

16.5™

Why we measure

Passenger ourmeys are reflective of
underiying demand for coach travel
National Express is targeting increased
passenger ndership as along term dnver
of sustainable value

2012 performance

As with revenua, concessionary joumeys
decreased by over 30%, offset by growth
n the core business

Express network including concassionary joumeys




Results

2012 was a difficult year for the UK Coach dmsion, with the
withdrawal of the Government's £16 milion senior citizen
concession scheme One milton fewer CONCESSION |OUMeys
were made Although we took action to grow commercial
{non-concession) revenue, this was insufficient to deliver
amatenal migation of the loss of subsidy

UK Coach revenue decreased to £255 1 milion in 2012,
a 2% deciine from £259 1 milion Within this, the Express
coach business declined 7%, dnven by a 40% decline in
revenus from our over-60 custorners Apart from these
CONCEeSsIon passengers, commercal revenue inthe
Express business grew by 2%, with increased volumes
across each of our market segments, alongside good
growih in The Kings Ferry and Eurolines operations

Operating profit fell £14 3 milion to £20 6 milion (2011

£34 9m) and operating margin was 8 1%, reflecting the loss
of the concession subsidy Anincrease in fuel costs and
additional mileage operated for new routes were offset by
commercial passenger growth and good Olympic contract
volume at The Kings Ferry

Operational excellence

Operational excellence natives focused on improving
customer senice, cost reduction and network efficiency

In 2012 we increased our customer recommendation rate

to 96% Service mprovements included using technology

to improve dmang behawour and keep our customers
nformed We now track 100% of our coaches, inforrming
both travellers and custorner-facing staff of changes to amval
and departure times, as well as prowding live telemetry to our
control centre of vehicle operation data We aiso ntroduced
over 100 new coaches to the network, over half the fleet

15 less than two years old Our investment nemployees,
through the ‘Drving Out Harm' safety programme, saw

a 63% mproverment in employee injury rates

In response to the significant loss of concession revenue
after the Government subsidy withdrawal, we identified
opportunities to recluce structural costs In December we
announced the closure of our Crawley own-operated depot,
saving £0 5 milkon per annum We also made overhead
cost savings through headcount reduction dunng the year
Increasing use of the website to drive sales (Up to 55%

from 50% in 2011) has reduced distnbution costs

Mileage Customer satisfaction

85.0m 84*

Why we measure
Mileage 1s both a key cost management tool
and also an indicator of organic growth

2012 performance

Mileage increased dunng the year as we
nvested in new routes and serices {0
support revenue growth

Why we measure

As a manly discretionary form of transpont,
UK Coach is focused on delvenng the
fughest levels of customer service

2012 performance

We have worked particularty hard to iImprove
the quality of the service over the last two
years, reflected in a high overall resuft that
has been sustaned

13.2

Why we measure

2012 performance

Lost time injunes (per 1,000 FTE}

Safety 15 a key National Express value,
with a Group-wide cbjectrve of reducing
injunes to employees and making our
customers feel secure This will support
sustainabls revenue growth and save
costs (mantenance, Insurance, clams)

The first full year of ‘Dmang Out Harm' has had
a significant impact on safety in the business,
with & decrease of 63%

waww NAboNAlaxpessgroup com
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Business review

UK Coach continued
Market overview
Market size Competition
28 OO m Selective competition from large bus operators and localised servicas
Labour

of contested revenues In the scheduted coach market
falmost all privatised)

National Express
Other operators

Market share
Around 1,000 destinations served

National Express s the UK scheduled coach market leader

Market composition
National Express has the only natiormde network of services

Other competitors tend to focus on specific regions or corndors

Market trends
Core revenue growth, reflecting value and convenience of coach

Prnce compettion from rail through discounted fares

Market features
Highly deregulated market

Customer safety and disablity access supported by regulation
Operators able to compete flexably on selected routes

Customers
Customer satisfaction important in drmang longer term loyafty

Aftracted by fare discount to rall, increasing cost of private motonng
and environmental frendliness

With a change in passenger traveling patterns also driven

QOutsourced model, 80% operated by thrd-party partners on
long term contract

Thrd-party pariners
Owmned operatons

Consistent service and behaviour standards across all operators

Growth
RevenLie growth through improved retailing systems and greater
understanding of our customers and ther needs

UK Coach revenue spiit

Passenger
Contract
Subsidy
Other

T o v e eeman 1IN 2012 we increased our customer

BExpress coach network to improve efficiency and match
customer demand Firstly, we reduced some services

that were made unprofitable by the concession removal
Secondly, we consolidated and remapped overlapping
routes, such as the Trans Pennine services, eliminating

one milign miles of annual schedule without Impacting
revenue Thurdly, we removed some low usage intermediiate
destinations, such as in Sussex or East Anglia, to reduce
joumney times and drive greater patronage
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Growth

We grew our core commercial Exprass revenue by 2% in
2012 With austenty mpacting our customers and strong
competition from advance ticket pnces on rail, we reduced
fare yield by 4%, successfully dming a 5% increase in
wvolume Increasing seat utihsation is our key target We saw
growth in all non-concession market segments and a steady
improvement through the second hali of the year, with
undertying passenger volume growth of 8% in December

We also introduced new routes, Including addrional arport
schedules, benefiting from undertying passenger traffic
recovery at Heathrow and Stansted Also popular was the
introduction of faster direct routes with greater frequencies,
such as from the South Coast to London, mesting dermand
from withdrawal of a competitor

By the end of the year we had sold over 210,000 coach
concession cards to replace the discounts avalable to
seniors, with good renewal rates and a higher average
number of joumneys by each holder We are also developing
partnership arrangements to expand distnbution channels
for ticket sales In Decermnber, we partnered with Age UK

to offer discounted products to ther members

Qutside the core coach operations, both The Kings Ferry
and Eurolnes performed well The Kings Ferry secured
key contracts for the Olympics and Paralympics Eurolines
added further capacity to Pans, Brussels and Amsterdam
dunng the year, ieading to an 11% ncrease in revenue,
despite a ull over the tradmonally busy summer penod
due to the Olympics

Cash generation

Cash generation was solid, with 106% of operating profit
converted into cash fiow {compared with 69% in 2011) The
outsourced business mode! ensures that return on capital
employed remains high, even with a lower operating margin

Future prospects

As the only national coach network in the UK and a capital-
light operating model, our UK Coach business 1s a unique
asset in our portfolio Offenng great value for money to
customers in challenging difficult economic times, it 1s well
placed to improve its performance in the medium term

In 2013 we are nvesting i improving our retailing systems
and customer database to understand ther needs better,
enabling us to offer talored products which will support the
growth of passenger volurmes across our customer base
Wa arg also investing in improved revenues management,
with up-to-the-minute pncing to reflect booking levels

and encourage travel, supported by better demand
management, historic analysis and predictive scheduling

of our services We will also extend our cost efficiency dnve,
fecusing on depot costs and helping to improve our partner
cost base, including reducing dead mileage In the absence
of further austenty measures, we believe we can grow both
revenue and margin in this unique business

Strategic focus

2013 15 about targsting growth in the core network and
malkang changes to the structure of the business Our key
pronty 1S to develop and implement a revenue management
system, followed by getting to know our customers better
and building a single customer view

Living our values

Customer

Customers have a choice They don't have 1o travel with us But the better the
sarice we provide, the more lkely they are to choose National Express And we
want to make sure they enjoy it so much that they keep coming back Increasing
customer satisfaction will INCrease our revenug

By the end of 2014, National Express ams to be the customer service leader
of the entire transport sector

Our Coach business took a step towards achieving this ambrtious goal with the
launch, duning national Customer Service Week, of the first Coach Customer
Charter This told passengers what they could expect from us as a compary —
the pnonty we give to ther safety, the servicas we provide and the relabiity
they are entitied to

But we have also been traiming our staff about how to use the charter, and how
fo put things nght - there and then — when they go wrong

Staff are encouraged 1o put themsetves in ther customer’s shoes, and, if they
believe a customer has been badly treated, they are empowered to Intervene and
resoive the problem We have even ntroduced a new process that allows Coach
station staff to offer unhappy customers free joumeys — if that’s what 1t takes

Wea ask custormers what thay think of our servce, and in 2012 sasfacton
ncreased in all but one of the 14 areas we measure, compared to 2011

In addon, the number of complants fell by 26%
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Business review

UK Rail

Continuing to outperform

Revenue in 2012 was £195.1 millon {2011 £688.3m) and nomalised operating profit
£26 7 milion (2011 £43 4m)

Andrew Chivers
Managing Drrectar, UK Rail

KPIs — measunng our progress

Revenue growth™

7%

Why we measure
Each National Express dwsion 1s targeting
revenue growth as a core dnver of value

2012 performance

Good underiying revenue growth on the
c2c franchise, Increased by share of
Olympic traffic

* 62 only

Margin

13.7%

Why we measure
Normalised operating margin reflects
operational efficiencies and cost control

2012 performance
Profit and margin boost from successful
NXEA handaover

National Express Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2012

Passenger joumeys”

37.2"

Why we measure

Passenger journeys are reflective

of undertying demand for travel

National Express 1 targetng ncreased
passenger ndership as a long term drver
of sustanable value

2012 performance
Increase in passenger demand, boosted
by Olympic visitors

* e2c onty




Resuits

National Express has once again demonstrated its ability
to operate a successful ral business, with cutstanding
performance at c2¢, a smocthly executed transtion of
National Express East Anglia {(NXEA) to the new franchisee
and qualification for two franchise bids in the UK and five
n Germany We are very pleased to have been selected
for two of those rail contracts in Germany, which are due
to start operations in late 2015

Revenue in 2012 was £195 1 milion (2011 £688 3m)
reflecting the end of the NXEA franchise in February
Operating profit was £26 7 milion (2011 £43 4m).

Operational excellence

I ¢2¢, Natonal Express runs the most punctual rail
franchise In the UK, delivenng the best customer servce
The franchise has recently set a new UK record for annual
train punctuality of 97 5%" — more than 6% better than the
national average It also ranked as the best franchise in the
country in the National Passenger Survey, with 93% overall
passenger satisfaction

Gmoup's operational and bidding credentials We have also
nvested to deliver an mproved customer expenence, camying
out magor refurbishmernt at Shoebunmess and Thorpe Bay
statons, whers we have ntreduced smart technology

c2c won Rall Operator of the Year at the National Transport
Awards and was voted the best commuter service in the
UK by Which? magazine

Growth

The ¢2c franchise grew both passenger volume and yisld
n 2012 i camed over 2 millon passengers as part of the
successful delvery of travel dunng the London Clympics

During the year we completed two figh quality UK
franchise kxds, one to continue our current operation of

the Essex Thameside franchise and the other for Graat
Westemn We were disappointed by the suspension of the
procurement process by the Department for Transpeort and
the subsequent cancellation of the Great Western tender,
wasting substantial bid costs However, we welcome the
recommendations of the Brown report and the planned
restart of the refranchising process

A number of major achievements were accomplished dunng . Pubiic PEMOMANGS MEASB Movng ann.al averags)

the yvear c2c implemented a new quality system achieving
four star EFQM status in January, a key step forward in the

Signals passed at danger (per million miles)”

117

Why we measure
SPADs are a ralndustry specific
safety measure

2012 performance

A fotal of 5 SPADs dunng the year was
disappointng A comprehensive achon
plan i1s in place to remedy this

- 62 ony

Public performance measure
Mowving annual average®

97.5%

Why we measure

This 1s the rall Industry standard
rmaasurement of performance

it also enables franchuses to be
benchmarked aganst each other

2012 performance
A further mprovement in cperational
standards to record levels

c2c only

Lost ttme injunes {per 1,000 FTE)"

8.2

Why we measure

Safety 15 a key National Express value,
with a Group-wide objective of reducing
Inunes to employees and making our
customers feel secure This wall support
sustanable revenue growth and save
costs (mantenance, INnsurance, caims}

2012 performance

Sightly highar than in the previous year,
but shouid be seen in the context of
eight years of reducing numbers of
accidents Plans in place to reduce
incidents n 2013

" c2conly
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Business review
UK Rall continued

Market overview

Market size

f£oebn

of UK franchise revenues over next five years
(based on estmated pipelne)

€6bn currently accessible Garman regional rail market
Market share

One franchise remaining atter NXEA handover in February 2012

c2¢ (Essex Thameside)

Market composition
Top four players have around 70% of the market

Top four operators
Other operators

19 UK franchises in total

Cash generation

111% of operating profit was converted into cash The ral
businesses in both the UK and Genmany are asset ight
and provide a good routs for future value creation

Future prospects

c2c 1s the UK's best performing rail franchise Its credentials
were a key factor in Nabonal Express beng successful

in German regional and commuter rad bidding We are in
negotiations 1o extend the franchise on an ntenm basis

and will be re-submitting our long term bxd In due course

We are delighted to have been selected for our first two
contracts to operate in Germany and will work towards therr
mobiisaton in late 2015 We have pre-qualfied for three
further beds, with a promising pipeline beyond Germany
offers smaller ral contracts, generally with lower nsk and
bidding costs to the UK, and we look forward to developing
aportiolio of operations there In such an attractve and
sizeabla markst

Market trends
Growth over the past decade dnven by passenger volumes

Dependent on GDP and employment, particulary central London
employment for c2c

Regulated fares will Increase by 1-3% in real terms over next two years
Liberalising German rail market

Market features
Regulated emaronment

Current framework has 7-10 year franchises
Highly regulated qualification and operational processes

Customers
Steady growth in passenger voluma over last 20 years

Competition
Increased intemational compethion n UK franchise bidding

Labour
Relationships are managed within each franchise, with high
union representation

Growth
Successiul bid to retain c2c and bidding for other UK franchises
Further bid wins n Germany

Strategic focus

Wa will continue to focus on delivenng exceptional
performance at ¢c2c, mamntaning our position at the top

of punctuality and customer satisfacton tables We have

an excellent ral bid team in place and will use ths flagship
operation as an example of our capabiities i winrung further
franchises, both in the UK and abroad

“c2c carried over 2 million
passengers during the
London Olympics.”
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BL{snness review
Risk and risk management

The Group has a well established govermnance structure
with intemal control and nsk management systams
The nsk management process

* provides a framework to identify, assess and manage
nsks, both positive and negatve, to the Group's
overall stratagy and the contribution of s indmdual
componant dwvisions

* gnves business unit management formal tools toidentity
and manage nsks in ther day-to-day operations

* allows Group Executive management to identify and
manage the nsks that are likely to have a more sigrificant
impact on the financial resulis and strategy and share
common ssues and solutions across the Group

= allows the Board to fulfl its governance responsibilities
by making a balanced and understandable assessment
of the operation of the nsk management process
and its outputs

Responsibiliies and actions

The Board

» has overall responsibiity for the Group's system of imternal
control and for reviewing its effectveness

* martans full control and direction over appropnate
strategte, financial, operatonal and compliance issues

* has put in place an organisational structure with formally
defined ines of responsibility, delegated authonties
and clear operating processes

The Audit Commirttee

* has specific responsibility for reviewing the
effectveness of the Group's iIntermal control
and sk managerment systermns

* 15 responsibie for the identification, assessment
and management of nsk, Including actons taken
and processes adopted to do so

» reviews and approves all financial Information published
by the Group

* reviews the intemal audrt programmae, considers major
findings of the Internal audit rvestgatons and reviews
management’s financial reporting and nsk managerment

Risk review process

Each dmvision, plus the Group functon, is required to make
a formal review of nsks to ther business objectives, assess
the impact and likelihood of the nsk occurmng and put

In place mitigating actons, processes and systems to
managse the nsk

Risks

Identty nsks to business obyectves on a bottom up basis
nsks are described and categonsed into Operational,
Strategic and Financial nisks in order to help dafine their
precise nature and potential impact on the business

Assessment

Assess and quantify the potential impact on business
obyectves and determing the lkelhood of the nsk occumng
This 1s dons on a 'before’ and “after’ basis, where the mpact
of management controls 15 assessed n relation to the
probabiity and seventy of a nsk

Risk assessment and review

1 Identify 2 Assess

Management

Take mitigating actions and iImplement systems to manage
the likelihood and impact of the nsk Identfy anindvidual
with responsibility for each nsk

Monitonng and control

Risks are considered on a monthly basis at dmsional

level and formally updated twice a year Management s
encouraged to review the nsk registers from other dvisions
to identify cormmon issues and potential solulions

Each dvisional register, including the Group function register,
1s consohdated into a Group Risk Register

The Group Executve Commitiea reviews the Group
Risk Register twice a year, followed by the Group Audrt
Committee The Audit Committee reports intum to
the main Board

The intermnal audit funciion has responsibility for the
monitonng of the nsk management and intemal control
systems Internal Audit reports to management and the
Audit Commuttee on the extent to which intemal conirols
are adequately designed and implemented

Www nabonalexpressgroup com
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Business review

Principal risks of 2012

Risks
Principal nsks and uncertanties

Outlined below are nsks that have the potential to affect the Group's performance in a matenal way, which are monitored through the nsk

managament processes

Risks

Assessment

Dunng 2012, the Group focused on the following key areas of nsk

Economic conditions and austenty

Difficuit economic conditions currently
exist in Europe and North Amenca Whilst
some of the Group’s businessas have
naturally defensive charactenstics, some
of the more discretionary parts of the
business may be adversely aftected

by reduced economic actvity

Revenues in the Bus, Coach and Radl
businesses in the UK and Span may be
affected by lower passenger demand,
there ts also some positive nsk that the
Group would benefit from the prospect of
modal shift towards rts forms of fransport
In North Amenca for example, school
boards may reduce ther transportation
budgets, or look to shift provision to
contractors hike National Express

In Span, the dvsion may be atfected by
lower clisposable Income, sustained high
unsmployment, lower council budgets
and low GDP growth However, they

100 may benefit from the outsourcing

of further urban bus operatons

Management

The Group seeks 1o mitigate these nsks
through proactrve cost control, revenue
management systems, the careful
aconomic modeliing of new and existing
contracts, Including sensitvities around
axpected growth rates, and through
shanng nsk with contractng partes

Potential
impact

High

Polrhical and regulatory

The Group’s businesses are subject to
numerous laws In the junsdictions 1N which
they operate, regulating the operation

of concessions, safety procedures,
equipment specifications, employment
requirements, envirenmental procedures
and other operating 1ssues

Changes in poliical and regulatory
emvironments can have a significant
impact on reguiated public transport
oparators, from adding significant cost

to changing the fundamental nature

of a market For example

Changes In UK Government policy have
resutted n matenal decreasas in subsidies
pad In 2012 for senior citzen discounts
and fuel rebates

The UK Department for Transport has
suspended the rall franchising process
The Spanish Government 15 considenng
the impostion of a fee on new concessions
and other reguiatory changes

The following nsks are key ongoing nsks within the business

Fuel cost

All of the Group’s businesses are exposed
1o fuel costs - pnmanly Ultra Low Sulphur
Diasal for buses and coaches Fue!

pnees are subject to significant

volatility dus to economic, polibcal

and ckmate circumstances

Fuel costs constitute approxamately 9%
of the Group's costs and, consequently,
to the extent that pnce ncreases cannct
be passed on to customers Increases
n fued costs wil affect profitability

The nsk ts reduced by mantaining close
reflationships with key stakeholders and
ensunng that the economic advantages
of our business models are fully
understood and considered

In the longer term, the Group can mitigate
nsk by diversdying its operztions into
other geographigs

The Group seeks to mitigats nsks of
increases in fuel costs by entenng into fuel
swaps and forwand purchase contracts

in lne with the Group's hedging strategy
discussed on page 23

High

Medium

Insurance and claims

The Group's pobey s to seff-msure
a number of potential clams withn
its business

There 13 a nsk that a successful claim or
senes of successful claims may result n
substantal ngher charges to profit and
cash outflow than expecied

Throughout the business, a strong

safety cultura prevails, led by the Board
Safety and Environmental Committee
Where clams ansa, they are managed

by expenenced claims handlers and
professional advics s obtamed n order to
evaluate and minimise costs to the Group
It has also reduced seff-insurance vaues
and ncreased external market coverage

Medium
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Potential
Risks Assessment Management
impact
Credit nsk Payment terms and cash collectons n Recevables in each business are closely Medium
As contractual operations, the North North Amenca ars extramety good monitered, based on robust and thorough
Amencan and Spanish businesses are In Span, dunng 2011 recenables balance ~ documentation, provisions ars then made
exposed to the nsk that customers are Increased as a result of Issues related where appropnate on a prudent basis for
etther late or unable to pay sums owed to local and federal elections, as wall as a certam level of non-collection Addrtional
to the Group financial constraints. In June 2012 alllong ~ SOntractual terms for nterest accrual
term outstanding amounts were sattied and repayment of outstanding balances
through a federal Govemment credit have been agreed with major debtors
faciity and the level of outstanding debt s~ Where necessary
back to normal levels and continues to fall
Currency Foreign currency movements impact the The Group uses s overseas currancy Low

The Group's exposure to overseas
eamings through ts Spanish and North
Armencan aperations creates a nsk

that movernent in exchange rates may
adversely impact translation of profit and
cash flows together with Group geanng

profit, balance sheet and cash flows of the
Group Dunng 2012 the Euro depreciated
against Sterling, atthough the US dollar
remained relatively stable The Group
swapped some of its debt during the

year to access Euro-denominated debt,
as well as mantaining Sterling bonds

and US dollar finance leases

debt and currency swaps to reduce the
impact and mitigate the nsk In addrion,
management has flexbiity to adjust

its Group caprtal allocation decisions

to focus on s lughly cash generatve
UK businesses

The Board has stress tested for the
impact of a break-up of the Eurozone
or sovereign debt defautt on the
Group's ability to fund and operate,
and has dentified appropnate plans
for such scenanos

Acquisitions

Risk of faling to exacute and then
realise the expected retums from the
Petermann acquistion

Contractual

Much of the Group's business 1s
secured through winning contracts
and concessions, particularly n its
North Amencan school bus and Transit
business in Span and in UK Rail

Tha Group acquired Petermann for $200
milion in May tts return on that investment
1s dependent on property integrating

the operations, retaining customers and
employses and realsing planned cost
savings and synergies

An inherent nsk in contract idding rs
that bid assumptions might prove 1o be
incorrect. if the Group's significart bid
assumptions prove to be incorrect, this
could have an adverse effect on results
of the operations and the Group's
financial condition

Thorough due diigence was carned out, Low
as well as dedicating resource for the

transsion and mtegration of Petermann

operations and customers Operational

and financal rmetncs show the acquisiion

1S ON track to meet expected retums

The Group seeks to mitgate the nsk High
through careful economic modeling of

new contracts, and by shanng revenue

nsk with the awarding bodly, for example

with the OfT In UK Rail

www Nationalexpressgroup com
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Business review
Living our values

Our values underpin who
We are as a business

Our Vision and Values are fundamental to our identity as a business and ensure that

we are a responsible corporate citizen

Qur approach

Qur Vision 1s 10 earn the kfetime lovalty of cur customers
by consistently delivenng frequent, high performing public
transport services that offer excellent value

This Vision i1s supported by four Values Our business
actvities reflect our Values We should always be safe in
everything we do, we will always try harder than anyone else
for customers, we will work to be an employer of choice,

we will play an active role in the local community and will
respect the environment and meet the challenges presented
by cmate change In addtion, all our business should be
conducted property In kne with legal, regulatory and other
stakeholder requirements

All of our senior management team are tasked with ensunng
that our Vision and Values, business approach and policies
are adhered to This section of our annual report highlights
how we manage each of these areas Further nformaton
about National Express and corporate responstbility 1s
published on the Group website

{nationalexpressgroup com/ourway)

Managing responsibly

Safety

Safety is a key value and is a fundamental prionty for any
public transport business Utimate responsibiity for managing
our perfarmance rests with Dean Finch, our Group Chief
Executive, our Group Safety Director, Alison Forster, and

the dvisional headls

The Group develops a Health, Safety and Environment Plan
every three years which includes input from each dmsion
such as settng objectves and quantfied targets

In practce the distinctve nature of our divisional business
actties means that haaith and safety presents a ditferent
set of challenges for each one Consequently our health and
safety management systems are developed and managed
at this leve! Comphance with our health and safety standards
15 enforced by a ngorous and continuous intemnal audit
process and 1s an essential and prominsnt feature of our
intemal reporting throughout the business and at Board level

Our values

Safety

More than anything else, we value the safety of our
customers, employees and the pubbic generally

Customers

We will place customers at the heart of our business
Nobody will try harder for our custormers than we do

People

Enabling all our people to reach ther full potential and to
give therr best as Indmviduals and in teams

Community

Wae will acivance the social, smaronmental and econamic
conditions In the commurries where we operate

Dmang Out Harm, a Group-wide safsty iniative was
developed n 2010 with the am of embedding a global safety
culture throughout our dmvsions Features indude regular
safety trauning for our middle managers and supersors
Safety 1s also viewed throughout the business as being

the personal responsibiity of every employse

Additonalty all of our drvsions are in reguiar dialogue with peer
group companias, regulators and industry assocations and
conduct best practice health and safety knowledge shanng
activiies with therm as a matter of course

The Group's health and safety performance has seen matenal
mprovements in performance dunng 2012 Significant
reductions in lost time inury instances were achieved at

UK Bus, UK Coach and n Spain Similar improvements in
preventable acodents were recorded n Spam, Morocco,
North Amenca and at UK Coach
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Customers

Operational excellence 1s a key element of our Vision

and Values and we am to eam the Iifetime loyalty of our
customers Five Golden Rules have been introduced in 2012
to provide a Group-wide standard for customer service
and we strive 10 ensure that every employee is aware of
these requrements  Staff members are encouraged to
be approachable, communicate clearly, be n possession
of current information, take personal responsibility for any
achons they might take and treat customers courteously
and with respect

This focus on excellence 1s reflected by c2¢'s achievernents
QOur UK rail franchise holds both the industry’s punctualty
records This industry-leacing performance was recently
complemented by the National Passenger Survey, published
in October 2012 by Passenger Focus, the independent
watchdog for ral services In the survey c2¢ was named as
the most popular franchise n the UK Overall passengers
rated ¢2c as the leading franchise In five key categones

Passengers also rated ¢2¢ as the top London commuter ral
franchise in 12 categones including overall satistaction with
the station, service frequency and the speed of the joumey

Similarty, our UK Bus business ncreased overall customer
sabisfacton dunng 2012 from 80% to 84%, using the
Passenger Focus survey methodology

Customers expect good communication, and the intermet
and sccial media play an ncreasingly important part in
ensunng that we keep them informed about our services

An example 1s the launch in 2012 of Coach Tracker n the

UK The senvice allows customers to track their coach in

real ime, anytime and anywhere This enables them to see
whether the coach 1s on time and when it 1s due o armve at

a station or stop The service also allows customers to check
for mformation such as an earher or later departurs should
journey plans change

People

Underpinning the delivery of the People value are five people
management standards which apply across all of our
operatons They are

* Recrutment excellence (to gst the nght person into the
nght job at arty level In National Express)

* Induction {to ensure that every new employee 1s engaged
with our Vision and Values and understands the business,
policies, practces, safety rules and standarcis of the area
In which they worl)

* Performance Managemernt (to enabile all our people to
meet and exceed job requiremertts each year, linked to
core values)

* Talent Management {to ensure al our people reach ther
full potential in National Express)

» Workplace nghts (to sustain an open, far and supportve
environment for all those who work for our company)

Complance with our pokaies and our people management
standards 1s monitored at dwisional level through employee
feedback (induding the whistleblowing mechanismy,
customer feedback and intemal human resources
measurement systems

Measunng our progress

Lost time employee injunes per 1,000 ful-time equivalent employees

Preventable accidents per million miles

The views of our employess matter To gauge engagement
N the business. we conduct separate employes surveys

In our dvisions They examine employss opinion on a
vanety of aspects of our business including 1ssuas such

as safety, employee morale, working emvironment and
manager relations

The 2012 UK Bus survey had a response rate of 55%
(Up 6% on 2011} Particularty postive scores were noted
in the following areas

+ Understanding of personal obligations regarding
satety (5%}

* Role played in helping the business achieve s
obyectvas (B9%)

» Safety 1s taken senously by the business (87%}

¢2¢c’s latest employee survey was conducted in December
2012 and had a responsea rate of 75%

UK Coach targeted an increase in response ratas to ts own
survey, which s undertaken twice annually This led to an
mprovement in partcipation from 49% 1o 88% and overall
employes satisfaction increased slightly dunng a challenging
year to 75%

Each area of the business has nominated one of their
team as an engagement champion and this team of 25
champions have been instrumental in raising the profile
of the survey, encouraging responses, Communcatng
the results and holding focus groups to ensure the
resutting action plans achweved the deswred results

Local action plans are in place in all areas of the business
as well as a business-wide acton plan which addresses
the kay areas of commurication and recogrition
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Business review
Living our values continued

Safety

Customer

all of our dwisions are in regular dialogue
with peer group companies, regulators and
industry associations and conduct best
practice health and safety knowledge shanng
activities with them as a matter of course

Key conclusions from the 2012 from our latest quarterly
employee survey In North Amenca included the following

* Employees clearly understand what is expected
of them at work {95 7%}

* Feedback from employees to managers 1s acted
upon (92 8%)

* Employees understand the goals and priorties of the
company (80 7%)

Community

We recognise the mpact we have on the communrties
in which we operate Responstbility for ensunng that our
policies concerning the communtty, including our iImpact
on the environment, are carned out IS split between the
Group head office and our dvisions

At Group level, a kay development in 2012 in support of the
Community value was the launch of the National Express
Foundation, an independent chantable trust The Foundation
was created In respanse to the urban disturbances N the
UK in 2011 and the Group has pledged to provide it with

at least £500,000 n funding over five years

The Foundation provides support 1o students with
challenging personal and financial crcumstances to enable
them to advance thewr further and tigher educaton It also
provides grants to community groups with social objectives
that support children and young people and promoie
cross-community cohesion and understanding In 2012
more than 750 young people benefitted as a result of the
Foundation making grants to community groups

and awarding bursanes to students

In the UK, National Express is actively promoting payroll
gving and we are aiming to achieve the Gold Qualty Mark
for Payroll Gmng Thes s awarded to organisations that

achieve 10% employes partcipation in payroll gmng to
chanties and demonstrate other support for the programme

The Group befieves that it s also important that our dmsions
interpret our policies through designing actvities which

are relevant to our business and the communies in

which they operate Examples of this sort of actraty

dunng 2012 included

97.5% '

Punctughty (PPM/MAA)

93%

Overall jourmey satisfaction®

92%

Satisfaction with tram®

* Natonal Passenger Survey ¢2¢ rail

e Qur UK Employase Chanty Panel making awards to |
60 community groups which employees are invoived
with totalling £18,000
= Our Routes to Work scheme commits us to filing the
expected 1,700 job opportunities in our Wast Midlands
bus business over the next three years in partnership
with JobGentre Plus

» Our participation in National Buthang Prevention
Month in North Amenca

Our support of National Schodl Bus safety week in
North Amenca
» Qur support of the John XXIIl Foundation in Span
This organisation aims 1o encourage the personal
development, socal inclusion and professional
qualifications of people with learning disabilities
Across the Group we made chantable donations totaling
£373,000 10 2012 Other community actvty included our
continued associaton with Transaid In 2012, four more
West Midlands driver frainers spent time at the Natonal
Institute of Transport in Tanzania to help budd skills and share
techniques with local Instructors This is part of the chanty’s
efforts to iImprove the road acadent rate in Tanzana

In 2012 we continued to make good progress improving
our evironmental performance  The Health, Safety and
Environment plan requires dmsions to prepare ther own
element and set ohyectves and quantified targets

National Express’ Group Property and Ervironment
Director, Stuart Parker, plays a key role in our management
systems This responsibility includes mantaning an up to
date corporate register of relevant legislahon and standards
which 15 circulated regularty to relevant environmendal
co-ordinators, prowding guidance on the implications of
forthcomung legislation and providing input into the Group
Haalth, Safety and Emaronment Plan

The Group Property and Envronment Director

provides regular updates to the Board's health, safety
and smaronment commitiee which is responsible for
reviewing and monstonng our emaronmental systems and
performance It also reports penodically to the Board and
makes recommendations on any specific environmental
ssues Further nformation on its actvibies is recorded n
the Safety & Ermronment overview on page 63
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The Group apples a ‘plan-do-check-review' model which
15 compatible with established ernronmental management
systerns such as 1IS014001 15 not a requirement to obtain
this certificabon although a number of siies have achieved
this The framework 1s also consistent with the pnneiples

of the European Foundabon Quality Model (EFQM)

Each National Express dvsion has assigned a drrector with
specific responsibility for this aspect of our business This
role ncludes ensunng that our operations have a systematc
approach to ensure, for example, complance with the
refevant legislation, pollution pravention and contnual
improvernent IN cur emarcnmental performance Addrtional
responsibilties nclude ensunng that employses have the
necessary traning, support and rescurces and requinng
contractors and suppliers to manage environmental 1Issues
In ne with our policies

In practice, the nature of our divisional actvbies means that

emaronmental and cimate change matters present a drfferant

set of challenges to each of our businesses Consequently
they have developed approaches which are talored to ther
araas of mpact supported by Group-wide and peer group
knowledge shanng An example is the requirement for each
business to develop ts own environmental policy This must
compty with the pobcy of the Group, relevart envronmental
legislaton and be reviewed every three years

Environmental performance highlights
¢ Group-wide greenhouse gas emissions continue to fall
and are now less than 50% of 2004 levels

+ Key three year key performance indicator targets are
being achieved ahead a year ahead of target (end 2013)
These were a 5% reduction in fieet fuel consumphon per
vehicle, a 10% reduchon in site electncity, gas and gas
ol consumption and a 40% reduction in non-hazardous
waste going to landfill

* Zero prosecutions dunng 2012 for poliution ncidents

* The intreduction of electnc and hybnd vehicles - five in
Span and 18 on our West Midlands routes, with 30 more
on order

Business conduct
National Express has established ngorous processes and
procedures at dmsional and corporate level to ensure that

Community

UK greenhouse gas emissions (CO,€)

UK site usage (mWh)

its pohcies and the expectatons of ts stakeholders are met
In this important area For example, our relatons with our
supphers are govemned by locally constructed purchasing
palicies and procedures These include ensuning that
cperating comparies only source goods and services from
approved supphers that have agreements with the company
or appear on an approved Iist Large projects (@bove
£100,000) require the rmvohvement of Group procurement in
the purchasing process and speciic Group approval if they
have a value In excess of £500,000

Group compliance with the requirements of the UK

Bnbery Act s supported by whistleblowing procedures
which have been developed locally For example, In the

UK the company has developed a whistieblowng hotine
procedure which is managed by anindependent thud party
service Callers to a free of charge number are addressed
by a trained adwvser who will maintain confidentality if
requested Information obtained through this service 1s
passad by Group management to the appropnate manager
for iInvestigaton

People

“The funding provided by the National
Express Foundation has been invaluable
In helping to expand our Nnovative fath
schools Iinking programme” Stephen
Shashoua, Director, Three Faiths Forum

95%

Of our staff understand
therr personal obligations

regarding safety*

89%

Of our staff understand therr
role in helping the business
achieve its objectives”

2012 UK Bus Emploves Survey
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Goven_'\ance
Chairman's overview

What does good governance
mean to National Express’?

Dear shareholder,

The Board believes that effectve governance 1s essential to
pretecting shareholder value and the sustanable growth of
the Group Wa therefore seek to ensure that it 1s an integral
part of the ‘way we do busingss’ and that it is fully embraced
by all our employees

As you will know, | have only recently joinad the Board and
took over from John Devaney as Charman of the Company
at the begnning of February thus year | would hike to thank
John for the leadership and commitment he has shown

in ensunng that good govemance 15 in place across the
whole Group

This section of the report and accounts explans the
vanous aspects of the govemnance of the Comparty,
including reports on the work underiaken in 2012 by
the Board's Committees

The compositon of the Board has contnued 1o evolve

In addition to my appointment, Miranda Curtis retired from

the Board and Jackie Hunt has joned it 15 important that
the Board has the cormect balance of skills and expenence

Board Committee overview

and that Board members work together effectively
| will encleavour to camy on the good work of your former
Chairman in this area

National Express supports dversity throughout the Group as
well as the Boardroom We work on the premusg that talent
has no age, race or gender and 1s not ruled out by disability
Qur goat s for our pecple to reach ther full potential and to
gve of therr best as ndviduals and in teams

In 2011 the review of the performance of the Board was
carmed out by an external faciitator and in 2012 the review
was camed out Internally Both reviews confirmed that the
Board continued to operate etfectively, further detalls of the
recommendatons that came out of these reviews are set
out on page 57

A descnption of the subjects considered by the Board in
2012 are set out on page 56 and 1t s ikely we will have
another busy year in 2013 as we wrestie with the ongoing
difficult macro-econcrmic cimate and continue 1o seek to
grow the Group

Audit Committee
Tim Score, Chairman

Compliance
Irternal Audit
External Audit
Other

Read more

Nomination Committee
Sir Andrew Foster, Committee Member

20% Non-Executive Director

35% Appontment

40% Charman's Appointment
5% Succession Planning

Read more
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We continue to monitor the developments in corporate
governance practce and will aim to comply with the new
UK corporate governance requirements that come into
effect n 2013

I would like to encourage you to aftend our annual general
om on @ May 2013 at Kings Place, S0 York Way,
8AG and | look forward to meeting marny of you

L

Sk John Amitt, CBE

Chairman

28 February 2013
Safety & Environment Committee Remuneration Commuttee
Chns Muntwyler, Chairman Sir Andrew Foster, Chairman

Govermnance 30% Board Rernuneration 40%
Ermaronment 25% Compliance 20%
Safety 45% Share Schemes 30%

Other 10%

Read more Read more

www nationalexpressgroup,com
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Govermance
Board of Directors

An experienced and
balanced Board

The Board is regularly reviewed to ensure that the mix of skills and expenence 1s appropriate to meet the

current needs of the Group An overview of the Directors’ expenence is summansed below

Board overview

Position/

Committes Langth of service Public Board Operational
Name membership (a3 at 31 Docember 2012) independem expariance axperience
Sir John Armitt Charrman NAA NA v v
67 Nomination (Chair}

Safety & Emaronment
Joaquin Ayuso Nomination 1 year 6 months v v v
57 Safety & Emaronment
Jorge Cosmen Deputy Chairrman 7 years 1 month N/A v v
44 Nomination

Safety & Emvronment
Sir Andrew Foster Audit 8 years 4 months v v v
68 Nommation

Remuneration ({Chair)

Safety & Ermvronment
Jackee Hunt Audit 3 months v v v
44 Safety & Envronment
Chns Muntwyler Audit 1 year 7 months v v v
80 Safety & Ermronment

{Chan)
Lee Sander Remuneration 1 year 6 months v v
56 Safety & Ermronment
Tim Score Senor Independent 7 years 10 months v v v
52 Director

Audit (Chain

Remuneraton

Safety & Environment
Dean Finch Group Chiet Executve 2 year 10 months N/A v v
46
Jez Maiden Group Finance Director 4 years 1 month N/A v v
51
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The structure of the Board

The Board consists of a balance of Executive and
Non-Executve Directors who each bnng a strong
and n-depth mix of knowledge, business skills
and expenence to the Board's deliberations,
datails of which are shown below

For detaled bographues of our Board of
Directors and Company Secretary, please
go to nationalexpressgroup corm/aboutus/
ourmanagemsnt

International Lagal/MEA
experience experience

v

Finance
experience

Government /

regulatory
txperience

Commentary

« Senior leadership expenence In the public and private sectors

« Sgrvficart Board axpenence at Chief Executve and Charmnan levels

« Extensive knowledge of Intermational construction cvl engineering
and transport mdustnes

+ Sgnificant Board expenance at seruor level
* Extensive knowledge of the transporiation industry in bath continental
Ewopa and mternationally

* Expertise In the ransportaton mdustry
* Koy shareholder representative

» Signdicant pubkc sector and mirastructure expenance

Sigruficant financal expertise
Servor Board expenence
Chartered Accountant

* Extensve servor management expensnee n transport and logisbes
industnes both In the UK and intermational
* Sarvor Board experience both UK and intemational

* Semor management and operatonal expenence n
the US transportation ndustry

* Sigruficart expenence at US Government adwsory level
on transportation policy and management

» Financial expertise from CFO posibons
+ Has acted as Interrn Chavman

+ Sigreficant transportation expenence
+ Chartered Accountart

= Sigreficant fnancial axpertise
= Chartered Management Accountant
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Governance
Corporate govemance

Independence

The Board considers all of the Non-Executive Directors to
be independent other than Jorge Cosmen and considered
S John Armutt to be independent prior to his appontrment
as Charman Jorge Cosmen is not considered to be
independent by the Board due to his close links with the
AL SA business and significant interests in the shares of
the Company which are held through European Express
Enterpnses Limited Despite his non-independence, the
Board feels that it benefits greatly from Jorge Cosmen's
extensive local market knowledge and expenance
Non-Executive Directors do not participate in any of the
Company's share option or bonus schemes and ther
S8rvICe 15 Nen-pensionable

The role of the Board

The Board's role is to provide leadership of the Group and
drrection for management It i1s collectvely responsible
and accountable to the Company’s shareholders for the
long term success of the Group and for ensunng the
appropnate management and operation of the Group in
pursuit of its chjectives

The Board is responsible for setiing the Group's strategic
ams, its valuss and standards and ensuring the necessary
financial and human resources are in place to achieve its
goals To help discharge its responsibilities, the Board has
a schedule of governance and business matters for which
s responsible These form the core of the Board's agenda

The Board discharges ts dutes through an annual
programme of Board and other mestings In doing $o,

the Board ensures that alf necessary matters are discussed
The timeline on page 56 shows the main tems of business
addressed by the Board dunng the year The Non-Executive
Directors also met several tmes dunng the year without the
Execurive Directors beng present

Key matters reserved for Board approval

Group strategy and nsk management
* Formulation and approval of long term objectives

* Approval of changes to capital structure

* Approval of major changes to management and control structure
* Approval of extension of actvities into new businesses or geographical areas

Financial and intemal controls
¢ Ovarsight of nsk management and intemnal control framework

* Approvai of financial statements and results announcements

* Approval of shareholder communications, crculars and notices
of meetings

» Approval of the auditor's remuneration and recommendations
for ther appontment/emoval

* Recommendation and declaration of dvidends

* Monitonng Group’s businesses aganst plan and budget
* Approval of major capital expenditure projects

* Approval of matenal contracts

Board membership and committees
» Appointment of Dwectors

* Approval of remuneration of the Non-Executive Directors
» Setting of committee tarms of reference
s Approval of new share Incentive plans

Corporate govermance
* Undertaking formal performance reviews of Board, commitiee
and indmdual directors

» Deterrmning the Independeance of directors
» Recenving reports from the Compearry's mayor shareholders

Policies
= Review and approval of Group policies, for example

- health and safety

- nsk management strategy

- emaronment

- chantable and poltical donations

54 Natonal Express Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2012



Reporting framework

The Chairman and the Group Chief Executive
The Charman Is responsibla for leading the Board and
ensunng its effectveness The Group Chiet Executive 1s
responsible for unring the businass of the Group and
implementation of the strategy and policies adopted by

the Board The roles of Charman and Group Chief Executive
are held separately and the dmsion of responsibiities
between these roles 1s clearty established as shown below

Chairman’s responsibilities
= Channg and managng the business of the Board

* Together with the Group Chief Executive, leading the
Board in developing the strategy of the business and
ansunng its etfective mplementation by the executve
management team

Ensunng effective dialogue with investors concerning
mutual understanding of objectves

In conunction with the Nomination Cormmittae, taking
responsibility for the composition and replenishment
of the Board

*

Penodically reviewing with the Board its working practices
and performance

* Ensunng there 1s an effective contnbution from the
Non-Exscutive Directors and a canstructive relationship
betweaen Executve and Non-Executve Directors

Group Chief Executve's responsibilities
* Communicating a shared purpose and the culture,
viston and values of the Group

* The development and implementaton
of management strategy

* The day-to-day management of the Group

* Managing the execuive management team

* Fostenng refabonships with key stakeholders

* | sading the Group Executive Committee

+ In conunction with the Group Finance Director,
communicating the Group’s financial performance
o nvestors and analysts

= Liaising with the Chasrman to ensure effective dialogue
with investors and stakeholders

The Charman’s other significant commitments are detatled
n his biography which accomparues the Notice of the 2013
Annual General Mesting

Non-Executive Directors

The terms and conditions of appontment of the Non-
Exacutive Direciors are avallable for inspection at seach
Annual General Meeting, on the Company's website and
at its regsterad office dunng nomma business hours The
Non-Exacutrve Directors disclose to the Beard ther other
signdficant commitments  The procedure adopied by the
Company In relabon to Directors’ conflicts of nterest are
detaied on page 79

Senior independent Director

The Board appoints one of the Non-Executive Directors to
act as Senior Independent Director and this role has been
held by Tim Scors since Apnl 2009 The role of the Senor
Independent Director 1s to provide a sounding board for

the Charman and to serve as an intermediary for the other
Birectors where necessary The Senior Independent Drractor
1§ also avallable to address shareholders' concemns if they
have been unable to rescive these through nomal channels
or when such channels would be inappropnate The Senior
Independent Direcior is also responsible for lsading the
annual appraisal of the Charman's performance

Executive Directors

The Executive Directors are responsible for the day-to-day
management of the Group's businesses, implsmentation
of s strategy, policies and budgets and its financial
performance Executve management meetings compnse
the Executive Directors and senior management from the
dmsions and are held reguiarty to discuss cument Issues

Pnncipal committees of the Board

The main committees established by the Board are the Audit
Commitiee, the Remuneration Commitiee, the Nomination
Committes and the Safety & Environment Commitiee

Each Commitiee operates within defined terms of reference,
the full versions of which can be found on the Company’s
website at nationalexpressgroup com Each Commuittes
reports its proceedings to the Board through the submission
of reports and minutes as appropnate

All Board Committses are authonsed to obtan legal or other
professional advice as necessary, to secura the attendance
of external advisors at their meatings and to seek nformation
required from any employee of the Group in order to perform
ther dutes

Reports of each of the Committess are provided on pages
60 to 65, and include informabion on each Committee's
membership, duties and work throughout the year

The Chief Executive heads the Group Executive Committee
which meets on a monthly basis and 1s tasked with
approving operational business matters In additon, the UK,
Span and North Amenca Executives mest on a monthly
basis and matters deatt with at these meetings ams reported
to the Group Executve Committee

The reporting framework of the Board Commuttees and
of the Group Executive Committee and its sub-committeas
15 shown above

The table on page 56 sats out the number of meetings
of the Board and its Com—mittees dunng the year and
indivdual attendance by the Board and Cormmittes
members at these meetings

During the year the Chaimman met on several occasions with
the Non-Executives without the Executive Directors present
to allow informal discussions on a vanety of issues

WWW Nationalexpressgroup.com

ABaens o uo Buusweg

AN SENESNEY

SNGLBTETS [k



Govemance

Corporate governance continued

Number of Board meetings
Safety &
The Board Audrt Nomination  Remuneration Environment
Board meetings of Directors Committee Cornmittes Committee Committee
Total meetings in 2012 8 3 5 4 3
Executive Directors
Dean Finch, Group Chief Executive - - - -
Jez Maiden, Group Finance Director - - - -
Non-Executive Directors
John Devaney? 8 - 5 - 3
Joaguin Ayuso? 7 - - - 3
Jorge Cosmen 8 - 5 - 3
Miranda Curtis' 33 - - 1{1} 1(1)
S Andrew Foster® 7 3 5 3@ 3
Jackie Hunt? 33 - - - 1(1)
Chns Muntwyler 8 3 - - 3
Lee Sander 8 - - 3
Tim Score 8 3 - 3
Company Secretary” Michael Hampson also acts as Secretary 1o the Board Commiftees
' Resgned from the Board on 10 May 2012 Maximum possible meetings shown in brackets
2 Appomnted to the Board on 13 September 2012 Maximum possible meetings shown in brackets.
3 Resigned from the Board on 31 January 2013
* Joaquin Ayuso was unable to attend the Board meeting held on 24 January 2012 due to a pror engagement scheduled before tus appontment to the Board
5 Sr Andraw Foster was unable to attend the unscheduled Board meeting held on 13 September 2012 due to a prior engagement
Board activity throughout the year (excluding standing items)
January 2012 Group Strategic Review 2012-2015 Strategy
February 2012 Consderaton of Board Extemal Evaluation results and recommendations Govemance
Review of Market perceptions of share pace performance
Rewiew of Pre-Qualification Questionnara for Ral bd Investor Relations
Review of Stakeholder sirategy/fral tydding Financial and Risk
Capital investment Management
f nttal addional -bank ful
Approval of potential a nor nding Group Poiicy
Approval of Prafirminary Announcement and Annual Report and Acceunts for vear to 31 December 2011
Recommendation of final divdend for financial year 2031 Commercial and
May 2012 Update report on UK Coach busness Business
Rewvew of progress on Ral bids
Drscusslon of key informaton and finanaal risks re German rad tender
Approval of Communicatons and investor Relabions Strategy
Approval of nduction programme for new Non-Exacutve Directors
June 2012 Discussion of Board succession and potantial candidates to fulf rola of Non-Executrve Director
Rail bxds update approval of German Rai bad
Update on North Amencan School Bus and Transit businesses
July 2012 Rall bids update
Revew of due diigence and nsks and approval of contract for acquestbon of two transit busnesses in the US
Approval of half year results and mtenm dmdend
Rewew of BIS proposals on UK Directors’ remuneration
September 2012 Appontment of Jacke Hunt as a8 Non-Exacutive Dwector
October 2012 Sparxsh Drvision Review
Approval of HA Strategy proposals for Novth Amenca
Consideration of appontrent of new Chamman
November 2012 Approval of purchaswy strategy for replacement coaches for Sparesh fieet in 2013
Approval of 2013 budget
Presentaton on UK coach business
Approval of apportment of new Charman
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Board oversight and benchmarking

* The Board regularly and ngorously reviews and
benchmarks operational and functonal performance

* At each Board meeting the Board receives a report
frorn the Group Chief Executive on operational
performance, and from the Group Finance Director
on the financial performance of the Group as a whole
and each of the Group’s businesses indmdually

* The Board receves a presemation at each of s
meetings from either a business Managing Director
or a functional head

Information and support

Reports from the Executive Directors, which include
In-depth financial information, are circulated to Board
members pror 1o every Board meeting Senior management
and advisers maka prasentations to the Board on significant
matters dunng the year Every effort is made to ensure

that information reported to the Group Board is of high
aqualty in terms of accuracy, quality, appropnateness,
comprehensiveness and currency Direciors are able

1o seek clanfication or amplfication from management
where necessary

Under the direction of the Chairman, the Company Secretary
1s responsible for ensunng Board procedures are followed
and applicable nules and regulations are comphed with

and adwises the Board on govermnance matters All Directors
have access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary and the appointrnent or removal of the Company
Secretary 1s a matter for the Board as a whole As well as
the support of the Compary Secretary, there 1s a procedure
In place for any Director to take Independent professional
adwvice where considered necessary

Induction of new Directors

On appointment, Directors are offerad traning as
appropnate and are thereafter encouraged to keep abreast
of matters affecting thexr duties as a Director and to attend
training courses relevant to their role

An inducton process 1s in place for new Directors, the am
of which s to

* build an understanding of the nature of the Company,
its business and the markets in which it operates

» establish a Ink with the Group’s employees

+ buid an understanding of the Group's main relatonships
ncluding stakeholders and customers

The following mformation 1s prowded as part of the Induction
and ongoing training and development of Board Directors

On appointment
* Governance information in relation to the Group, including
the terms of reference of the Board and its Commuttees

* Guidance for Directors of Batish public companies
generally including under the law, the UK Corporate
Governance Code and the rules of the UK Listing authomnty

* Board munutes coverng the previous year
* |nformation on key Group policies

ollowing appomntment
» Business bnefing meetings with the Chaiman, the Group
Chief Executrve, and the Group Finance Director

* Meastings with the Company Secretary to discuss the
Group structure, the Company's constitution and Board
procedures and terms of reference of the Board and
its Committess

* Meetings with the Group's main stakeholders including
major shareholders and fund managers

» Meetings with serwor management in the five divisions

* Mesting with the Director of Safety for an overview
of the Group's health and safety policy and safety record

¢ Meetings with the Group's audrors

Performance evaluation

An gvaluation of the effectveness of the Board and its
Committees 1s conducted annually In late 2011 an external
evaluahion of Board performance was led by Geofirey
Shepheard of ICSA Board Evaluation The full results of
the Board evaluation wera discussed at the Board meeting
in February 2012 The Board concluded that, following

thus cormnprehensve review, the Board and its Committees
contnue to operate effectively Achons implemented from
the 2011 performance review includs

Actions

* Remove pressure from the Non-Executive Direclors are
Board schedule and allow  scheduling thewr personal
time for Non-Executves  commutments to allow time

2011 Recommendations

to mest on thair own to meet on ther own
in acdvance of Board
meetings
* Ensure a more regular Following a review the
pattem of mestings meetings schedule was
with a closer Iink to the adusted
Company's reporting and
events calendar
» Circulate Board papers at - There has been a clear
least four days (including  Improvement in the despatch
two working days) before  of Board papers and the
the Board meseting use of IPads and electronic
disssminatron of Board
papers via a secure Board
portal 1s considered a real
advantage
s Strengthen thebreadth  The composiion of the
of skills and expenence Beard has been significantly
around the Board table strengthened and contains
a balance of four UK and four

nternational Non-Executives
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Govemance
Corporate govermance continued

In September 2012 an ntemnal evaluation of Board
effectveness was conducted by Stephen Connock,

Group HR Drrector, va a questonnare circulated to all the
Directors The resufts of the internal review were discussed
at the Novermnber Board meeting The Board's discussions
highlighted a number of areas of strength and it was felt that
the Board continued to work well Areas identified for action
from the 2012 evaluation Include the following

2012 performance review - areas for action

* Post implementaton Increase focus on action
audis plans ansing from Board
decisions with clear
responsibiites and
timescales for
resutting actons

Further development of
Board succession planning
including an analysis of

the future composition

of the Board

* Succession planning

Outcomes ansing from this evaluation process will be further
reported on in next year's Annual Report

Relations with shareholders

The Board recognises the importance of mantanng good
communications with the Company's shareholders to ensure
mutual understanding of the Group's strategy, abjectves,
governance and performance

Dunng the year shareholders are kept informed of

the progress of the Group through regular corporate
communicatons the Prelminary Announcement,

the Notica of Annual General Meeting, Intenm Management
Statements and press releases regarding any cther
significant developments, as well as the disseminaton

of regulated nformation Such cormmunications are

rmade avalable to the London Stock Exchange and are
simuttansously avaiable on the Company’s website
natipnalexpressgroup com

The Company’s wabsite houses wide-ranging informaton
about the Group, Including the Annual Report and Accourtis,
press releases, share pnee data and Inks to subsidiary
company websites

From time to time the Company invites esearch analysts
and mstitutional Investors to presentations and site visits
that are designed to provide more understanding of the
strengths and capabiities of s business operations and
strategy In 2012 the Company hosted a wsit to meet the
local management team and tour the Spanish operations
in Madnd

Shareholdars receve documentation such as the Annual
Report and Acoounts electronically and also are able to cast
thexr votes by proxy electronically The Company also has an
electronic proxy appointment service for CREST members

Institutional shareholders

The Chairman, Group Chief Executve and Group Finance
Owrector have held a number of mestings with exsting and
prospective nstitutional shareholders during the year as
well as given presantations following the full-year and half-
year resuits They have alsc met and given presentations
o research analysts and stockbrokers’ sales teams The
Company's appantad brokers and investor relatons
advisors In tum have provided regular confidantial feedback
to the Company on the views of the major instriutions

The Chaiman, Senior Independent Direclor and other
Non-Executive Directors are also given the opportunity 1o
meet institutonal sharsholders and are avatable by comact
through the normal channels During 2012 the Charman
and Senior Independent Director have both met with major
shareholders to discuss the governance and direction

of the Company

The Board s provded with regular updates on the views
and issues raised by the Company's mvestors Bunng the
year the Board received external presentations from adwisors
on shareholder and market perception of the Group's
performance and strategy Formal wnitten responses are
gven fo comespendence received from shareholders,

as well as biateral engagement through the Group Chief
Executive, Group Finance Director and the Company's
investor relations function

Analyst coverage

The Company 1s aware of 19 analysts who have published
equity research notas covering National Express Group PLC
during 2012 and we provide names and contact numbers
of therr firms on cur website

Prnivate shareholders

We welcome contact from our private shareholders

and are pleassd to answer ther quenes We encourage

our shareholders to make use of our websie to access
Company reports, Nobces of meeting and general
shareholder and dwvidend infermation The website also
provides a direct nk to Shareview (shareview co uk) which
enables shareholders to view and manage therr shareholder
account online

Annual General Meeting

Notice of the Anrual General Meeting and related papers
are sent to shareholders at least 20 working days belore

the meeting Last year's Annual General Meeting included

a prasentabon by the Group Chief Executive on the progress
of the business and an opportunity for shareholders to ask
questtons Al our Directors were avalable formally to answer
questions dunng the meeting and many creulated and
talked to shareholders informatly afterwards Voting on the
resolutions was conducted by poll Some 86% of the shares
In issue were voted and the resolutons were passed

The results were published on the Group's website shortly
after the meeting

We look forward to welcoming shareholders to our 2013
Annual General Mesting and updating therm on the progress
of the business this year
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Major shareholdings
As at 25 February 2013, the Company had been notified of the followang Interests in its shares which represent 3% or more of the voting nghts
in the Company
Ordinary Percentage of Nature
shares share caprtal* of holding
Eliott intermational L B/ The Lverpoo! Lmited Fartnership 12,741,459 22 03% Direct
European Express Enterpnses Ltd 87,095,062 1702% Direct
Prudental plc 66,764,762 13 04% Direct
The holdings for European Express Enterpnses Ltd are included in Jorge Cosmen's holdings which are shown in the Directors’ Remuneration Report
on page 74
Percentage of
Number of total number Number of Percentage of
Analysis of ordinary shareholdings at 25 February 2013 accounts of accounts shares ordinary capital
By size of holding
1-500 6,491 4808 925,943 018
501-1,000 1,698 1257 1,333,721 026
1,001-5,000 3,637 2694 8,471,914 166
5,001-50,000 1,459 1081 17,475,833 341
50,001-1,000,000 163 121 40,233,243 786
Over 1,000,000 53 038 443,291,949 8663
13,501 100 00 511,732,603 100.00
By investor type
indniduals 12,697 9404 25,408,067 492
Institutional rwestors 699 518 481,699,629 9168
Other corporate investors 105 o0ry: 4,624 907 340
13,501 100.00 511,732,603 100.00
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Governance
Corporate govermance continued

Audit Commuittee overview

Dear shareholder

The Audrt Committee plays an important role in the govemnance of the
Company and | am pleased to report 10 you on the work undertaken
by the Committee dunng 2012

As usual, we have reviewed the integnty of the financial statements
prepared for shareholders by management and the pnncipal accourting
matters and financial reparting judgements contained in them Examples
include revmewing the accounting Implications of the North Amencan
acquistions made in 2012 and considenng the Group's annual goodwill
and intangible asset impaiment review Deloitte LLP, cur external aucidor,
confirmed they are satisfied with the treatment in the accounts of the
significant areas of judgerment.

Delortte LLLP were appointed as the Company’s auditor on 14 June
2011 following a tender process and we took the opportunity 1o review
therr performance in 2012 Wa believe the auditors have performed
satistactonly since taking on the rofe and that the audnt process they
implemented was effective We continue to consider Delortte LLP

to be iIndependent and we were happy to recommend to the Board
that they be put forward to be reappointed at the forthcoming

Annual General Mesting
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The Committee continued to monitor the Group's internal financial
controls and nsk management systems Business contnuty planning,
IT systems and Treasury policies were al specific topics which we
considered in 2012

The performance of the internal audit function iself continues to be
assessed on an ongoing basis and we believe it 15 effective in the role
it carnes out

Towards the end of 2012 the UK Corporate Governance Code was
updated and we will be ensunng that we take account of the new
requirements in 2013

Finatty Jackie Hunt joned our Board n September 2012 and ts now
amember of the Committes, | believe her significant financial and

UK public company expenence will be of great value to the Committee
In the coming years

1 Foe

Tim Score
Audit Committee Chairman
28 February 2013




The role of the Audit Committee

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee
compnse the duties and tasks delegated to

1t by the Board and include the following

= pverseaing the process for selecting the
external audrtor, assessing the continuing
independence of the external audior and
recommending approval of the audit fee
to the Board,

responsibiity for ensunng that provision
of non-audit senices does not Impair
the extemnal auditor's ndependence or
objectmty,

llaising with the external auditor on matters
relating to the nature and scope of the audit
and arny 1ssues or concerns ansing from
the audt process,

reviewing effectiveness of the Company’s
internal control and nsk management
systems, including the internal audit
programme and major findings identified from
internal audrt investigatons and reviews, and

* reviewng the half-year and annual inancial
staterments including accounting Judgements
and policies

The Audt Cormmittes routinely considers a
number of standing tems dunng the year such
as consideration of the ntemal and extemal
audrt reports, review of the Annual Report

and Accounts, review of the pretrminary and
halt-year announcements, and review of the
Corporate Governance Report

The Committee met three times N 2012 Detads
of attendance at these meetings can be found
on page 56 Outside of the meeting process
the Committee Chamrman has regular contact
wath the Executve Directors, other Committee
members and the audrtors on a vanety of
topics The Committes tself meets with the
external audrtor at least once a year without
Executve Directors being present

At the mtation of the Cornrmittee, and as
appropnate to the matters under discussion,
meetings may be attended by the Exacutve
Directors and intermal and external audtors
Full minutes are kept by the Secretary of the
matters considered and decisions taken

by the Commuttee

Tendenng frequency

of extemal auditor

The Committee currently has no set policy

on the tendenng frequency of their extemnal
audtor or of the tenure of therr external auditor
The Committee will monrtor developments

in UK and European Union best practice

regarding audit tenidenng with a view to
ensunng comphance with any requrements
going forward Notwithstanding the above, the
Commuttee regularly considers the marketplace,
benchmarking the current level of audt services
the Company receves along with the feas

it pays and the value being delivered The
Compary last put its external audit contract out
to tender in 2011, following which Delostte LLP
were appointed as the Company's audrtor

Re-appointment of auditor

As a result of its work with Delortte LLP dunng
the year, the Committee has concluded that

it 15 satsfied wath ther perfomance and has
recommended to the Board that Delotte LLP
be re-apponted

Review of independence

of extemal audrtor

The Audit Committes assesses and reviews on
a regular basis the ndependence of the external
auditor As part of therr determination the Audt
Committee considers a report by the external
auditor on the firm's Independence which 1S
required In order to carry out ther professional
duties and responsibies as audrtor

Policy on auditor providing

non-audit work

The Commitiee has an approved policy on the
provision of non-audst senacas by its auditor for
the following types of serice

* senvices that are considered to have 'general
pre-approval’ by the Audit Committes, by
virtus of tha approval of the policy,

» services that require ‘specific pre-approval’,
on a case-by-case basis, before any work
can commence, and

« services that cannot be supplied by the
external auditor (prohibited services)

The services that have general pre-approval are
tax, transaction rvestigaton and advisory and
corporate finance services The fees for these
services are pra-approved up to £50,000 for
each non-audit assignment undertaken and
subyect to an overall mit of 75% of the total

feas paid to the external auditor For servces
exceeding this imit specific pre-approval

18 raguired

In decding whether ar not to grant approval for
the prowision of speciiic services by the external
auditor, the Audit Committee includes in its
consideration the following factors

() whether the external auditor 1s best placed
to provide an effective and efficient serace,
gven its familianty wath the Company’s
processes, systems and people, and

{ii) the level of non-audt fees pad to the
external audror in the year as a proporton
of the annual extenal audit fse

The maortty of non-audit work undertaken
by the external auditor dunng the year relates
to advice in respect of tax advisory and
other regulatory services These items the
Committee believes would be mpractical
and costly to provde through another party

The split between audit and non-audit fees
for the year ended 31 December 2012 appear
In note 6 to the Consolidated Accounts

Audit Committee members

Name of Director Position

Tim Score Charman Senior
Independent Diactor

Sir Andrew Foster Non-Executive Director

Jackie Hun Non-Executve Director
{apponted 13 Septernber
2012

Chns Muntwryler MNon-Executive Director

Main activities during the year

Dunng the year the Committee
considered the following

* Review of comphance with the UK
Corporate Governance Code

¢ Review and approval of ntemal audit
ptan for 2012

+ Review of the Group Risk Register

« Lipdate on business continuity planning
* Review of IT strategy

» Approval of updated Treasury Policy

* Review and update of Policy
on Prowvision of Audit and
Non-Audit Services

¢ Consderation of the resufts of intemal
audit compliance testing of financial
controls (Annual Fitness Checks)
within the subsidianes

* Rewview of the external auditor’s fees

* Review of financial statements and
accounting policies
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Govemance
Corporate govemance continued

Nomination Committee overview

Dear shareholder

I have been asked by Sr John Ammitt to address you on the work
undertaken in 2012 by the Nomination Comimittee, as he did not join
the Board untl 1 January 2013

Two significant areas of work undertaken dunng the year by the
Committee were in respect of the appontment of Jackie Hunt to

the Board as a Non-Executve Director and the appointment of Sir
John Armitt as our new Chairman The search process for our new
Chairman, was led by Tim Score, the Senior Independent Director
John Devaney did not char the Nomination Committee discussion

that recommended to the Board the appointment of Sir John Armitt
External search consuttants were retaned to help the Committee in the
saarch processes, Kom/Ferry Whitehead Mann were retained on the
Non-Executive Director search and Spencer Stuart were used for the
Chaimman search Nerther of these consuttants has any connection with
the Company As part of the process in both cases, draft specificatons
were drawn up for these roles and the memibvers of the Commitiee
interviewed the short-listed candidates for both appointments The
Committes was pleased with the qualty of candidates that emerged
through the setection procasses and from which Jackie Hunt and

Sir John Armitt stood out The Board subsequently accepted
recommendations by the Commities for the appontment of both
Jackie Hunt and Sir Johin Armmitt and | am pleased to welcome both
1o the Board of National Express Group PLC

{am also pleased to announce that Joaquin Ayuso joned the
Nominaton Commitiee on 26 February 2013 The Committea now
compnses a maomty of ndependent non-executive directors as
prescnbed by the UK Corporate Governance Code

In addtion, the Commuittee also revewed the succession plans for
the senior execuiive positions across the Group

Further details about the rale of the Committes, its actvibes and
membership are set out below

/
Sir Andrew Foster

Nomination Committee Member
28 February 2013

Nomination Committee members

Name of Director Posrtion

Sw John Asrrut Chairrnan [apponted 1
January 2013 and as Comparny
Chairman on 1 February 2013}

JOACUM AYuso Non-Exacutsve Director
{apponted 26 February 2013)

Jorge Cosmen Non-Executve Director

John Devaney Chasman {resigned 31 January
2013)

Sr Andrew Foster Non-Executrve Director

The role of the Nomination Committee
The key responsibilities of the Nomination
Comrnittes are summansed below

* responsibiity for identifying and nominating,
for the approval of the Board, candidates 1o
fil Board vacancies as and when they anse,

gmng full consideration to succession
planning, and kesping under review the
leadership needs of the crganisation, both
Executive and Non-Executve,

* rgviewing the time requrred from and spent
by a Non-Executve Director on fulfiling his or
her duties, and

leading the process for Board appointments
and making recommendations to the Board,
and prepanng a descnpbon of the rolke and
requirements for any particular appointment
based on its svaluation of the Board as

a whole

Succession planning

The Nomination Committee carned out a
detated remew of talent managemant and
succession planning across the Group,
facitated by the Group HR Director at a
meeting in November 2012

Diversity

Our goal at National Express 1s for our people
to reach therr full potential and to give of ther
best as ndmduals and in teams In this contexdt,
we are commtied to never discrminating on
the grounds of race, veteran status, colour,
creed, disability, religion, ethnic ongin, sex,
sexual onentation or age While mantaning

our existing policy of selectng the best avallable
candidate for any position, National Express

15 content to set the asprrational target that by
2015, 30% of the Board will be women, in ing
with the recommendations of the Davies Report
on Boardroom Diversity
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Main activities during the year

Duning the year the Commiitee

evaluated the balance of skalls,
expenence, ndependence, diversity
and knowledge on the Board and then
prepared a descnption of the role and
capabities required for the role of
Non-Executve Diractor

appointed search consuttants to
identity a shorthst of candidates for

the role of Non-Exacutive Director and
interviewed candidates following which
the appointment of Jackie Hunt was
recommended to the Board

evaluated the expenence and attnbutes
requred of a new Non-Executive
Chairman and then prepared a
descnpton of the role and capabilities
sought for the role specificaton of
Non-Executive Chawrman

appointed search consuftants o
dentdy a shortlist of candidates for the
role of Noni-Executive Charrman and
interviewed candidates following which
the appantment of Sir John Ammitt was
recormmended to the Board

reviewed Succession plans across
the Group



Safety & Environment Committee overview

Dear shareholder

I am pleased to report that n 2012 we continued to make good progress
in our satety performance and in the management of the Company's
ermvironmental respensibities

Dunng the year Miranda Curtis retired from the Board and | would like
fo thank her for the contnbution she mads to this Committee, especially
dunng her time as Chairman of the Committes Both Jackie Hunt and
Sir John Armitt have joined the Committee and | look forward to therr
ongoing involvernent

The Commitiee oversaw the roll out of the next stages of our ‘Drmving Out
Harny' safety programme  Twelve global safety standards have now been
adopted and we are seaing evidence of the beneficial impact these are
having across the Group in improving our safety performance

The 'Dmving Out Harm'® programme was externally audited by Arthur D
Litthe and they reported that significant improvements had been made
in safety leadership and systemns They also reported that effective
governance of salety was being provided

Safety & Environment Committee

The Role of the Safety & Environment

The key responsibiliies of the Committee are

A Group-wide review of the management of envronmental matters was
undertaken, which resuited in the adoption of a new strategic ptan and
new targets being set

l1s Ikety that it will be mandatory for UK public comparnies o report
on greenhouse gas emissions in all of their businesses from 2014 and
wa have therefore started work to put in place the processes to collect
the required data

The safety of our employees and customers is of critical importance
to the Board, as i1s the responsible management of our environmental
obligations | would like to thank Dean Finch and his team for the
leadership they show in these areas

L i

ns Muntwyler
Safety & Environment Committee Chairman
28 February 2013

Main activities dunng the year

Dunng the year the Committee
+ montored progress of mplementation

+ responsibility for reviewing and challenging
constructively the structure, content and
operation of the safaty management
arrangements put i place by members of
the executve management of the Group's

* reporting penodically to the Board on iis
cobservabons on the safety management
arrangements in place and reviewing and
making recommendations to the Board
on any specific safety management issues
relating to the Company or any subsidary

* reviewing and monttonng the Company's
emaronmental performance and targets

members Committee
Name of Director Position
as below

S John Armitt Company Charrman (apponited

to the Board and Commetiee

on 1.January 2013 and as

Charman on 1 February 2013)
Joagquin Ayusc Non-Exacutive Director
Jorge Cosmen Non-Executive Director

operating companies,

Miranda Curtis Non-Exacutve Director

(resigned 0 May 2012
John Devaney Company Chaiman

(restgned 31 January 2013)
Sx Andrew Foster Non-Executive Director
Jackie Hunt Non-Executave Director

{apponted 13 September 2012} company, and
Chris Muntwyler Charman
Lee Sander Non Executve Director
Tim Scora Independent Director

of the Group's Global Safety Standards

* assessed progress of the Group's
‘Drving Cut Harm' safety programmes

+ reviewed the findings of the extemmal
audtt of corporate govemnance of safety

« wisited Group locations to revien safety
pracices and proceduras

= reviewed ervironrmental management
across the Group

+ approved safety and ermaronmental
targets for the Group
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Govemance
Directors’ remuneration report

Remuneration Commuttee overview

Dear shareholder

This is my first letter to you as Charman of the Remunerabon Committee,
arole | took over whan Miranda Curtis left the Board dunng 2012 1 would
lke to thank Miranda for her contnbution dunng her trne as Char of

the Committee

2012 has been another year of prograss N many areas at National
Express desprte the continuing chalenging economic conditions The
successiul integration of the Petermann and Transit businesses in North
Amenca, alled to a contnuation of our drive to reduce costs and make
mprovements to our operational efficency, leave the Group well placed
to generate future value for shareholders

| believe that it 1s the key responsibility of the Remuneration Commitiee

o create remuneration policres and practices that achieve the best value
for shareholders Pay and incentives have to be set at a level that wall
attract and retain quality management and fully ncentvise them to deliver
outstanding performance

The Board and Remuneration Committee are aware that there has
always been a strong and competitive market for successful senior
executives Agamst this backdrop, concemns relating to the retention

of the Company's Exacutive Directors emarged dunng 2012, more
specifically n regard 1o the Chief Executve The Board firmly believes
that the strong and effectve leadership provided by the Chief Executive
and his team has provided the Group with a clear and robust platform for
the delivery of future growth With this n mind and following consultation
with the Company's major shareholders, the Remuneration Commities
and Board deemed it necessary to develop its previously stated
Remunsration Policy for 2012 Kay changes to the 2012 Remuneration
Policy for the Chief Executive included

* an increase in annual bonus opportunity from 125% of salary to 150%
of salary with 50% of the additional bonus being compuisonty deferred,

* infroduction of supplementary five year long term incentive awards of
100% of salary pa, grarted subject to targets linked to the Company's
fiva year plan, and

* ntroduction of an additional pension promise that 1s focusad on the
retention of the Chief Executive for the next ten year perod

In Iine with the above changes, the Board considered it appropnate to
amend the Finance Director's remuneration policy with effect from 2012
Accordingly, the Finance Director's bonus opportunity was increased
from 112 5% to 1509, with 50% of the additional bonus beng subject
1o deferral

84 Natonal Exprass Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2012

Following the above changes to the 2012 remuneration policy, bonuses
were earned at 117 15% and 117% of base salary respectively for the
Chief Executive and Finance Director The Remuneration Committee
was comiortable with the leve! of bonus earmed based on the
performance agamnst financiat targets and the achievement of specific
personal objectives set at the start of the year

Whilst full details of the revised Remuneration Policy are provided

in the Remuneration Report, | take this opportunity to highlight the
Remuneration Committeg’s contnued aim to incentmvse and reward
performance over the long term Accordingly, the Remuneration
Committee resolved not to Increase the base salanes of Executve
Directors this year and to make greater use of the Company’s Long
Term Incentive Plan n determining the remuneration of Executive
Dwrectors going forward

With regard to future remuneration policy, the Committee believes that
the amended remuneraton pokcy operated in 2012 1s appropnate for
future years and looks to our shareholders to approve both thig year's
Rermnuneration Report and the amendment to the current Long Term
Incentive Plan descnbed in the Notice of AGM

\ se Wﬁ

Sir Andrew Foster
Remuneration Committee Chairman
28 February 2013



Remuneration Committee

Name of Director  Position
Sr Andrew Foster Chairmnan (appointed
10 May 2012)
Miranda Curtis Charman fresigned
10 May 2012)
Lee Sander Non-Executive Dyector
Tim Score Seruex Independent Director
Management attendees
Dean Finch Group Chief Executve

Staphen Connock MBE  Group HR Director

Michae! Hampson General Counsal and
Company Secretary

Role of the Remuneration Commitiee
The key responsibities of the Commidtee are to

* determine the fees of the Charman,

* dstermine the remuneration and condtions
of employment (including any termmination
arrangements) of the Executive Directors,

+ approve the remuneration and condtions
of employment of the Dnasional Heads and
Company Secretary,

+ review the remuneration and conditions
of employment of the senior management
team, and

* select and appomnt any remunerabon
consultants who acvse the Committee

The full terms of reference of the Committee
are avallable on the Company’s webstte at
naticnalexprassgroup com

The mermbers of the Committee who served
dunng the year were all independent Drectors
The Committee met four times in 2012 Details
of attendance at these meetings can be found
on page 56

The Committee mermbers and management
attendees did not participate in any discussions
directly relabng to ther own remuneration or
performance durng the ysar

Advisors to the Committee

The Committes has appointed independent
remuneration consultants, New Bndge Street
{NBS) to adwvise on all aspects of senior
exacutive remuneration NBS has no other
connection with the Group cther than in the
prowsion of advice on executive and employes
remuneration and nor does ts utbmate parent,

Aonple NBS s a signatory of the Rermuneration

Consultants’ Code of Conduct, which specifies
the professional standards of conduct for
consultants to Remuneration Committees of
UK Listed Compantes From time to tme, the
Compary submits the remuneration consultant
function to tender

Main activities dunng the year

Dunng the year the Committes
considered the following tems
of busness

-

Rewview of Executive Directors’ and
SenIor executrves’ salary levels

Annual bonus scharne terms for 2012
Rewview of the Charman's fee

Performance targets 1o apply to the
2012 Long Term Incentve Plan awards
(inclhuding the total shareholder return
comparator group used and the rangs
of eamungs per share targets set)

2012 award levels under the
Company’s share plans

Approval of a new remuneration
arrangaemant for the Chief Executive
and Finance Dwector

Recrutment packages for new senior
executives

Testing of performance conditons and
vesting of Long Term Incentive Plan
awards granted in 2009

Qutine of the Group's 2012 bonus
scheme

Leng Term Incentive Plan entitlements
upon redundancy

www nationalexpressgroup com
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Govermnance
Directors’ remuneration report continued

Information not subject to audit
Remuneration policy for Executive Directors
Remuneration policy 1s based on the following broad
prnciples set by the Committee

+ to prowvide a competitve remuneration package
to attract and retain quality ndmwduals,

* 1o align remuneration to dnve the overall objectives
of the business,

« to align the interests of management with the interests
of shareholders, and

to prowvide the foundation for overall reward and
remuneration beyond the specific roles falling within
the direct remit of the Remuneration Cornmittee

Inimptementing s polcy, the Commities gves full
consideration to the principles set out In the UK Corporate
Govemance Code with regard to Directors’ remuneratron
and due regard I1s grven to the guidance issued by nvestor
protection bodies and nstitutional nvestors more generally

Rermuneration policy 1s reviewesd on an ongoing basis
against the Committee’s broad pnnciples and in kght of
emerging best practice in corporate governance

Dunng the year, as a resuft of the continuing strong
performance of the Executve Directors and in response to
spectiic retention concems N respect of the Chief Executive
that were brought to the attention of the Remuneration
Committee, a number of changes wers made to the
remuneration policy to apply for 2012 This surte of changes
was considered appropnate to retan and motvate the
Executve Directors with the Remuneration Committee
introducing the changes after appropnate consulaton

with the Company's major shareholders The changes
were considered to finely balance performance and non-
performance related elements of, n particular, the Chief
Exacutive’s package with a view to ensunng his retention
over the long term but Inking a substantal proportion of

his remuneration to a successful implementation of the
Comparny's growth strategy They included

* anincrease in the annual bonus opportunity for both
Exacutve Directors to 150% of salary but with 50% of the
additonal bonus being compulsonly deferred, in addition
to 25% defarral of the previous bonus potential,

+ asupplementary five year long term incentive award was
granted to the Chief Execttive subject to targets linked to
the Company's five year plan (the pnncipal terms of which
are set out on pages 69 and 70), and

* the introduction of an additional pension promiss for the
Chief Executive that will accrue over the next ten years

The higher annual bonus oppertunity coupled with greater
deferral for both Executive Directors 1s considered to provide
a mora market consistent annual bonus opportunity and
structure taking into account the sze and complexity of

the Company

The Remuneration Committee recogrises that the changes
made dunng the year devsloped the policy disclosed in
respect of 2012 n last year's Directors’ remuneration report,
however, it considered it necessary to take this achon given
the retention issues noted earlier

The Company 1s seeking shareholder approval to amend
its existing LTIP to enable supplementary five year long
term incentive awards to be granted on an annual basis

to the Chief Executive from 2013 This approach is being
taken as a result of the Remuneration Committee wishing
to provide a clear aignment with both our mexiium three
year) and long term (five year) objectves n future years
Further details in respect of the five year long term incentive
awards to be granted on an ongoing basis are set out In the
accompanying Notice of AGM

The Committes believes that it cortinues to take nto
account the principles of sound nsk management when
settng pay The above changes are considared to have
mibgated the retention 1ssues percenved at the start of 2012
The revised remuneration policy provides for a substartial
proportion of the current remuneration packages of the
executve directors to be weighted towards long term
performance with the annual bonus also the subject

of part deferral into the Company's shares Clawback
provisions also apply m the event of a mis-statement of the
Company's resutts and a broad range of financial and non-
financial targets are included n our Incentve programmes
Appropnats laison takes place between the Remuneration
and Audit Commuttees as part of an effective remuneration
nsk assessment process In ine with the Association of
Brmish Insurers’ (ABl's) Guidskines on Responsible Investment
Disclesure, the Committee ensures that the incentive
structure for Executive Directors and senior managemernt
will not raise environmental, social or governance [ESG) nsks
by inadvertently motivating imesponsibie behaviour More
generally, with regard to the overall emuneration structure,
there Is no restnction on the Commuttee which prevents it
trom taking into account corporate governance on ESG
matters and it takes due account of 1ssues of general
operational nsk when structunng incentves  The Committee
takes due account of remuneration siructures elsewhere I
the Group when satiing pay for the Executve Directors (for
example, considaration is given to the overall salary increase
budgst and the incentive structures that operate across

the Group}

The Group operates a leadership and davelopment
programme which includes an appraisal systern for Directors
and senior management In 2012 the appraisal systern used
batanced scorecards t0 assess performance against safety,
customer, people and community objectves The results

of the annual apprasal systern are taken into consideration
when setting remuneration levels
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Summary of Executive Directors’ remuneration

Element Objective Performance penod Policy
Basic salary To postion at a competitve Annualty Indnadual pay levels (using comparable mid-market
level for similar roles within data for gudance) as appropnate are determined by
comparable markets reference o the Indnadual's performance, expenence
n post and potential
Performance To incentwvise delivery 1 year Bonus payments are based on the achisvemant
related bonus of performance cbyectives of specified corporate {inancial and non-financial) objectves
A proportion of the bonus 1s subyect to mandatory deferral
into shares for one year from award
Pension To provide competitive benefits Ongoing Executve Directors do not participate in the pension scheme
N ine with market practice and The Chief Executive receves a cash supplement In lleu of
to act as a retention mecharysm pension at 35% of salary plus an addional 25% of salary
and reward long service noticnal pension contnbution as part of an unfunded
pension promise that s revalued each yearat 5% p a
from 1 Apnl 2013
The Finance Director receves a cash supplement in liew of
pensicn at 25% of salary Only basic salary 1s pensionable
Long Term Incentve  To dnve performance, ad 3and 5 years Half of any award 1s subject to EPS growth The remaining
Plan retention and align the interests (if applicable) half1s subject o the relative total shareholder retum (TSR)
of Executive Directors with of the Cormpany compared aganst a bespoke peer group
shareholders
Other benefits To provide competitive benefits in -~ Ongong Executive Directors receive private health and long temm
Ine with market practice sickness insurance and a cash alternative to a fully
expensed car
Share ownership To align Executive Directors N/A A shareholding of 100% of current salary should be achieved
gudelnes with shareholders within five years
Elements of remuneration (i) Basic salary

(i) Fixed versus vanable remuneration

A substantial proportion of the Executive Directors’ pay 15
performance related The charts below show the balance
between fixed and performance related pay at target and
maximum performance levels based on the elerments of
National Express's remuneration package set out above

Maximum performance assumes achievement of maxmum

bonus and full vesting of shares under the LTIP

2013: Fixed and vanable pay:
Group Chief Executive at target
and maximum performance levels

2013. Fixed and vanable pay:
Group Finance Director at target
and maximum performance levels

The salary of ndnidual Executive Directors 1S reviewsd at

1 January each year Account is taken of tha performance
of the Indmdual concemed, together with any change In
responsibiites that may have occurred and the rates for
similar roles in two comparator groups of companies The
comparator groups for the 2012 financial year were () a
group of transportAeisure sector companies and (i) a group
of companies from the FTSE Mid 250 drawn from across
all sectors The constituenits of aach group were selected
to ba broadly reflective of the size (market capitalisation and
tumover) and complexity of National Express at the time

of completing the review For 2013 the comparator groups
will be based on similar groups of transport/letsure and
general sector comparues drawn from the FTSE 250 when
considenng pay ncreases for 2014

MNo Increases were awarded 10 base salary for the Executive
Dxrectors for 2012 or for 2013

(i) Performance related bonus

The maxamum potential bonus payable to Executve
Dwrectors in 2012 was 150% of salary for both Executive
Dwrectors Thus reflected a change of policy that was
discussed with the Company’s largest shareholders

following the publication of the 2011 Directors’ Remuneration
Report In fight of this change of policy, the Company's
policy on deferral was also revised In additon to the existing
requirement for 25% of the bonus to be deferred, following
the deaision 10 INcrease the maximum bonus enttiemnent

o 150%, the Executive Direclors are required 1o defer 50%
of the additonal bonus

www Nationalexpressgroupn com

g7

ABatens o uo Buuenieg

MBIABI SSBUIISNY

SILAULIRIR]S LR




Govermance
Directors’ remuneration report continued

In respect of the targets appiying to the annual bonus

for 2012 for the Chief Executive and Finance Director, a
rmaximum of 105% of salary and S0% of salary respectvely
was payable based on achievemnent aganst a shding scale
of challenging normalised profit targets {the definion of
normalksed profit 1s set out n the Glossary on page 162}

A maxamum of 45% and 60% of salary respectively was
payable based on non-financial targets that encompassed
custormner, cperational excelience and peopie objactives

In refation to the proportion of the bonus determined by
performance aganst normahsed profit targets no bonus
15 payable unless the Company achieves at least 95% of
budgst and the maximum amount 1s only payable on the
achievement of a siretch target of 110% of budget

The targets set in relation to non-financial performance

are kay strategic Group objectives that are talored to the
responsibiites of each indwvidual Executive Director and, in
aggregate, are considered to be similarty challenging to the
range of financial targets set. In addion, no bonus in respect
of non-financial performance 1 payable unless 95% of the
Group's normalised profit budget s achieved

The Committee has full discretion in the payment of bornuses
and, n particular, it 1s a pre-condition to the award of any
bonus that the Commitiee has detarmined that there

has been a matenal improvement in safety processes,
procedures and outcomes during the year in the relevarit
business unt before any bonus 1s paid

The amounts deferred under the bonus plan are deferred
nto shares awarded under the Executive Defermed Bonus
Ptan (EDBP) Receipt of the defenred shares 15 subject to
continued service and the same ‘good leaver’ prowisions and
other terms as noted for the Long Term Incentve Plan below
The 2012 bonus also includes clawback provsions that
require the deferred shares to be forferted or repaid should nt
be necessary for the Compary to restate matenally its 2012
results withun a two year penod following the deferred bonus
being awarded The proportion of the bonus that would

be the subject to a clawback would depend on the extent

to which the onginal bonus payment tumed out to be false
followng the publication of corrected resutts

In terms of an overview of the 2012 bonus plan and the
extent to which targets were met, this 1s set out in the table
betow Bonuses ware payable at 117 15% of salary for the
Group Chief Exscutive and 117% of satary for the Finance
Director In calculating these bonuses, the Committes
censidered the safety perfornance of the Company

and concluded that a continued iImprovemant in safety
processes, procedures and outcomes dunng the year had
been achieved

The deferred bonuses awarded to both Executive Direciors
in 2012 (based on performarnce 1o 31 December 2011) are
due to vest on 2 March 2013

Bonus Scheme 2012
% of salary Details Achievement
Maximum bonus potential 150% Proportion of bonus sutxect to Group Chief Executrve' 11715% and
mandatory deferral into Company ~ Group Finance Director® 117%
sharas for one year from award
Bonus potential at 95% of 26 25% for Group Chief Executve
budgeted normabksed profit
before tax {PBT) 22 5% for Group Finance Director
On target bonus potential 52 5% for Group Chigf Executve  Awarded on achieving budget
gBEF of budgeted normalised 45% tor Group Finance Director
Stretch bonus for 110% of 105% for Group Chief Executive Awarded on achievng a stretch
budgeted nomalised PBT Y% for Group R o Diracior target of 110% of normalised PBT
Non-financial targets (underpinned  45% for Group Chief Executive Awarded on meeting kay strategic
by achievement of 95% of 60% for G = Direct Group objectives talored 1o each
budgeted normalised PBT) Or Group Fnance DIECION - py o iive Director's responsibiities
Notes.

v The Group Chesf Executive achueved 72 15% of salary in respect of tha financial performance conditen and 45% in respect of hes achievernent of his non-financtal targets.
2 The Group Anance Dwector achieved 62 62% of salary m raspect of tha fmanaat performance condiion and 54 38% 1n respect of the non-financial targets.

It 15 a pre-condibon to the award of any bonus that the Remuneration Committee has determmed that there has been a matenal smprovement n safety processes, procedures and
outcomes dunng the year n the relevart business uni before arry bonus is pad

in additon to the bonus payments described above the Finance Director recenved a cash payment of £255,673 01 to compensate him for a shortfallin the amount of 2009 LTIP
vesting The shortfall was as a result of a delay in the grant of awards due 1o the Company bemng n a dose penod at the trne the 2009 awards would normally have been granted
After hawving reflected on the exceptional drcumstancas, the Committes deaded that whilst they could not amend the tenms of the Plan they felt it unfar for the Finance Drector to
ba ponafised as a rosut of the late granting of the award  The cash payment was thus calcldated as the difference between the value of the LTIP vesting on 30 Jumne 2012 and the
value had 1t vested on 31 March 2012 (ie the vesting date had there been no detay m the 2009 grant)
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The National Express Group Executive Deferred

Deterred bonuses awarded in 2012 (based on performance to 31 December 2011} will vest, on 1 March 2013 as sat out in the table below

Bonus Plan (Executive Deferred Bonus Plan)

At31  Market price
Asat1 Dunng year December at date of Date of Date of
January 2012 Granted Vested Lapsed 2012 vesting grant vesting
Dean Finch 2011 49,427 - 49,427 - - 221 0p 25021 250212
2012 - 75417 - - 75,417 020312 -
Jez Maiden 201 39,541 - 39,541 - - 2210p 250211 260212
2012 - 51,832 - - 51,832 020312 -

The markst price par share on the date of award was calculated on basis of the average market price share in the 5 days praceding the date of the grant.

Defarred shares would ba required to be forferted or repasd should it be necessary to restate materally the Company’s 2012 resuits withn a two year penod folowing the award of the
bonus. The proporon of the bonus subsact to dawback would depend on the extent 10 which the ongnal bonus tumed out 10 be false followang the publication of comected resuits

(iv) Pensions

Under the tanms of therr senace agreements, Exscutive
Direciors are not entitled to become members of one of the
Group pension schemes The Chief Executve receives a
35% of salary supplement in keu of pension cormnbutions

In addrhon, from 2012, as part of a revised remuneration
structure intended to faciitate his retention (descnbed above),
the Chief Executive will also accrue nghits under a pension
promise that will take place over ten years from 1 Apnl 2013
The prormuse provides that a pension benefit will be eligible to
be drawn based on a notional Company contabution of 256%
of salary over the ten year penod, revalued at a rate of 5%

pa whichiis broadly comparable to the assumed investment
retum used 10 valie pension liabimes across the Group

Jez Maiden receives a 25% salary supplement in lieu of
pension coninbutions

(v} Incentive scheme and share options

Long term incentive arrangements

The Natonal Express Group Long Term Incentve Plan
(LTIF) was approved by shareholders at the 2005 AGM and
operates as the Company's sole type of executive long term
incentive arangerment The LTIP consists of annual awards
of Performance and Matching shares A proportion of the
award 1s made as approved share options under a HMRC
approved option plan structure This does not Increase the
gross benefit to the participant or the costs to the Comparny
or shareholders

Performance shares

Executve Dirgctors are eligible to receve a condiional
award of shares up to an equvalent of 100% of basic salary
The vesting of the award 1s conditional on meeting the
performance condtions set out below

Matching shares

Executve Diractors are also efigible to recenve awards of
matching shares that are based on a personal investment
in National Express Group PLC shares funded erther
through using an annual bonus award to purchass shares
or through pledging of shares held no! already allocated to
the LTIP Matching awards are made on the basisof up 1o
two Matching shares beng awarded {basad on the gross
tax value of the invesiment) for each Nabonal Express share
pledged or purchased The maximum value of Invesiment
in any year I1s 30% of basic salary Matching share awards
are also conditional on the performance conditions set
out overleaf

if a participant ceases employment before vesting for a
‘compassionate’ reasoen (eg redundancy, retrement, death
In service, sale of business out of the Company’s group) his/
her awards will ordinanly vest The extert of vesting will be

determined by applyng the relevant performance conditions
1o the date of cessation and scaling back the number of
shares awarded on a pro rata basis (rounded up to the next
complete six month penod from the date of grant) unless
the Committee deterrnines that it would be inappropnate

to apply a prorata reduchon Awards lapse on cessation

of employment for ary other reason

LTIP performance condrtions

There are normally two distinet perforrnance condtions
applying to awards of both Performance Shares and
Matching Shares made

First, the performance condition attached to one-half

of an award (Part ‘A 1s based on the Group's normalised
eamings per share (EFPS) growth performance n excess
of inflabion over a fixed three-year penod (three financial
years commencing with the financial year 1n which the
award 1s made}

The performance condition attached 1o the other half

of an award (Part ‘B') 1s based on the Company's Total
Shareholder Return {TSR) performance over the same
fixed three-year penod relatve to the TSR performance of
a bespoke comparator group of transport cornparses taken
predominantly from the FTSE Inclustnal Transportation and
FTSE Travel & Letsure sectors The companies compnsing
the comparator group have been chosen on the basis of
their comparability to National Express Group PLC (based
on ther size and scope of business operations) The
Committee has retaned the power In respect of this
dglement of an award to apply an eamings underpin

There i1s no abilty to retest ether performance condibon
EPS and TSR have generally been chosen for the LTIP

as the most appropnate measures of the Group's iong
tenm perforrnance, since EPS 1s an important growth
measure considered within the Compary and a dnver of
shareholdar value and TSR improves shareholder algnment
and s consistent with the Company objective of prowiding
supenor long temn retums to shareholders The 2014 EPS
targets have been basad on non-ral 2011 earmings as
the Company's rail franchuse 15 subject to a government
tender process

For awards granted in 2012 the EPS performance conditons
apphng to Part A of the Awards and the TSR performance
conditions appiving to part B of the Awards are set out n the
table overleaf

To determine vesting of LTIP awards, the Commuittee retains
independeant consuttants to test the proportion of an award
vesting under the relative TSR test and then reviews the
conclusion of this analysis before shares formally vest
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Govemance
Directors’ remuneration report continued

With regard to the EPS targets, vesting 1s based on
the Company’s audited resutts with llaison, as required,
between the Audit and Remuneration Committees

Performance conditions for LTIP awards
granted in 2012

Part A of Award - EPS condrhons

EPS for the financial year Percentage of part A of
ending 31 December 2014 the Award that vests
Less than 23 7 pence 0%
237 pence 30%
26 4 pence 100%
Between 237 pence

and 26 4 pence 30%-100% pro rata

Part B of Award - TSR conditions

Rank of the Company’s Percentage of partB
TSR (as noted above) of the Award that vests
Below median 0%
Median 30%
20th percentile 100%
Between median

and 20th percentile 30%-100% pro rata

The table below sets out the percentage of each extant
award that would have vested If the perforrance conditions
had been tested at 31 December 2012 (without makang any
alowance for pro rata recucton for any penod of less than
thres years)

Indicative percentage of LTIP awards vesting
based on performance to 31 December 2012

Total

TSR EPS {max

Year of Award element element 100%)
2010 CY% 32 5% 325%
201 0% 0% 0%
2012 0% 42 22% 4222%

Chief Executive five year Award

As noted above, In response to specific retenton concems
n respect of the Chief Executive that were brought to the
attention of the Rermuneration Commdtee, and to aign hurm
with the Company’s five year business plan, on 3 August
2012 the Chief Executive was granted a Retention Award
compnsing a condional award over 261,407 crdinary shares
n the capital of the Company The Retenaon Award was
granted pursuant 1o Rule 9 4 2{2) of the UKILA Listing Rules

As with the 2012 LTIP awards detalled above, the EPS
targets have been based on non-ral eamings This 1S
becauss the Company’s rad franchise will soon be subject
to a govemment tender process

The performance cenditions applying to the Award are
sst out below and the pnncipal terms of the award are
summansed on page 69

Performance conditions for the Chief

Executive’s five year Award
Part A of Award - EPS conditions (relating to one halt
of the Award)

EPS for the financial year Percentage of part A of
ending 31 December 2016 the Award that vests
Less than 25 pence %
25 pance 30%
28 pence 100%
Between 25 pance

and 28 pence 30%-100% pro rata

Part B of Award - TSR conditiens {relating to one half

of the Award)

Rank of the Company's Percentage of partB
TSR {as noted above) of the Award that vests
Below median 0%
Median 30%
20th percentie 100%
Between median and 20th

percentile 30%-100% pro rata
Performance cntena

The Committee believes that budgeted profit and/or EPS
growth as performance measures tor the discretionary
bonus scheme and long term incentives, in most normal
creumstances, prowde a transparent and accessible
method of gauging the financial performance of the
Company The Company calculates performance aganst
these performance measures by reference to the profit

or earnings per share figures reported in the Company's
audited accounts, which the Cornpany believes to be the
most transparent and objective measure of the Company's
profit or EPS The Committee also monitors the Group's TSR
against the FTSE All-Share Travel & Lasure Index as a broad
measure of the Company's performance TSR measured
aganst a more talored group of comparators has been
used by the Company as a pnmary perfornance measure
for awards made to Executrve Directors under the LTIP as
outined in this report

ft 1s currently intended that the perforrmance tamgets that wall
apply to awards granted in 2013 will agan be an equal blend
of EPS and TSR If t were considered appropnate to make
any fundamental changes to the performance targets n
2013, it 15 anticipated that this would be accomparnied by

a consuttation with major shareholders

The graphs on page 72 show a companson of National
Express Group PLC total cumulative shareholder retum
aganst that achieved by the FTSE All-Share Travel & Leaisure
Index and the FTSE 250 Index These indices have been
selected because the Company 1s a constituent of each
index fwith the former including many members of the LTIP
TSR peer group) and the Commuttee, therefore, fegls that
these are the most appropnate Indices to reprasent the
Company’s relative performance
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Information subject to audit
Long Term incentive Plan {LTIP) awards
Detalls of the LTIP and the performance conditions that have applied to each award below are shown on page 68 and in the notes to the LTIP awards

table below

LTIP Awards to Executive Directors

Market Markat
At At pnce pnce Date from
LTIP Share January Dunng year December ondateof atdatect which Expry
Awards 2012 Granted  Exercised Expired 2012 award exercise  exercisable date
Performance
Dean Finch  shares 227272 - - - 221,272 2203p - 150313 150913
Matching
shares 227270 - - - 227,270 2203p - 150313 150913
Performance
shares 222672 - - - 222,672 2470p - 250214 250814
Matching
shares 267,204 - - - 267,204 2470p - 250214 250814
Performance
shares - 240,069 - - 240,069 2284p - 120415 121015
Matching
shares - 288,080 - - 288,080 2284p - 120415 121015
Performance
Jez Maden shares 176,342 - 1091913 67,151 - 2104p 2200p 010912 010313
Matching
shares 132,637 - 82129° 50,508 - 2104p 2200p 010912 010313
Performance
shares 174,672 - - - 174,672 2300p - 010413 011013
Matching
shares 174,670 - - - 174,670 2300p - 010413 011013
Periormance
shares 170,040 - - - 170,040 2470p - 250214 250814
Matching
shares 204,048 - - - 204,048 2470p - 250214 250814
Performance
shares - 183,326 - - 183,326 2284p - 120415 121015
Matching
shares - 219,988 - - 219,988 2284p - 120415 121015
Notes.
' Detalls of tha performance conditions apphicable to the 2012 awards are shown an page 70
*  The TSR periormance condibons apphcable to the 2010 and 2011 awards ara the sama as ior the 2012 awards and the relsvant maxmum and minmum EPS figures
are 28 pence and 23 pence and 28 3 pence and 26 1 pencea respectively
3 The aggregate gan on the shares which were exerased in 2012 was £420,000
Chief Executive's five year Award
Market Markst
At 1 At 31 pnce pnce Date from
LTPShare  January Duning year December ondatect aidateof which Expry
Awards 202 Granted  Exercised Expired 2012 award emrcise  exerasable date
Performance
shares - 261,407 - - 261,407 2104p - 030817 030818

Noter

' Detats of the performanca condiions applicable to the 2012 awants are shown on page 70
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Govemance
Directors’ remuneration report continued

Total shareholder return versus
FTSE All-Share Trave! & Leisure index %

Each point plotted on the above graph represents the total cumutative
shareholder return on an mvestrment made in National Express Group
on 31 December 2006 compared with an nvestment n the FTSE
All-Share Travel & Leisure Index with the carresponding annual returns

Total shareholder return versus
FTSE 250 Index %

Each point plotted on the above graph represents the total cumulative
shareholder return on an nvestment made N National Express Group
on 31 December 2006 compared with an mvestrment m the FTSE 250
Index with the comesponding annual returns

Directors’ service contracts, notce penods
and termination payments

Executive Directors

The contract dates and notice penods for the Executive
Directors are shown in the table on page 73

The service contracts of both the Executve Directors,
which are roling contracts, coman a provision, exsraisable
at the opton of the Company, to pay an amount on earty
termination of employment equal to one year's salary of, in

the case of Dean FAnch, one year’s salary, salary supplement

in iew of pension and car aflowance The Company will use
the payment in heu of notice provisions when the speed,
certanty and protection of restnctive covenants afforded by
such clauses are thought to be i the best interests of the

Comparty and the circumstances surrounding the departure

of the ralevant Director justify therr use

In any evenit the Committee's policy 1s that payments to
Directors on termination should reflect the circumstances
that prevail at the time, also takang account, f apphcable
and appropnate, the Direcior's duty to mitigate

The Committee continuously reviews its policies on
exacutive remuneration and severance in the best interests
of shareholders Guidance on best practice expectations 1s
taken nto account pnor 1o agreeng Directors' contractual
ProviSIons

Conditional award of shares

On appointment as Group Chief Executive in 2010, Dean
Finch was granted a one-oft forfartable share award as
compensation for forferled remuneration from his previous
emplayer The share award compnsed two parts an award
of 28,023 shares (the First Award) which vested on 1 Apnl
2011 and 18,281 shares (the Second Award) which vested
on 1 Apnl 2012 The Second Award vested dunng the
reporting penod at a market pnce per share of 230 pence,
at which pont the shares were no longer at nisk of forferture

Executive Directors’ external appotntments
Under the terms of their service agreements, Board approval
15 required before any externat appoinimernt may be
accepted by an Executive Director The Exacutve Director

1S pamnitted to retan ary fees paid for such services

Detalls of fees recaived by Executve Directors in 2012

are shown below

Director Fee External appointment
Synthomer plc
Jez Maiden

£50,000 {tormerly Yule Catio & Co plc}

Remuneration of Non-Executive Directors

The fees of the Non-Exacutive Directors are set by the
Board as a whole and those of the Charrman are set by the
Remuneration Committee in both cases following an annual
review The review takes account of fees pad for sirmilar
postions n the market, the time commitment reguired

from the Director {estmated to be 60 days per year for the
Chatrman and 20 days per year for the other Non-Executive
Directors) and any addtional responsibilities undertaken,
such as acting as Charman to one of the Board Committees
or fulfiling the role of Servor Independent Director Non-
Executrve Directors are not eigible to receive pension
enttlements or bonuses and may not participate in share
option schemes

In ine with the dectsion not to Increase the basic salanes

of the Executive Directors in 2013, it was agreed that there
would be no increase In the fees pad to the Non-Exacutve
Directors in 2013 The fees payable to the Charman have
also not been increased For 2013, Increases to base
salanes will ba stnctly monitored in line with our focus on
cost control Across the Group and depending on the
businesses involved and the locatiens, we enmvisage
salanes for employees generally beang frozen or increased
by up to 2%
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2012 2011

£ £

Chamman’s fee 225000 225,000

Non-Executve Director basic fee 45,500 45,500
Senior Independent Drrector

additional fee 5,000 5,000

Committee Charman additonal fee 10,000 10,000

Non-Executive Directors’ appointments

The Non-Exscutive Directors do not have sernice contracts
with the Company but are appointed for an intial three-year
term Non-Executive Directors are typically expected to
serve for two three-year terms, afthough therr appomntment
can be terrminated erther by them or the Company on one
month's written notice | 1s open to the Company to invite a
MNon-Executive to serve for a further penod after the expiry
of two three-year terms Al Directors are required 1o stand
for re-election by sharehofders each year The onginal
appointment dates of the Chairman and Non-Executve
Directors are shown in the table below

Senior executive remuneration

Tha Remuneration Committee reviews and notes the
salanes of senior executives within the Group The salanes of
this group of employses by band are as shown to the nght

Salary band Number of executives
£000 2012
201410 7
151-200 12
101-180 a0
75-100 a5

Executive Directors’ service contracts and notice penods

Director Contractdate  Notice penod from the Company Notice penod from the Director
Jez Maiden 17 November 2008 12 months 12 months
Dean Finch 16 December 2009 12 months 6 months
Non-Executive Directors’ appointment dates
Director Date of appointment
Sir John Armitt 1 January 2013
Joaquin Ayuso 1 June 2011
Jorge Cosman 1 December 2005
Sir Andrew Foster 1 August 2004
Jackie Hunt 13 September 2012
Chns Muntwyler 11 May 2011
Lee Sander 1 June 2011
Tim Score 21 February 2005

Directors’ mimimum shareholding

In order to align the INterests of the Directors more closely with the shareholders, the Remuneration Commuttes has also determined that the Executve
Directors should build up a share fund equal to at least one year's current salary over a pencd of five years
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Governance
Directors’ remuneration report continued

Directors’ shareholdings
Directors’ interests and transactions

The heneficial and non-beneficial iInterests of the Directors in office as at 31 December 2012 are shown below:

At 31 December 2012
Executive Directors

At 1 January 2012 oron
appointment f later

Change from 31 December
2012 1o 28 February 2013

Dean Finch 138,252

Jez Maidsn 168,919

Non-Executive Directors

Joaguin Ayuso -

Jorge Cosmen! 88,860,685

Miranda Curtis (resigned 10 May 2012) -

John Devaney (resigned 31 January 2013) 76,666

Sir Andrew Foster 22,893

Jackie Hunt {appointed 13 September 2012) -

Chns Muntwyler -

Lee Sander -

Tim Score -

' Jorge Cosmen's holding includes shares heid by European Express Enterpnses Ltd which are shown on page 59 In the list of major shareholdings i the Company

The Regster of Dwectars’ interests mantained by the Company contains fudl details of the Drectors' holdings of shares and opbons over shares in the Company The mud-market pnce
of the Company's ordinary shares at 31 December 2012 was 204 pence {2011 223 pence) and the range dunng the year ended 31 December 2012 was 164 5 pence to 252 pence

Directors' emoluments

Perfarmance Total Total
Salaryfees related bonus 2012 201
£000 £000 £000 £000
Executive Directors
Dean Finch 550 644 1,412 1,454
Joz Maiden 420 4912 1,040 1,021
Non-Executive Directors
Joaquin Ayuso 49 - 49 30
Jorge Cosmen {Deputy Chairman) 45 - 45 45
John Devaney (Charrman)
{resigned 31 January 2013} 225 - 225 225
Sir Andrew Foster 51 - 51 44
Jackie Hunt {appointed 13 September 2012) 13 - 13 -
Chns Muntwyler 59t - 59 37
Lee Sander 69t - 69 30
Tim Scors (Senior Independent Director) 60 - 60 60
Former Non-Executive Directors
Miranda Curtis (resigned 10 May 2012) 23 - 23 55

' Benefits in knd nclude a cash atternative to a fully expensed car, life assurance and health nsurance.

2 Jsz Maden sacnficed £20 000 of s cash bonus entitisment before s award Pension contnbutions equia to thes amount were madls nlo pension plans

for the benefit of his dapendants. The amount shown m the bonus column reflects the full bonus eamed
3 As explaned on page 68 Jez Maden recerved an addiional one-off borus of £255 673 (o compensate hm for a shorttal in the amount of the 2009 LTIP vesting
*  Anadditonal fee of £4,000 1s pad for attendance at Board rmeetings held outside the continent m wiuch the Non-Expcutve Drector 15 resident

By order of the Board

Sir Andrew Foster
Director and Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
28 February 2013
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Chief Executive’s 5 year Retention Award

In accordance with Listing Rule 9 4 2{2) the pnincipal terms
of the Retermion Award are summansed below

Structure of Award

The Award 1s structured as a conditional award of shares
No payment was required for the grant of the Award

The Award 1s not transferable, except on death

The Award 1s not pensionable

Vesting of Award

The Award will normally vest on the fifth annversary
of the grant date of the Award to the extent that the
performance conditons are satisfied and subject to
the terms of the Award

Leaving employment

The Award will ordinanty lapse in the event of the Chief
Executive's cessation of service within the Group prior
1o the vesting of the Award

However, if the Chief Executive ceases employment

for certan ‘compassionate’ reascns (eg redundancy,
retirernent, Il health, sale of business out of the Group)

or for any other reason determined by the Committes,

the Award shall enther continue on its terms and vest on
nomal tmetable or vest early at the discretion of the
Committee in such circumstances the extent to which

the Award would vest would be dependent on the extent
to which the performance condiions were met over the
full penod or curtalled penod as relevant Furthermore, in
such crcumstances the size of the Award would be scaled
back by reference to the trme elapsed since date of grant
{rounding up to the nearest half year) unless the Committee
determined that it would be inappropnate to apply such
time pro-ration In the relevant circumstances

Corporate events

In the event of a takeover, scheme of arangement or
winding up of the Company (not beng a corporate
reargamsation) the Award would vest early to the extent
that the Commuittee considers that the performance
conditions had been satisfied at the time of such event,
with a pro-rata reduction in the size of the Award based
on the time elapsed between the date of the Award and
the date of the relevant event (rounded up to the nearest
half year), unless the Committee determines that it would
be inappropnate to apply a pro rata reducticn in the
relevant circumstances

In the event of a corporate reorganisation the Award would
be replaced by an equvalen new award

Vanaton of share capital

In the event of any vanation of the share capital of the
Company, a demerger, special dvdend or other similar
event which atfects the market price of the Group’s shares
to a matenal extent the Committee may make such
adjustments to the Award as it considers appropnate

No shareholder nghts until vesting

The Award does not conter any shareholder nghts, for
example, the nght to vote the shares, urttil the Award has
vested and shares delvered under the Award

At the discretion of the Committee, the Chist Executive

will be entitled to receve a payment (n cash and/or shares)
on or shortly followang the vesting the Award, of an amount
equivalent to the dmdends that would have been paid on
the vested shares between the time when the Award was
granted and the tirme when it vests

Source of shares

The Award may only be satsfied with existing shares
No newly 1ssued or treasury sharas will be used In
connection with the Award

Extenuating events

In exceptional circumstances, the Committee may

defer the vesting of the Award to such later date as it

so determines, or cancel such Award, if it considers,
acting faty and reasonably, that there 1s any sufficently
extenuating event or events in the 12 months prior to the
vesting of the Award that warrants such determination

Amendment

The terms of the Award may be amsanded In such
manner as the Committee may determine, prowded that
amendments to the Award to the Chief Executve's benefit
may only be made with pnor consert of sharsholders

and any 1o his detnment subject to his consent
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Govemance

Directors’ report

The Directors present thewr report and audited financial
staterments for the year ended 31 December 2012

Pnncipal activities

National Express Group PLC 1s the holding company of
the National Express Group of companies lts subsidiary
companies provide mass passenger transport services
in the UK and overseas

Business review

Reviews of the business, kkely future developments and
details of principal nsks and uncertainties can be found
n the following pages and are mcorperated by reference
into this report

¢ Group Chief Executive’s review on pages 10 to 13,
* Finance Director's review on pages 20 1o 23, and
* Governance report on pages 50to 81

Branches outside the UK
The Company has branches i Span

Results and dividends

The profit on ordnary actmties before tax from continuing
operatons for the year ended 31 December 2012 was
£69 8 milkon (2011 £129 4m) and a profit attnbutable 1o
equity shareholders of £60 0 mdlion (2011 £101 2m) was
transferred 10 reserves

The Drectors recommend a final dmvdend for the year of

66 pence per ordinary share (2011 6 5p) which, together
with the intenm dividand of 3 15 pence per ordinary share
{2011 3p), pad on 21 September 2012, gives a total dwvidend
for the year of 8 75 pence per share (2011 8 5p) Subject

to shareholder approval, the final dmdend wall be pad on

17 May 2013 1o crdinary shareholders on the register of
members at the close of business on 26 Apnl 2013

Directors
The Directors of the Comparty who served dunng the
year were

Jorge Cosmen

Miranda Curts (resigned 10 May 2012)
John Devaney (resigned 3t January 2013}
Dean Finch

Sir Andrew Foster

Jacke Hunt (appointed 13 Septemnber 2012)
Jez Mauden

Chins Muntwyler

Lee Sander

Tim Score

Sir John Armitt joined the Board on 1 January 2013 He was
appointed as Chaimman of the Board on 1 February 2013
followang the resignation of John Devaney

The appontment and replacement of Directors of the
Company i1s govermned by its Articlas of Association, the

UK Corporate Governance Code, the Companies Act and
related legislabon In accordance with the UK Corporate
Governance Code, all the Directors will retire at the
upcoming AGM and offer themselves for re-glection The
Board 15 satisfied that each Director 1s qualified for re~election
by wirtue of therr skills, expenence and contribution to the

Board Details of the remunaration of the Directors, their
interests in shares of the Company and service contracts
are contained in the Directors’ remuneration report on pages
641075

Corporate govemance

A full report on corporate govemance can be found in the
Governance section of this document and the Company's
corporate governance statement 1 on page 79 Both are
incorporated by reference into this report

Cirectors’ interests in contracts

Except as stated in note 36 on page 143, no contract existed
dunng the year n relation to the Company’s business in
which any Director was matenally interested

Post balance sheet events
As at the date of this report, there were no post balance
sheet events to report

Employment policies

The Group stnves to meet its business objectives by
motvating and encouraging its employees to be responsive
1o the needs of its customers and continually Improve
operational performance The Group 1s committad to
providing equalty of opportunity to employees and potential
empioyees This apples to appropnate training, career
development and promaotion for all employees, regardess
of physical ability, gender, sexual cnentation, religion,

age or ethnic ongin All businesses in the Group report
diversity data

Full and far consideration 1s gven to applcations for
employment receved from disabled persons, according
to ther skills and capabilites The services of any existing
employes disabled dunng their penod of employment are
retaned wherever possible

Employee involvement

The Group encourages employee Involvement in ts

affars Subsidiary companies produce a range of mermal .
newsletters and circulars which keep employees abreast of
developments Senior management within the Group meet
reqularly to review strategic developments and management
conferences are held at Group and business levels to bnng
our semor managers together to share ideas and develop
policy Dialogue takes place regularly with trade unions and
other employee representatives on a wide range of issues
Employess are able to share in the Group's results through
vanous employee share schemes

Employes views are also sought through regular employee
satsfacton questionnaires, both within business units and
across the Group Following such surveys, results are shared
with employees and action plans are put n place to deal
with Issues ansing  The Group encouragss Innovation from
all ievels of employees and has a structured programme In
place known as ‘Make a Difference’” to develop eas and
track them through to implemerntation Innovation Sponsors,
Agents and Champions are appointed in the business and
ther work s coordinated by an Innovations Councl at Group
level For National Express, nnovation 1s a way of bfe that
nvolves and engages our paople

The Group also has a well-developed succession planning
process In place and succession plans are reviewed by
the PLC Board annually As a key part of this prooess, the
Company focuses on emerging talent to ensure the Group
has the nght people bemng developed to meet our future
business needs Talent management remans an mportant
prionty for the Group
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Environmental policy

Informanon on the Group's environmental intiatives can
be found in the Corporate Responsibility review on page
46 and in the Corporate Responsibiity section of the
Company's website, nationalexpressgroup com, where
you will find Gorporate Responsibility reports, polices and
other information

Chantable and political contnbutions

Chantable donatons made dunng the year totalled
£373,000 (2011 £228,000) its the Group’s policy not to
make pelitical donations and accordingly none were made
In the year However, the Company did attend party poktical
conferences dunng the year for which total expenditure was
£6,750 (2011 £6,000}

Creditors’ payment policy and practice

It 1s the Company's policy 10 agree terms of payment pnor
to commencing trade with any supplier and to abide by
those terms based on the tmely submission of satistactory
IMVOICES

Trade creditor days of the Company for the year ended

31 December 2012 were 17 days (2011 17 days) based on
the ratio of Cornpany trade creditors at the end of the year
to the amounts invotced during the year by trade creditors

Financial nstruments

Detaills of the use by the Company and its subsidianss of
financial nstruments and any related nsk management
objectives and policies {including hedging policy) and
exposure {including prce, credit, kquidity or cash flow nsk)
of the Corpany in connection with such financial
mstrurmants can be found in the Notes to the Consoidated
Accounts on pages 88 to 145 and are incorporated by
reference into this report

Major shareholdings

Disclosures of major shareholdngs notified to the
Company are shown on page 59 and these disclosures
are ncorporated by reference inte this report

Share capital and nghts attaching to the
Company’s shares

Under the Company’s Articles of Associabon, any share in
the Company may be issued with such nghts or restnctions,
whether in regard to dmdend, voting, return of capital

or otherwise as the Company may from time to tme by
ordinary resolution determine (or, In the absence of any
such determination, as the Directors may deterrming)

At 31 December 2012, the Company’s tssued share

caprtal consisted of a single ¢lass of ordinary shares with
anominal value of 5 pence At a general meeting of the
Company every member has onga vots on a show of hands
and on a poll one vote for each share held The Notice of
AGM accompanying this document specifies deadines for
exercising voting nghts erther by proxy or by being present
In person In relation to resolutions to be passed at a general
meeting Detals of the authonsed and issued share capital
of the Cormnpany and details of shares issued dunng the year
can be found in note 32 on page 133

On & March 2012, the Company sold ts entire holding of
treasury shares which amountad to a total of 1,668,688
crdinary 5 pence shares (nominal value £83,434) n freasury
aqual to 0 32% of the 1ssued share capital

No shareholder is, unless the Board de<ides otherwise,
entitled to attend or voie etther personally or by proxy at
a general meeting or 1o exercise any other nght conterred

by being a shareholder if he or sha or any person with an
interast in his or her shares has been sent a notice under
Section 793 of the Companies Act 2006 fwhich confers
upon public companies the power to require information
with respect to interests in thewr voting shares) and he or
she or any interested person faled to supply the Company
with the informabion requested within 14 days after delvery
of that notice The Board may also decide that no dvmdend
15 payabie n respect of those default shares and that no
transfer of any defautt shares shall be regstered These
restnctions end seven days after receipt by the Comparny
of a notice of an approved transfer of the shares or all the
information required by the relevant Section 793 notice,
whichever 1s eariier

The Directors may refuse to register any transfer of ary share
whichis not a fully-paud share, although such discretion

may not be exercised N a way which the Financial Services
Authorty regards as preventing dealings in shares of that
class from taking place on an open or proper basis The
Directors may hkewise refuse any transfer of a share in favour
of more than four persons joirtly

The Company 1S not aware of any other restnctions on the
transfer of ordinary shares in the Company other than

« certain restnetions that may from tme 1o tme be imposed
by laws and regulations (for example, insider trading laws),
and

= pursuant to the Listing Rules of the Financial Services
Authonty wherseby certain employees of the Company
require approval of the Company to deal in the Company’s
shares

The Company I1s not aware of any agreements between
shareholders that may resutt In restnctons on the transfer
of securties or voing nghts

Resolutions will be proposed at the 2013 AGM 1o authonse
the Directors to exercise all powers 1o allot shares, or grant
nghts for, or to convert any secunty nto, shares, and approve
a hmrted disapplication of statutory pre-emption nghts

Detaills are set out In the Notice of AGM accompanying

thuis document

The Company was granted authonty at the AGM in 2012
to purchase its own shares up to an aggregate value of
109 of the 1ssued norminal caprtal The authorty was not
used dunng the year The authonty i1s renewed annually
and approval will be sought at the AGM in 2013 for its
renewal Further details are set out in the Natice of AGM
accornparying this document

Share schemes

First Names (Jersey) Limvted (formerty IFG Trust {Jersey)
Limited), as Trustes of the National Express Group Employea
Benefit Trust, as at 25 February 2013 held 339,070 shares

{0 06% of the share capital) of the Company for employes
share schemes Further detals of the Company’s employes
shars schermnes can be found in note 7 on page 102 and are
ncerporated by reference into this report The Trustee may
vote the shares held by the Trust at its discretion

The current Association of British Insurers (ABf) guidance on
diution imets promde the overall diluton under all share plans
operated by a company should not exceed 10% over a

ten year penod in relation to the Company's share capital,
with a further kmntation of 5% in any ten year penod on
execuive plans National Express share plans operate
withun ABI recommended guidelnes on ditution imits
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Govemance
Directors’ report continued

Articles of Association

Any amendments to the Company’s Articles of Association
may be made in accordance with the provisions of the
Compantes Act 2006

Annual General Meeting

The Annual General Meeting (AGM) will be held at 2 00pm
on 9@ May 2013 at Kings Place, 90 York Way, London

N1 GAG At the Meeting, speca resolutons will be proposed
to authonse the Directors to 1ssue shares without apphying
statutory pre-emption nghts, to authonse the Company to
make market purchases of its own shares and to authonse
the calling of general meetings (cther than Annual General
Meetings) on 14 clear days' notce Full details ars provided
in the Notice of Meeting i you would like to register any
question you may have in advance of the AGM you can

do so at agm@natonalexpress com or you can wiie to
the Company Secretary at National Express Group PLC,
National Express House, Brmingham Coach Station, Mill
Lane, Digbsth, Birmingham B5 6DD

Powers of the Directors

Subyect to ts Articles of Association and relevant statutory
law and to any direction that may be given by the Company
In general meeting by special resclution, the busness of
the Company shall be managed by the Directors, who may
exercise all powers of the Company which are not required
to be exer¢ised by the Company in general mesting

Matenal contracts and change of control
agreements

The Company 1s party to a number of banking agreements
which allow for notification of change of control wathin

five days of becoming aware of the event following which
repayment of outstanding commitments 1S to be made within
30 days

Under the terms of the £1,000,000,000 Euroc Medium Term
Note Programme under which the Company 1ssued Medium
Termn Notes (MTNSs) to vancus msttutons on 13 January
2010 (as updated on 19 Novemiper 2012}, there 1s a change
of control put option such that, upen a change of control
event, any holder of any MTN may require the Company

to redeem or purchase that MTN

The Company entered nto a pnvate placement Note
Purchase Agreement on 30 July 2012 relating to the i1ssue
by the Company of €78,500,000 4 55% Senior Notes due
16 August 2021 Under the terms of the Agreement the
Compary 1s required to offer to Note holders to repay (o
them the entire unpaid pnncipal amount and nterest thereon
upon a change of control

The Group currently runs one DfT franchise c2c The ral
franchise agreement with DIT containg termination nghits
for the benefit of DIT which would be tnggered by a change
of control in National Express Group PLC

The Group's rall franchisee, ¢2¢, leases its roling stock
and its leases with Porterbrock Leasing Company Limited
contain terrmination nghts for the benefit of the lessor which
would be tnggered by a change of control in National
Exprass Group PLC

The Group's North Amencan business operates school
bus senaces under contracts with school boards Those
contracts invanably contan a change of control clause

for the benefit of the board which would be tnggered by

a change of control in National Express Group PLC While
no one single school bus contract could be considered
significant in the context of the Group tumover, the impact
on that tumover in the event that each schoal board
exarcised its termination nght on a charnge of control would
be significant.

Directors' and employees’ service contracts
There are nc agreements between the Company and rts
Drectors or employees providing for compensation for
loss of office or employment (whether through resignation,
purperted redundancy or otherwse) that occurs because
of a takeover bid

Auditor

Resolutions to re-appont Deloitte LLP as auditor of
the Company and to authonse the Directors to fix their
rermnuneration will be proposed at the 2013 AGM

Disclosure of information to audrtor

The Directors confirmn that, so far as they are aware, there
1S no relevant audtt information of which the Company's
auditor is unaware and that each Director has taken all the
steps that they ought 1o have taken as a Director in order

to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information
and 1o establish that the Company’s auditor is aware of
that Information  This confirmation 1s given and should be
interpreted in accordance with the provisions of section 418
of the Companies Act 2006

Risks

A surnmary of the Company’s nsk management framework
and an overview of ds pnnaipal nsks are detalled on pages
43 10 45 and are incomorated by reference into this report

Going concem

The Group's business activities, together with the factors
likely to affect its future development, performance and
position are set out In the Business Review The financial
position of the Group, ts cash flows, iquidity position

and borrowing faciities are descnbed in the Group Chief
Executve's review on pages 10 to 13 and the Finance
Director's review on pages 20 to 23 In addition, note 30
to the financial staterments includes the Group's objectives,
pohictes and processes for managing its capital, its
financial nsk management objectves, detalls of its financial
instrurnents and hedging actvities, and its exposure to credit
nsk and kquiciity nsk.

The Group has a formalised process of budgeting, reporting
and review, which provides information to the Directors
which 1s used to ensure the adequacy of resources avalable
for the Group to meet Its business objectves

The Dwectors have a reasonable expectation that the
Company and the Group have adequate resources to
continus N operational existance for a penod of at least

12 months from the date of sigrung the accourts
Accordingly they continue to adopt the gong concern basis
of accounting In prepanng the annual financial statements
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Govermnance

Statutory information

Statement of Complhance with

the UK Corporate Governance Code

In the epinien of the Directors, the Company has compled
with the provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code
{Code) issued by the Financial Reporting Councll in 2010
save 1N respect of the following provisions

B 2 1 The Composition of the Nommation Committee
Jorge Cosmen, who 15 a member of the Nominaton
Committee, 15 not considered to be independent However,
as Deputy Chairman and the representative of one of the
Company's largest shareholders, the Board considers

Mr Cosmen should be a member of the Nomination
Commuttes in order to be nvolved in the recrutment
process for Board appontments

Joaquin Ayuso was apponted as a member of the
Nomination Committee on 26 February 2013 Accordingly,
the majonty of the Nomination Commities are now
Independent non-executve directors in accordance

with Provision B 21 of the Code

The Governance section of this Annual Report has applied
the pnncples of the UK Comporate Governance Code and

complied with its provsions dunng 2012 A copy of the UK
Corporate Governance Code 1s avalable at frc org uk

Re-election of Directors

In accordance with the Company's Articles of Association,
and the pnnciples of the UK Corporate Governance Cods,
all Directors of the Company will offer themsselves for ether
elechon or re-glection at this year's AGM Non-Executive
Directors are appointad for specific terms, subject to re-
election Non-Executive Drrectors will only be put forward for
re-election 1, following performance evaluation, the Board
believes the Dwrector's performance continues to be effectve
and demonstrates commiriment to the role

Remuneration and service contracts

of Directors

The Directors’ Remuneration Report, including details of
remuneration policy and sarvice contracts, 1S set out on
pages 64 t0 75

Directors’ conflicts of interest

The Board has a procedure in place to deal with a stuation
where a Director has a conflict of nterest, as required by the
Companies Act 2006 As part of this procass, the members
of the Board prepare a list of other positions held and all
other conflict situations that may need authonsing either

in relation to the Drector concemed or his/her connected
persons The Board considers each Director’s situation

and decides whether to approve any conflict situations,
taking into consideration what 15 1N the best interests of

the Company and whether the Director’s aldity 1o act in
accordance with hus or her wader duties 1s affected Each
Drrector 1s requrred to notfy the Company Secretary of any
potential or actual conflict situations that will need authonsing
by the Board Authonsations gven by the Board are
reviewed annually

Accountability and audrt
Statements of the respective responsibiiies of the Directors
and auditors are set out on pages 81 and 82

Directors' and Officers' Liability Insurance

The Company maintains Directors’ and Officers’ Liablity
Insurance in respect of legal action that rmight be brought
aganst its Directors Pursuant to the Company’s Articles
of Association the Company has indemnified its Directors
and Officers in accordance with the prowvisions of Secton
233 of the Companies Act 2006 A copy of the Articles of
Association is avallable for nspection at the Company’s
regstered office

Intemal control statement

The Board’s responsibilities

The Board has overall responsibility for the Group’s system
of internal control and for reviewing its effectveness The
Board mantans full control and direction over appropnate
strategie, financial, operabional and compliance 1ssues and
has put in place an organisational structure with formally
defined lines of responsibility, delegated authonties and
clear operating processes The systermns that the Board
has established are designed to safeguard both the
sharehofders’ mvestment and the assats of the Group,
and are descnbed as follows

Key elements of the control framework

Financial reporting process — Management and
speciahsts within the Finance Department are responsible
for ensunng the appropnate mantenance of financial records
and processes to ensure that all mformation is relevant,
rehable and in accordance with the applicable laws and
regulations, and distnbuted both internally and externally in
a tmely manner A rewiew of the consobdation and financial
statements s completed by management to ensure that the
financial position and results of the Group are appropnately
reflected All financial information published by the Group 1s
subyect to the approval of the Audit Committes

Performance management - The performance of each
dvision and operating company aganst its plan is closely
monitored by a formal monthly reporting process and by the
attendance of the relevant Executive Directors at monthly
dmisional exscutve mestings

Annual fitness check process - Internal audt undertake
an annual review at each operating company to assess

the irtegnity of the balance sheet and to check the effectve
operation of key financial reporting and informaton systems
controls The results of the reviews are preserted to both
dwisional and Group finance with any required actions
agreed with the relevant dwsional Finance Director

Strategic and financial planning - An annual
budgeting and strategic planning process has been
establshed whereby each division and consttuent
Qperating company assesses its compeatitive position
and goals, talang account of the strategic nsks faced
This strategy 1s translated into a financial plan with clear
milestones and performance indicators

Capnal investment - A clear process 15 it place for the
approval of capital expenditure, which Inciudes detaled
apprasal of the benefits of the proposed investment and
any associated key nsks Matenal caprtal expenditure
requires Board approval

Health and safety — Health and safety standards and
benchmarks have been established in all our businesses

and the performance of operating companies n meeting
these standards 1s closely monitored

wwrw NATONEIEXPIressgroup com
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Govemance
Statutory information continued

Risk management reporting process — Each dmsion Ant-bnbery policy

and operating company evaluates its internal control A Group Arir-Bnbery policy has been established and
environment and key nsks, and the results are reviewed wsued to all Group comparnies and 1 also avalable on the
at managemert level and passed to the Audit Commuttee Group's website at nationalexpressgroup com The policy
before being presented 1o the Board This process is prohibits any inducement which results in a personal gain or
reviewed on a regular basis to ensure the validity and advantage t© the recipient or any person or body associated
relevance of the key nsks included in reports The review with them, and which 1s intended to influence them to take

covers strategrc, financial, compliance and nsk management  action which may not be solely in the nterasts of the Group
controls These procedures are mandated and designed or of the person or body employing them or wiich they

to manage the nsk in order to ensure that the operations reprasent The prevention, detection and reporting of bnbery

achigve therr business objectives 15 the responsibiity of all employees throughout the Group
Employees can report confidentally any suspicion of bnbe

Internal audit — The internal control system 1s via an extemally fazﬁ:tated whlstleb'lyow;r hotl?ne v

ndependently monrtored and supporied by a Group
internal audd function The internal audrt functon reports
to management and the Audit Committee on the Group's

financial and operational controls, and momitors ancd /V\/\ . E\ ; H CA

reviews the extent to which its recommendations have
been mplemented Michael Hampson

Board-level reporting on internal control — Dunng the Company Secretary
year the Audit Committee reviews regular reports from the 28 February 2013
nternal audit function, the extemal audrtors and executive

management on matters relating to intermal control, financial

reporting and nsk management The Audit Committes

provides the Board wath an independent assessment of the

Group's financial posrtion, accounting affars and control

systerns [n addiion, the Board receves regular reports on

how specific nsks that are assessed as matenal to the Group

are baing managed

Rewview of intemal control effectiveness

The system of internal control and nsk managsment,
descnbed above, has been in place for the yvear under
review and up to the date of approval of this Annual Report
and Accounts Such a system s designed to manage,
rather than to eliminate, the nsks inherent in achieving the
Group's business objectives, and can therefore provide only
reasonable and not absclute assurance against matenal
misstaternent or loss The effectveness of this system has
been regularly revewed by the Directors in ine with the
Guidanice on Audit Cormmittees, published by the Financial
Reporting Counctlin December 2010 Where significant
control falings or weaknesses have been identified,
appropnate comective action has been taken

Whistleblowing policy

‘Whistleblowing' policies are in place in each of the

Group's businesses and are also avalable on the Group's
websitenatonalexpressgroup com The Board supports
the highest standards of corporats governance and ethical
practices within all its operations and continues to review

its policies on an ongoing basis The Board has endorsed

a sat of pnnciples wiich establish the framework for how

its businessas operate Key to these s working n an open
and honest manner The Group 1s committed o the lughest
standards of quality, honesty, openness and accountabiity
Employees are encouraged 1o raise genuing concems
under the policy erther by contacting ther ine manager or
telephoning a dedicated extemal helpline Any concemns
raised are nvestigated carefully and thoroughly to assess
what action, f any, should be taken and confidental records
are mantaned The Company Secretary reports any matters
of significance to the appropnate commitiee In 2042 no
1ssues of significance were raised
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Govemance

Directors’ responsibilities statement

The Directors are responsible for prepanng the Annual
Report and the financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and regulations

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial
statements for each financial year Under that law the
Dhrectors are required to prepare the Group financial
statements in accordance with Intemational Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European
Union and Article 4 of the |1AS Regulation and have elected
to prepare the parent Company financial staternents in
accordance with United Kmgdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practics (United Kingdom Accounting Standards
and applicable law) Under company law the Directors must
not approve the accounts unless they are satisfied that they
give a true and far view of the siate of aftars of the Company
and of the profit or loss of the Company for that penod

In prepanng the parent Company financial statements,
the Cirectors are required to

» selpct suitable accounting policies and then apply them
consistently,

* make judgemeants and accounting estimates that are
reasonable and-prudert,

+ state whether applicable UK Accountng Standards
have been followed, subject to any matenal departures
disclosed and explained in the financial statements, and

* prepare the financial statements on the gaing concem
basis unless 1t s napproprate to presurne that the
Comparty will continus in business

In prepanng the Group financial statements, Intemational
Accounting Standard 1 requires that Directors

* properly select and apply accountng policies,

* presant information, including accounting policies, in a
manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable and
understandable information,

prowds addional disclosures when compliance with the
specific requrements In IFRSs 1s insufficient to enable
users to understand the impact of parbcular transactions,
other events and condiions on the entity’s financial
position and financial performance, and

» make an assessment of the Company’s ability to continue
as a going concem

The Dwectors are responsible for keeping adequate
accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain
the Company's transactions and disclose with reasonable
accuracy at any ime the financial posiion of the Company
and enable them to ensure that the financial statements
comply with the Companies Act 2006 They are also
responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and
hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and
detection of fraud and other iImeguianties

The Directors are responsible for the mamntenance and
ntegnity of the corporate and financial information included
on the Company’s website Legistaton in the United
Kingdom governing the preparation and dissermination

of financial statements may differ from legislation in

other wnsdictions

Responsibility statement
We confirm that to the best of our knowledge

+ The financial statements, prepared in accordance with the
relevant financial reporting framework, grve a true and far
view of the assets, labilites, financtal posttion and profit or
loss of the Company and the undertakings ncluded in the
consoldation taken as a whole, and

* The business review, which 1s incorporated into the
Directors’ report, Includes a far review of the development
and performance of the business and the position
of the Cornpany and the undertakings mnciuded in
the consolidation taken as a whale, together with a
descnption of the pnncipal nsks and uncertantes that
they face

By order of the Board

_Decr

Dean Finch
Chief Executive Officer
28 February 2013

BB d )
Jez Maiden

Group Finance Director
28 February 2013
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Financial statements
Independent Auditor's Report to the Members of
National Express Group plc

We have audited the Group financial staterments of National Express Group PLC for the year ended 31 December 2012
which compnse the Group Income Statement, the Group Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Group Balance Sheet,
the Group Staternent of Changes in Equity, the Group Statement of Cash Pows, and the related notes 1 to 38 The financial
reporting framework that has been applied in therr preparation 1s applicable law and International Financial Reporting
Standards {IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union

This report 1s made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Compantes Act 2006 Qur audtt work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members those
matters we are requirad to state to them in an audrtor's report and for no other purpose To the fullest extent permitted by
law, we do not accept or assume responsibility 1o anyone other than the Company and the Company's membars as a body,
for our audrt work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditor

As explained more fully in the Directors' Responsibilites Statemant, the directors are responsible for the preparabon of the
Group financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and farr vew Our responsibility is to audt and express
an opinion on the Group financial statements in accordance with applicable law and Intemational Standards on Auditing (UK
and Ireland) Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board's Ethical Standards for Auditors

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit nvolves obtaining ewdence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial staternents sufficient to gve
reasonable assurance that the financial staternents are free from matenal misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error
This Includes an assessment of whether the accounting policies are appropnate to the Group's crcumstances and have
been consistently applied and adequately disclosed, the reasonableness of significant accounting estmates made by the
directors, and the overall presentation of the financial staterments In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial
information in the annual report to identify matenal nconsistencies with the audited financial statements i we become aware
of any apparent matenal misstatements or nconsistencies we consider the implications for our report

Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion the Group financial statements

+ give a true and far view of the state of the Group's affarrs as at 31 December 2012 and of its profit for the year then ended,
* have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, and
+ have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and Article 4 of the IAS Regqulation

Opinion on other matter prescnbed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinton the nformation given in the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the Group financial statements are
prepared 1s consistent with the Group financial statements

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following

Under the Comparies Act 2006 we ara required to report 1o you if, In our opinion

« certan disclosures of Directors’ remunerahon specified by law are not made, or

* we have not recenved all the informaton and explanations we require for our audit
Under the Listing Rules we are required to review

= the Drectors’ staternent, set out in the Drreciors’ report, In relation to going concemn,

* the part of the Corporate Govemnancs Statement, as set out within the Statutory Information, relating to the Company's
cormpliance with the nine provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code specified for our resew; and

* certan elements of the report to shareholders by the Board on Drectors’ remuneration

Other matter
We have reported separatsly on the parent company financial statements of Natonal Express Group PLC for the year ended
31@1%3@ 2012 and an the information in the Directors’ Rermuneration Report that 1s described as havng been audited

Nige M#cde‘r 1or statutory auditor)

for and on behalf of Delotte LLP

Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditor
Birmingham, UK

28 February 2013
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Financial staterments

Group Income Statement
For the year ended 31 December 2012

Total before Total before
intangible Intangible intangible Intangible
amortisation  amortsation amortisation amortisation
and and and and
exceptonal excepbonal exceptonal exceptional
tems tems Tota! tems tems Total
2012 2012 2012 2011 2011 2011
Note fm £m £m £m om £m
Continuing operations
Revenue — 4 18312 - 1,8312 22380 - 22380
Operating costs before ntangble
amortisation and exceptional tems {1,619.3) - {1,619 3) (2,012 8} - {2,012 8}
Intangible amortisation 5,14 - 517 (51.7) - {50 8) {60 B}
Exceptional tems 5 - {42 6) (42.6) - - -
Total operating costs 3] {1,619.3) (94.3) {1,713.6) (2,012 8} {50 B) (2,063 6)
Group operating profit 2119 (94 3) 1176 2252 50 8) 174 4
Share of post-tax results from
associates and joint ventures
accounted for using the equity method 18 14 - 14 14 - 14
Finance income 49 4.4 - 44 67 - 67
Finance costs 9 {53.6) - {53 6) (53 1) = (631)
Profit before tax 164.1 (94 3) 69.8 180 2 {50 8) 1294
Tax charge 10 (32.7) 24.2 {8.5) 415} 147 (268
Profit for the year 1314 (70 1) 613 1387 (36 1) 1026
Profit attributable to
equity shareholders 130.1 (70 1) 600 1373 (36 1) 1012
Profit attnbitabls to
non-controllng interests 1.3 - 13 14 - 14
1314 (70 1) 61.3 1387 B8 1) 1026
Eamings per share
— basic earnings per share 13 11.8p 199p
— diuted eamings per share 13 117p 19 8p
Normalised earmings per share
- basic samings per share 13 25.5p 270p
- diluted eamings per share 13 254p 26%p
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Financial statements

Group Statement of Comprehensive Income

For the year ended 31 December 2012

2012 2011
Note £m £m

Profit for the year 61.3 1026
Other comprehensive income and expenditure
Exchange differences on retranslation of foreign operattons (net of hedging) (44 2) (26 4)
Exchange differences on retranslation of non-controling interests 02) {02}
Actuanal losses on defined benefit pension plans 34 @11 (8 6}
Gan on cash flow hedges 2.2 242
Transfers to the Income statement on ¢ash fliow hedges {(202) (25 3}
Tax on exchange differences 16 29
Deferred tax on actuanal losses 72 04
Deferred tax on cash flow hedges 49 {0 6)
Other comprehensive Income and expenditure for the year, net of tax (79 8) (33 6}
Total comprehensive (expenditure)incoms for tha year {18.5) 690
Total comprehensive (expenditure)income attributable to
Equity shareholders (19 6) 679
Non-centroling interests 11 11

{18.5) 690
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Financial statements

Group Balance Sheet
At 31 December 2012

2012 2011
Note £m £m
Non-current assets
Intangible assets 14 1,262.9 1,212 5
Property, plant and equipment 15 787 4 754 5
Avatiable for sale investrnents 17 71 76
Dervative financial nstruments 17 311 310
Investments accounted for using the equity methocd 18 44 66
Trade and other recevables 20 56 59
Defined benefit pension asset 34 16.6 186
21151 20387
Current assets
Inventones -l 19.3 188
Trade and other receivables 22 1948 2481
Denvatwve financial instruments 17 47 211
Deferred tax assets 27 78 -
Currant tax assets 08 09
Cash and cash equivalents 23 72.8 925
300.2 3814
Total assets 24153 2,4181
Non-current iiebilibes
Borrowings 28 (786.8) (1184
Denvative financial mstruments 28 22) 24
Deferred tax kabiity 27 (84 8) 952
Other non-current kabiliies 25 59 49
Non-current tax labdities - 54
Defined benefit pension labiity 34 (35 9) (20 4)
Provisions 26 (28.3) (24 O)
(9438} (8707)
Current liabilties
Trade and other payables 24 (348.4) (466 4)
Borowings 28 (169 0) {54 8)
Denvative financal instruments 28 (3.0) 02
Current tax labilties {19.9) (197)
Prowvisions 26 {28.7) (409
{569.0) 582 0)
Total kabilthes {1,512.9) {1,452 7)
Net assets 002.4 965 4
Shargholders’ equity
Called up share capral 32 256 256
Share prermum account 532.7 5327
Capital redemption reserve 02 02
Own shares {0.5) (140
Other reserves K<) 44.2 999
Retaned eamings 2907 3131
Total shareholders’ equity 892.9 9575
Nor-controling interest in equity 9.5 78
Total equity 0902.4 965 4

~ el
D Finch Group Chief Executive I\OL\
J K Marden Group Finance
28 February 2013
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Financial staternents

Group Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 December 2012

Share Capital Own Other Non-
Share premum redemphon shares reserves Retamned contreliing Total
capttal  accourt reserve (note3d2) (noted3) eammgs Total mterests equity
fm fm £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
At 1 January 2012 25.6 5327 02 {14 0) 999 31341 957.5 79 965 4
Shares purchased - - - (4.8) - - (4.8) - 4.8
Own shares released to satisfy
employee share schemes - - - 45 - 4.5) - - -
Digposal of own shares - - - 138 - (9.8) 40 - 40
Total comprshensive INCome
and expendrture - - - - 55 7) 361 (196} 11 (18.5)
Share-based payments - - - - - 5.2 52 - 5.2
Tax on share-bassd payments - - - - - ©°n ©1n - 01)
Dndends - - - - - (49 3) (49 3) - (49 3)
Adjustment from changes in
non-controling Interests - - - - - - - 05 0.5
At 31 December 2012 256 532.7 0.2 {0.5) 4.2 2907 8929 9.5 9024
Share Caprtal Own Other Nor-
Share  premwm  redemption shares  reserves  Retaned controfing Total
capital account reserve  {note32) (note 33}  eamings Total nterests equity
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
At 1 January 2011 256 5327 02 (14 1} 1251 2837 8332 66 9398
Shares purchased - - - 27} - - 27 - 27
Own shares relsased to satisfy
employee share schemes - - - 28 - (2 8) - - -
Totat comprehensive income
and expenditurs - - - - (252) 931 679 11 690
Share-based payments - - - - - 50 50 - 50
Tax on share-based payments - - - - - {01) ©1) - 01
Dmdends - - - - - {45 8) (45 8} - (45 8}
Endends pad to non-controling
interest - - - - - - - 03} (0 3}
Adjustment from changes in
non-controling interests - - - - - — - 05 056
At 31 December 2011 256 5327 02 (14 0) 999 3131 9575 79 965 4
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Financial statements

Group Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended 31 December 2012

202 2011
Note £m £m
Cash generated from operations 37 169.6 2470
Tax pad (13.4) 84
Net cash from operating actvhes 1562 2386
Cash flows from investing actmvties
Payments to acquire businesses, net of cash acqured 19{a8) (156.9) 04
Deferred consideration for businesses acqurred and disposed 19(a)b) (0 6) 57)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (103.8) {104 5)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 167 63
Payments to acguire intangible assets (2.9) 39
Payments to acquire associates (0.5) -
Proceeds from disposal of associates 16 -
Dvidends recenved from associates 09 10
Interest recaved 37 586
Net cash used in investing activities (241.8) (101 6}
Cash flows from financing actvities
Proceeds from the sale of treasury shares 40 -
Purchase of own shares {4.8) (27
Interest pad (48 8) (50 2}
Finance lease pnncipal payments (18 0} (24 9}
Net loans drawn downv/{repaid) 1745 {35 6)
Receipts/{payments) for the matunty of foreign currency contracts 89 (12 8}
Dmwdends pad to non-controlling miterests (01} (04
Payments for equity In non-controlling interests - {05}
Dmdends paid to shareholders of the Company {49 3) (45 8}
Net cash fromv(used in) financing activities 66.4 {1729}
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents (192 (359}
Opening cash and cash equivalents 92.5 1288
Decraase in cash and cash equvalents (19.2) (359}
Foreign exchange {0.5) {0 4}
Closing cash and cash equivalents 23 728 925
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Financial statements

Notes to the Consolidated Accounts
For the year ended 31 December 2012

1 Corporate information

Tha consolidated accounts of National Express Group PLC and its subsidianies (‘the Group’} for the year ended 31 December 2012 were
authonsed for 1ssus In accordance with a resolution of the Directors on 28 February 2013 National Express Group PLC 1s a public imited
company incorporated in England and Wales whose shares are publicly traded on the London Stock Exchange

The pnncipal actvities of the Group are descnbed in the Business review that accompanies these accounts

2 Accounting policies

Statement of compliance

These accounts have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and interpretations of the
International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) as adopted by the European Union (EU), and with those parts of the
Companies Acts 2006 applicable to companies reporiing under IFRS

Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared on the going concem basis (see Directors’ report on page 76} under the historical cost
convention, except for the recogniton of dervative financial mstruments and available for sale investments

The consolidated accounts are presented Iin pounds Sterting and all values are rounded to the nearest one hundred thousand Pounds
(£0 1m} except where otherwise Indicated

A summary of the Group's accounting policies applied in prepanng the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2012 1s set out below

Significant accounting judgements and key sources of estunation uncertainty

The preparation of accounts in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires the use of estmatas and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets and labiliies at the date of the accounts and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses
dunng the reporting penod Although these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge, actual results may uttimately differ
from those estimates

The key accounting estimates and judgements are

Goodwill and impairment

Determining whether goodwill 15 impaired requires an estmaton of the value in use of the cash-generating units to which goodwill has
been allocated The value in use calculation reguires the entity to estmate the future cash flows expected to anse from the cash-generating
unit and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate present value Details of the assumptions used and key sensitvities are set out In note
14 to the accounts

Retirement benefit obligations

Determining the amount of the Group's retirement benefit obligations and the net costs of prowiding such benefits requires assumpthions
to be made concerning long term interast rates, mflation, salary and pension increases, investment returns and iongewty of current and
future pensionars Changes in these assumptions could significantly impact the amount of the obligations or the cost of providing such
benefits The Group makes assumptions concerming these matters with the assistance of advice from independent qualified actuanes
Details of the assumptions made are set out i1 note 34

insurance

The estimation of the insurance prowisions 1S based on an assessment of the expected settlement on known claims together with an
estimate of settlements that will be made In respect of incidents occurring prior to the balance sheet date but for which claims have

not been reported 10 the Group The Group makes assumptions conceming these matters with the assistance of aclvice from independent
qualified actuanes

Tax provisions

Assassing the outcomne of uncertain tax positions requires judgements to be made regarding the resutt of negotiations with and engurres
from tax authorties in a number of junsdictions  The assessments made are based on adwce from independent tax adwvisors and the status
of ongoing discussions with the relevant tax authonties
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2 Accounting policies contmued

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated accounts compnse the accounts of Natonal Express Group PLC and all is subsidianes drawn up to 31 December
each year Adjustments are made to bnng any dissimilar accounting policies that may exist into ine with the Group's accounting policies

On acquisiion of a business, the purchase method of accounting is adopted, and the Group Income Statement includes the resutts of
subsidianes and businesses purchased dunng the year from the date control 1s assumed The purchase consideration is allocated to
assets and labilities on the basis of fair value at the date of acquisition On the sale of a business, the Group Income staternent ncludes
the results of that business to the date of disposal

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised gains and losses on transactions between Group companies are eliminated

Non-controling interests represent the portion of comprehensive iIncome and equity in subsidianes that 1s not attnbutable to the parent
Company shareholders and i1s presented separately from parent shareholders’ equity n the consoldated balance sheet

Interests in joint ventures
The Group has a number of contractual arrangements with other parties to share control of other entities which represent joint veniures

The Group recogruses its interest in the entity’'s assets and labilies using the equity method of accounting The Group balance sheet
includes the appropnate share of these joint ventures' net assets or labities and the income statement includes the approprate share
of ther results after tax

Accounts of jointly controlled entities are prepared tor the same reporting pencd as the Group Adjustments are made in the Group's
accounts to elminate the Group's share of unrealised gains and losses on transactions between the Group and its jointly controlled
entties The Group ceases to use the equity method from the date it no longer has joint control over the entity

Interests i associates

Companias, cther than subsidiaries and joint ventures, in which the Group has an investment representing not less than 20% of the
voting nghts and over which it exerts significant influence are treated as associates The consolidated accounts include the appropriate
share of these associates’ results and net assets based on therr latest accounts under the equity method

Changes in accounting policies
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year and there have been no changes in accounting
standards dunng the year that have had a matenal effect on the Group

Income statement presentation

The income statement has been prasented in a columnar format to enable users of the financial statements to view the normalised results
of the Group Normalised results are defined as the statutory results bafors the following, as approprate profit or loss on the sale of
businesses, exceptional profit or loss on the sale of non-current assets and charges for goodwill impairment, amortisation of intangible
asseis, exceptional tems and tax relief on qualifyng exceptional ilems and intangibles

Exceptional itermns

Exceptional tems are matenal iterns of Income or expenditure which, In the opimion of the Directors, due to ther naturs and infrequency
raquire separate identification on the face of the Income statement to allow a better understanding of the financial perforrmance in the year,
IN compansoen to pror years
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Financial statements
Notes to the Consolidated Accounts continued

2 Accounting policies continued

Revenue recognition

Rendering of services

Revenue compnsss incoms from road passenger transport, train passenger serces and related activities in the UK, North Amenca
and Eurcpe Where appropnate, arnounts are shown net of rebates and sales tax

Revenue 1s recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the customer's travel or services provided under contractual
arrangements as a proportion of total services to be provided

Rail revenue includes amounts attnbuted to the train operating companses {TOCs), based principally on agreed models of route usage

by Railway Settlernent Plan Limited (which admimsters the income allocation systern within the UK rail mdustry), in respect of passenger
recaipts In addmion, net franchise agreement receipts from the Department for Transport Rail Omsion (DT Raul} and local Passenger
Transport Exacutives (PTES) are treated as revenue Net franchise agreement payments to DIT Rail are recognised in operating costs

UK Coach revenue compnseas amourts recevable generated from ticket sales UK Bus and European Coach & Bus revenue comprises
amounts recevable genarated from ticket sales and revenua generated from services provided on behalt of local transport authontias,
which is recogrised as the services are prowvided For all the diwmsions noted above, the relevant share of season ticket or travelcard incoms
15 deferred within habilities and released to the income staterment over the life of the relevant season ticket or travelcard North Amerncan
Bus revenue from school boards and similar coniracts is recogrised as the services are provided

Rental income
Rental Income 1s accounted for on a straight-iine basis over the lease term

Finance income
Revenue is recognised using the eflective interest method

Govemment grants

Government grants relating o property, plant and equipment are included in labiities as deferred income and are credited to the income
staterment over the expected useful economic life of the assets concerned Other granis are credited to the Income statement as the
related expenditurs 1S expensed

Segmental reporting

Each of the Group's business and geographical segments provides services that are subject to nsks and returns that are different from
those of the other business segments Due to the nature of the Group's operations the distinct business segments align directly with
geographical segments which are operating in separate economic snvironments

The Group's segments compnse UK Bus, UK Coach, Rail, North Amenican Bus, European Coach & Bus, and Central functions
These segments are descnbed in more detal In the Business review accompanying these accounts

Leases

Leases of property, plant and equipment where substantially all the nsks and rewards of ownership of the asset have passed to the Group,
are capitalised in the balance sheet as property, plant and equipment Finance leases are capitalised at the lower of the far value of the
leased property and the present value of the mmimum lease payments The capital element of future obligations under hire purchase
contracts and finance lsases 1 included as a liability in the balance sheet The interest elfement of rental obkgations 1s charged to the
income statement over the penod of the lease and represents a constant proporton of the balance of capital repayments outstanding
Property, plant and equipment acquired under finance leases are depreciated over the shorter of the useful fe of the asset or the lease
term

Leases of property, plant and equipment where a significant portion of the nsks and rewards of ownership are retaned by the lessor are
classifled as operating leases Rentals paid under operaiing leases are charged to the income statemant on a straight-ine basis over the
term of the lease Incentves received under operating leases and il direct costs in negotiating the lease are amortised to the income
statement cn a straight-line basis over the term of the lease

All matenal arrangements and transactions entered Into by the Group are reviewed to check whether they contan elements that meet
the accountng definition of a lease, although they may not follow the legal form of a lease

Bomrowing costs
Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense when incurred except where they are directly attnbutable to the acquisition, construction
or production of a qualifying asset, m which case they are caprtalised as part of the cost of that asset
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2 Accounting policies continued

Current tax and deferred tax

Current tax 1s provided on taxable profits eamed according to the local tax rates applicable where the profits are eamed Incoms taxes are
recognised in the ncome statement unless they relate to an tem accounted for in other comprehensive iIncome or equity, In which case
the tax 1s recognised directly in other comprehensive iIncome or equity The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the current tax are
thosa that are enacted or substantively enacted by the balance shest date

Deferred tax 1s prowded in full In respect of all matenal temporary differences at the balance sheet date between the tax bases of assets
and liabiies and therr carrying amounts for financial reporting purposas, apart from the following exceptions

+ where the temporary dfference anses from the mitial recognition of goodwill,

+ where an asset or lability 1s recogrised in a transaction that 1s not a business combination and that at the time of the transaction
affects nether accounting nor taxable profit or loss, and

+ nrespect of Investment in subsidiares, associates and joint ventures where the Group 1s able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it 1s probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future

Deferred tax 1s measured on a non-discounted basis at tax rates that are expected to apply n the penods in which the temporary
differences reverse based on tax rates and laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date

Deferred tax assets are recogrnised 1o the extent that 1t 1s considered mere likely than not that future taxable profits will be avallable
against which the underlying temporary differences can be deducted Therr carrying amount s reviewed at each balance sheet date
on the same basis

Deferred tax assets and llabilities are ofiset when thay relate to incorne taxes levied by the same taxation authonty and when the Group
intends to settis 1ts current tax assets and habilities on a net basis

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately that mest the recogniwon cntena of 1AS 38 ‘Intangible Assets’, are capitalised at cost and when
acquired in a business combination are capitalised at far value at the date of acquisiion Following inial recognition, finite life assets are
amortised on a straight-ine basis and indefinite life assets are not amorhised The amortisation expense 1s taken to the income statement
through operating expenses

The existing finite Iife INtangible assets have a residual value of nil and are amortised over therr estimated useful ives as follows

Customer contracts —over the life of the contract (between 1 and 33 years)
Right 10 operate TOC franchises  — over the Iife of the franchise (between 1 and 7 years)

Contractual relationships —over the Ife of the relatonship (between 8 — 20 years}
Brands —over the Iite of the brand (5 years)

Intangible assets with Indefinite ives are tested annually for mpairment The useful ives of finte Ife Intangble assets are examined on an
annual basis and adjustments, where apphcable, are made on a prospactive basis Finite iife assets are reviewed for imparrment where
indicaters of impairment exst

The Group's only indefirnite Iife ntangible asset 1s goodwill

Software

Computer software that 1s not integral to an item of property, plant and equipment Is recognised separately as an intangible asset and

1§ carmed at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated imparment losses Costs include software licences, consulting costs
attnbutable to the development, design and implementation of the computer software and Intermnal costs directly attnbutable to the
development, design and implementation of the computer software Costs In respect of traning are expensed as incurred Amortisation
15 calculated using the straight-ine method so as to charge the cost of the computer software to the iIncome statement over its estmated
useful Ife (3 to 7 years)

The carrying value of intangibles 1s reviewed for impaurment if events or changes In ¢reumstances indicate that the camying value may not
be recoverable
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Financial statements
Notes to the Consoldated Accounts continued

2 Accounting polictes continued

Goodwill

Goodwill on acquisition 1s inftally measured at cost baing the excess of the cost of the business combination over the Group's interest
in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, iabtities and contingent labilities Following iritial recognition, goodwaill 1s stated at histonc
cost less any accumnutated imparment If an acquisiion gives rise to an excess of the acquirer's interest in the net farr value of the
acquiree's identfiable assets, habiiies and contingent labilities over cost {previously referred to as negative goodwill), this s credited
immediately to the income statement

In accordance with IFRS 3, goodwill 1s not amortised  All goodwill 1s subject 1o an annual test of impairment and an impawment charge
recognised as required

Far value accounting adjustments are made In respect of acquisitions Far value adjustments based on provisional estimates are amended
within one year of the acquisition if required, with a corresponding adjustment to goodwill, In order to refine adjustments to reflect further
evidence gained post-acquisition

Wherg goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit and all or part of that un ts disposed of, the associated goodwill 1s included in the
carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on the disposal of the operation

Property, plant and equipment
All property, plant and equipment is stated at historic cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment tosses Under
the transitional arrangements of IFRS 1, the Group elected to deem the fair value of certamn revalued assets to be equivalent to cost

Land and buildings compnse mainly vehicle depots and garages, and offices Freshold land 1s not depraciated Other property, plant
and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis ovar therr estmated useful ives as follows

Freehold butdings — 30 to 50 years
Long leasehold property mproverments -1510 40 ysars
Public service vehicles -B1to 15 years
Plant and equipment, fixtures and fittings -3t 15 years

Useiul lives and residual values are reviewed annually and adjustments, where applicable, are made on a prospective basis Repairs and
maintenance are charged to the income statement dunng the financial perod in which they are incurred

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to anse from
the continued use of the asset Any gan or l0ss ansing on the derecognition of the asset 1s included in the income statement in the period
of derecognition

Impairment of non-financial assets

All non-current assets are reviewed for mpairment whenever events or changes 1n crcumstances iIndicate that the cammying amount may
not be racoverabie, except for ndefinite life ntangible assets and goodwill which are reviewed annually An impaiment loss 1s recognised
for the amount by which the carnang amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable amount which 15 the higher of an asset's far value less
costs to sell and its value in use For the purposas of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest level for which there are
separately identfiable cash inflows

In assessing valua in use, the estimated risk adjusted future cash flows are discounted to therr present value using a pre-tax discount rate
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money Impairment losses are recognised in the Income statement in expense
categories consistent wath the funcion of the imparred asset

Except for goodwll imparments, a review 1s made at each reporting date of any previous iImpaiment losses to assess whether they

no longer exist or may have decreased If such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount 1s estmated and any previously
recognised imparment 10ss 1s reversed only If there has been a change in the estmates used to assess the recoverable amount since
the last mpairment loss was recognised If that is the case the carmying amount of the asset 1s Increased, subject to a lrmit of the asset’s
net book value had no previous iImpairment 1oss baen recognised Such reversal is recognised in the iIncome statement Future
deprectation or amorhsation 15 then adjusted to allocate the assat's rewised carrying amount over its remaining useful economic life
Imparments to goodwilt cannot be reversed
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2 Accounting policles continued

Financial instruments

The Group determines the classification of its financial instruments at iniial recognition The Group classifies its financial assets in the
tollowing categones at farr value through profit or loss, loans and recevables, and avalable-for-sale The classification depends on the
purpose for which the financial assets were acquired

Financral assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at farr value through profit or loss are financial assets held for trading A financial asset 1s classified in this category
if acquired prnncipally for the purpose of selling in the short term Dervatives are also categonsed as held for trading unless they are
designated as hedges Asssts in this category are classified as current assets

Financial assets camed at far valua through profit or loss are intially recogrmsed at far value, and fransaction costs are expensed in the
income statement Gains or losses arising from changes in the farr value of the ‘financial assets at far value through profit or loss' category
are presented in the Income statement within finance costs in the pencd m which they anse

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted In an active market
They are included in current assets, except for matunties greater than 12 months after the balance sheet date which are classiied as
non-current assets The Group’s loans and recervables compnse ‘trade and other recevables' and ‘cash and cash eguivalents’ in the
balance sheet

Avatlable-for-sale financial assets

Avalable-for-sale financial assets are non-denvatives that are either designated in this category or not classified in any of the other
catsgenes They are included in non-current assets unless management intends to dispose of the investment within 12 months of the
balance sheet date

The Group's investments in entities that are not subsidianes, assoctatss or joint ventures are classified as avalable-for-sale financial assets
After intial recognition these assets are measured at far value with gains or losses baing recognised as a separate ccmponent of equity
until the mvestment 1s derecognised or the nvestment 1s determined to be imparred, at which time the previously reported cumulative gan
or loss 1s Included 1N the Income statement Where there 1s no active market for the Group’s investmants, farr value 1s determined using
valuation techniques including recant commercial transactions and discounted cash flow analyses In the absence of any other reliable
external information, assets are carried at cost or amortised cost as appropnate

The Group assesses at each balance shest date whether there I1s objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial assets

15 impaired In the case of equity securties classified as avalable for sale, a significant or prolonged decline In the far value of the security
below Its cost 1s considerad as an indicator that the secunties are impawred if any such evidence exists for avalable-for-sale financial
assets, the cumulative loss - measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current far value, less any imparrment loss
on that financial asset previcusly recognised in profit or loss — 1s removed from equity and recognised tn the income statement impairment
losses recogrised in the Income statement on equity nstruments are not reversed through the ncome statement

Financial habilities

Whaen a financial liability 1s recognised initally, the Group measures it at ts far value Financial habilties include trade payables, accruals,
other payables, borrowings and denvative financial instruments In the case of a financial ability not at far value through profit or loss,
an adjustment 1s made for transaction costs that are directly attnbutable to the 1ssue of the financial liability Subsequent measurement
depends on its classification as follows

Financial habilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial habilties classified as held for trading and denvative habilities that are not designated as effective hedging instrurments are
classified as financial labihties at far value through profit or loss Thesae liabilities are carned on the balance sheet at far value with gains
or lossas being recogrnised in the Income statement

Other
All other financial habilities not classified as far value through profit or 10ss are measured at amortised cost using the effective
nterest method
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Financial statements
Notes to the Consolidated Accounts continued

2 Accounting policles continued

Denvative financial instruments

The Group uses derivative financial Instruments such as foreign currency forward exchange contracts, fuel dervatives and interest rate
denvativas to hedge its nsks associated with foreign currency, fuel pnce and mterest rate fluctuations Such dervative financial Instruments
are inttialty recognised at farr value and subsequentty remeasured 1o far value for the reported balance sheet The fair value of foreign
currency forward exchange contracts, interest rate and fuel denvatives 1S calculated by reference to market exchange rates, interest rates
and fuel pnces at the penod end

The Group’s fuel denvatives are designated as cash flow hedges The portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument that 1s
determined to be an effective hedge 1s recognised in equity, and the ineffective portion in the Income statement The gains or losses
deferred in equity in this way are recycled through the Income statement in the same penod in which the hedged underlying transaction
or firm comritment 1s recognised in the income staterment

The Group's interest rate denvatives are designated as far value hedges The gain or loss on the hedging instrument 1 recognised
mmediatsly in the ncome statement The carrying amount of the hedged tem 1s adjusted through the income statement for the gain
or loss on the hedged tem attributable to the hedged nsk, in this case movements in the rnisk free interest rate

Foreign currency derivatives are used to hedge the Group's net investment in foreign currency denominated operations and to the extent
they are designated and effective as net investment hedges are matched in equity against foreign exchange exposure In the related assets
and labiities Gamns and losses accumulated in equity are included in the income statement when the foreign operation i1s partially disposed
of or sold Foreign currency forward contracts are also used to hedge transactional exposures These contacts are not hedge accounted
and all gains and losses are taken directly to the income statement

For derivatives that do not gualfy for hedge accounting, gains or Iosses are taken directly to the mcome staternent in the penod

Hedge accounting 1s discontinued when the hedging instrument expires, is sold, terminated, exercised, or no longer qualifies for
hedge accounting

Inventones
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value on a FIFO basis, after making due allowance for obsolete or slow
mowving tems

Pre-contract costs

Pre-contract costs associated with securing new rail franchises are expensed as incurred up to the point when a franchise 1s awarded
From this point In time, they are recognised as an asset and are expensed to the Income statement over tha Iife of the franchise Costs
associated with the commencement of all new contracts other than rall franchises are expensed as meurred

Trade and other receivables
Trade and other recevables are recognised and carned at ornginal inveice amount less an allowance for any uncallectable amounts
Doubtiul debts are prowded for when collection of the full amount 15 no longer probable, whilst bad debts are wnitten off when identrfied

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents as defined for the cash flow statement compnse cash in hand, cash held at bank with immedhate access, other
short term investrments and bank deposits with matunties of three months or less from the date of mception and bank overdrafts I the
consohdated balance sheet, cash includes cash and cash equivalents excluding bank overdrafts Bank overdrafts that have no legal nght
of set-off aganst cash and cash equivalents are included within borrowings in current kabiliies

Trade and other payables
Trade payables are recogrised intially at fair value and subssquently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method

Interest-beanng borrowings

All loans and borrowings are innally recogrised at cost being the net farr value of the consideration receved plus transaction costs that are
directly attnbutable to the 1ssue of the financial asset or hability After initial recognion, interest-beanng loans and borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effectve interest method
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2 Accounting policies continued

Insurance

The Group's policy 1s to self-insure high frequency clams within the businesses To provide protection above these types of losses the
Group purchases insurance cover from a selection of proven and financially strong insurers  The insurance provision 1 based on estimated
exposures at the year end principally for clams ansing in the UK and North Amenca prior to the year-end date, subject to the overall stop
loss within the Group's insurance arrangements The majonty of provisions will be utiised within & years, and the provision has been
discounted to take account of the expected tirming of future cash settlements

Pensions and other post-employment benefits
The Group has a number of pensicn schemes, both of a defined benefit and defined contnbution nature Full detalls are pronded In
nota 34

The balance sheet position in respect of defined benefit schemes comprises the net valus for each scheme of the present value of the
relevani defined benefi obligation at the balance shest date less the far value of plan assets The trustees complete a full actuanal
valuation tnennially, separately for each plan, but the obligation 1s updated annually for financial reporting purposes by independent
actuanes, using the projected unt crecit method The present value of the obligation 1s determined by the estmated future cash outfiows
discounted using interest rates of high quality corporate bonds which have terms to matunty equivalent to the terms of the related liability

The current service cost and gains and losses on settlements and curtalments are recogrised in staff pension costs within operating costs
In the Incoma statement Past service costs are included in operating costs where the benefits have vested, otherwise they are amortised
on a straight-line basis over the vesting period The finance elements of the pension cost, compnsing the expected return on assets of
funded defined benefit schemes and the interest on pansion scheme babilities, are also included in operating costs Actuanal gans and
losses ansing from experience adjiustments and changes In actuanal assumptions are charged or credited to other comprehensive Income
in the penod n which they anse

Our TOCs participate in the RPS, a detined benefit scheme which covers the whole of the UK rail industry This 1s partiioned into sections
and the Group 1s responsible for the funding of these sections whilst it operates the relevant franchtise In contrast to the pension schames
operated by most businesses, the RPS s a shared cost scheme, which means that costs are formally shared 60% by the employer and
40% by the employse A liability 1s recogrised In ine with ather defined benefit schemes in the Group, atthough this 1s offset by a franchise
adjustment so that the net liability represants the deficit that the Group expects to fund dunng the franchise term

The charges in respect of defined contnbution schernes are recognised when they are due The Group has no legal or constructive
obhgation to pay further contnbutions into a defined contribution scheme if the fund has insufficient assets to pay all employees benefits
relating to employee service in the current and pnor penods

Share-based payment

The Group awards equity-settled share-based payments to certamn employees, under which the Group receves services from employees
as consideration for equity nstruments {options) of the Group The far value of the employee services receved in exchanga for the grant
of the options is recognised as an expense The total amount to be expensed 1s deterrmined by reference to the far value of the options
granted, excluding the impact of any non-market service and performance vesting conditions {for example, profitabiity, sales growth
targets and remaning an employes of the entity over a specified time penod) Non-market vesting condiions ars Included tn assumptions
about the number of ophions that are expected to vest The tolal amount expensed is recognised over the vesting penod, which 1s the
peanod over which all of the specified vesting conditions are 1o be satisfied At each balance sheel date, the entity revises ds estimates

of the number of options that ars expected to vest based on the non-market vasting conditions It recognises the mpact of the revision
to onginal estimates,  any, in the Income statement, with a corresponding adjustment to equity

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligaton as a result of past events, It 1s probable that an
outflow of resources will be required 1o ssttle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount can be made Provisions are measured
at the Directors’ best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the balance sheet date, and are discounted to present
value where the effect 1s matenal using a pre-tax discount rate The armortisation of the discount 1S recognised as a finance cost

Contingent Labilities are obligations that anse from past events that are dependent on future events They are disclosed in the notes to the
accounts where the expected future outflow 15 not probable
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Financial staternents
Notes to the Consolidated Accounts continued

2 Accounting policies continued

Share capital, share premium and dividends

Where arther the Company or employee share trusts purchase the Company’s equity share capital, the consideration paid, including any
transaction costs, I1s deducted from total shareholders’ equity as own shares until they are cancslled or reissued Any consideration
subsequently receved on sale or re-1ssue 1s Included in shareholders’ equity

Dnidend distnbutions to the Company’s shareholders are recognised as a liability in the Group's accounts on the date when dwvidends
are approved by the Company's shareholders Intenm dvidends are recognised in the penod they are paid

Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations

Non-current assets (or disposal groups) are classified as assets held for sale when ther carrying amount 1s to be recovered principally
through a sale transaction and a sale 1s considered highly probable They are stated at the lower of carryng amount and tar value less
costs to sell f therr carmying amount 1s 1o be recoverad principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use

A discontinued operation 1s a component of the Group that has been disposed of, or i1s classified as held for sale and it erther rapresents
a saparate major ne of business or geographical area, 1s part of a plan to dispose of a separate major ne of business or geographical
area, or was an acqured subsidiary intended for resale The resutting profit or loss from discontinued operations 1S reported separately
in the Income staterment

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets onca classified as held for sale are not depreciated or amortised

Foreign currencies

The trading results of foreign currency denominated subsidianes, joint ventures and assocrates are translated into Sterling, the presentation
currency of the Group and functional currency of the parent, using average rates of exchange for the year as a reasonable approximation
to actual exchange rates at the dates of transactions

The balance shasts of foreign currency denominated subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates are transtated into Sterling at the rates

of exchange ruling at the year end and exchange differences ansing are taken directly to the translatton resarva In equity On disposal of

a foreign currency denominated subsidary, the deferred cumulative amount recogrised in the translation reserve (sincs 1 January 2004
under the transitonal rules of IFRS 1) relating to that entrty 1s recognised in the Income statement All other translation differences are taken
to the ncome statement, with the exception of differences on foreign currency borrowings and forward foraign currency contracts which
are used to provide a hedge against the Group net investments in foreign enterpnses These are taken drectly to equity until the disposal
of the net Investment, at which time they are recognised In the Income statement

New standards and interpretations not apphed
The IASB and IFRIC have issued the following standards, interpretations and amendments with an effective date after the date of these
financial statements

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Staternents (sffective for annual penods beginning on or after 1 January 201 3) - the standard establishes
the principles for the prasentation of consolidated accounts when an entity controls ene or more other entities

IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements (effective for annual penods beginning on or after 1 January 2013} - the standard determines the type of joint
arrangement by assessing the nghts and obkgations, and accounts for those nghts and abligations in accordance with that type of joint
arrangement

IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entihies (effective for annual penods beginring on or after 1 January 2013) — the standard sets
out the requirements to disclose information that enables users of accounis to evaluate the nature of, and nsks associated with, its
interests in other entities and the effects of these interests on its financial position, financial performance and cash flows

IFRS 13 Far Value Measurement {effective for annual perods beginning on or after 1 January 2013) - the standard defines fair value,
and a framework for measunng far valug

1AS 19 {revised) Employee Benefits (effective for annual penods beginning on or after 1 January 2013) - the standard will impact the
measuremnent of the vanous components representing movements in the defined benefit pension obligation and associated disclosures,
but not the Group’s total obligation K 1s ikely that following the replacement of expected retums on plan assets with a net finance cost
in the income statament, the operating profit for the penod will be reduced and accordingly other comprehensive iIncome Increased

IFRS @ Financial Instruments (effective for annual penods beginning on or after 1 January 2015) — the standard deals with the classification,
recognition and measurement of financial assets and habilities, but has yet to be adopted by the EU

The Directors assess that the standards and interpretations i1ssued but not yet effective are not Ikely to have a significant Impact on future
financial statements
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3 Exchange rates
The most significant exchange rates to UK Sterling for the Group are as follows

2012 212 2011 2011

Closingrate  Average rate Closing rate Average rate

US dollar 163 159 1565 161
Canadian doliar 161 159 158 t 58
Euro 123 123 120 115

If the results for the year to 31 December 201 1 had been retranslated at the average exchange rates for the year to 31 December 2012,
North Amencan Bus would have achieved normalised operating profit of £48 2m on revenus of £484 5m, comparsd to nomaksed
operating profit of £47 9m on revenue of £481 Om as reported, and European Bus & Coach would have achieved a nommalised operating
profit of £84 4m on revenue of £515 8m, compared to normalised operating profit of £90 1m on revenus of £551 1m as reported

4 Revenue
2012 2011
£m £m
Rendenng of serwces 1,828.0 22313
Rental Income 32 67
Revenug 1,831.2 22380
Finance ncoms 44 67
Total revenue from continuing operations 1,835.6 22447

§ Segmental analysis

The operating businesses are organised and managed separately according to the nature of the public fransport services they provide
and the gecgraphical market they operate In Commentary on the segments 1s in¢luded N the Business review

Analysis by class and geography of business

Inter- Inter-
Extemal segment Segment Extarnal segment Segment
revenue sales revenue revenue sales revenue
2012 2n2 2012 2011 2011 20Mm
m £m £m £m £m £m
UK Bus 268.8 0.2 2690 2631 G4 2635
UK Coach 2540 14 2551 254 5 46 2591
Rl 1951 - 1961 6883 - 688 3
North Amencan Bus 9783 - 578.3 481 0 - 4810
European Coach & Bus 5350 - 5350 5511 - 5511
Inter-segment sales elimination - {1.3) {1.3) - 50 50
Total revenue 1,831.2 - 11,8312 22380 - 2,2380

Inter-segment sales represent ral replacement serwices provided to Ral by UK Bus and UK Coach Inter-segment trading 15 undertaken
on standard arm's length commercial terms Due to the nature of the Group's businesses, the ongin and destination of revenue is the

same No single external customer amounts to 10% or more of the total revenue

www nationalexpressgroup com

97

#Batens o uo Buueasag

MBNBI SSBAUISNY

SIUSLUBIEIS FIOUBLL




Financial statements

Notes to the Consolidated Accounts continued

5 Segmental analysis continusd

Intangible Intangible

amortsation amortisation

Normalsed and Normmalised and
operatng  excephonal Segment operating excephonal Segment
profit terns result profit temns resuft
2012 2012 2012 2011 2011 2011
£m £m £m £m £m £m
UK Bus M1 @N 304 327 - 327
UK Coach 206 (2.5) 181 349 - 349
Raul 27 (177 90 434 a7 417
North Amencan Bus 591 (259} 332 479 {33} 448
European Coach & Bus 83.8 (41.8) 420 801 (45 8} 443
Central functions {12.4) 2.0 (151) (146 - (14 6)
Project costs - - - 92 - (82
Operating profit from continuing operations 211.9 (94.3) 1176 2252 (50 8) 174 4

Share of post-tax results from associates and

joint ventures 14 14
Net finance costs (49.2) (46 4}
Proftt before tax 69.8 1294
Tax charge (8.5) (26 8)
Profit for the year 61.3 1026

During 201 1, one-off project related costs of £9 2m were charged within operating costs £5 2m related to the settlerment and associated
legal expensas of a warking time claim in North Amenca, the remainder related to external fees i response to the Competition Commession
enquiry nto the UK bus industry, costs associated with the acquistion of Petermann and professional fees relating to the strategic and
Board debate ahead of the 2011 Annual General Meeting
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5§ Segmental analysls continued
Intangble asset amortisation and operating exceptional tems can be analysed by class and location of business as follows

Intangible Operatmg
asset  exceptional

amortisabon tems Total
22 212 m2
m £m £m
UK Bus - 3.7 3.7
UK Coach - 25 25
Rail 01 176 177
North Armencan Bus 111 14.8 259
European Coach & Bus 404 14 418
Central functions 0.9 2.6 27
Total 517 426 943
Operating
Intangibie asset exceptonal
amortisation tems Total
2011 2011 2011
£m £m £m
UK Bus - - -
UK Coach - - -
Ral 17 - 17
North Amencan Bus 33 - 33
European Coach & Bus 458 - 458
Central functions - - -
Total continued operations 508 - 508
Discontinued operations (note 11) - - -
Total 508 - 508

In the year to 31 December 2012, exceptional costs of £16 3m were incurred in relation o UK ral bids This includes the costs of bidding
for the Great Waestern and Essex Thameside ral franchises In addmon, £1 3m was incurred in bidding for a number of regional rail
opporturities in Germany

Exceptional costs of £13 4m were incurred In relatton to the acquisition and integration of school bus and transit businesses in North
Amenca This includes the acquisitions of Petermann Partners Inc, the Thompson Transit joint venture and Forsythe Transportation Inc
Further details of these acquisiions are disclosed in note 19 1n addition, £3 Om of business development costs have been incurred across
the Group as part of a major investment to create other new contract and passenger business pipelnes

Exceptional restructunng and rationalisation costs of £8 6m have been incurred, prmanty within UK Bus, UK Coach and Spain

There were no exceptional costs Incurred dunng 2011
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Financial statements

Notes to the Consolidated Accounts continued

5 Segmental analysis continued

Assets, habilities and capital expenditure can be analysed by class and geography of business as follows

Of which Of which

non-current Capttat™ nen-current Capsal™
Assets assets® Liabillhes expendrture Assets assets™ Liabiites  expendture
2012 2012 2012 2012 2011 201 2011 2011
m £m £m m £m £m £m £m
UK Bus 1429 1245 (1151) 247 1377 1173 (105 6) 240
UK Coach 667 53.0 {36.5) 8.6 721 531 (43 4) 128
Rail 147 24 47 6) 0.2 716 113 (186 4} 23
North American Bus 8780 769 4 {203.9) 58.9 7201 856 9 (168 6) 631
European Coach & Bus 1,1725 1,076.3 (159 7) 431 1,244 4 1,128 3 (150 4) 545
Central functions 340 47 (57 3) 03 321 01 (67 7) 01
Unallocated 1253 - (911 6) - 1538 - (745 3) -
Intercompany aimination {18 8) - 188 - {14 7) - 147 -
Total 2,4153 2,050.3 (1,512.9) 133.8 24181 19670 {1.4527) 156 8

* Non-current assets only nclude mtangible assets, property, plant and equipment
The net capital expenditure, after allowing for the movements in capital creditors, disposal of fxed assets and payments to acquire ntangibles,

I

was £125 4m (2011 £145 Bmy}

Capital expenditure compnses property, plant and equipment additions as disclosed above and in note 15 In 2012 software intangible
assets of £6 6m (2011 £1 3m) were acquired as disclosed in note 14

Unallocated assets and liabilities compnse the {ollowing tems

Unallocated  Unallocated Unallocated Unallocated

assets fiabilities assets labiftes

2012 2012 2011 2011

£m £m £m £m

Cash and cash equivalents 728 - 925 -
Other debt recevables 1.0 - 07 -
Current tax 0.8 (19.9) 09 ien
Non-cumrent tax - - - 5 4)
Avalable for sale nvestments 71 - 76 -
Denvatve financial assets/llabiliies) 358 (5.2 521 (2 6)
Borrowings, excluding finance leases - (801.1) - 6219
Didend payable - (0.6) - 05
Deferred tax 7.8 (84.8) - 952
Total 1253 (911 6) 1538 {745 3)
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6 Operating costs
202 2011
£m £m
Cost of nventones recognised in expense 670 860
Staff costs (including exceptonal cost of £5 8m (2011 €nil 7655 8167
Depreciaton  — Owned assets {including exceptional costs of £2 6m (2011 £ni)) 900 928
- Leasad assets 19.8 127
Amortisation of fixed asset grants 02 (19
Operating lease charges Rolling stock capital element 310 1012
Rolling stock non-caprtal element 50 456
Public servica vehicles 40 43
Other 60 76
- Plant and equipment 460 15687
Fixed track access 149 573
Other 244 333
- Land and buldngs 393 906
Foreign exchange differences (04) o9
Other charges {including exceptional expense of £34 2m (2011 £ni) 6359 7777
Operating costs before intangble asset amortisation 1,661.9 20128
Intangible asset amortisation 517 508
Total operating costs 1,713 6 20836

The TOCs have fixed track access contracts with Network Rall Infrastructure Limited for access to the ratway infrastructure (tracks,

stations and depots) The TOCs also have contracts under which rolling stock 1s leased The capital efement of the rolling stock lease
charge 1s based on the purchase price, capital funded refurbishments and medifications The non-capital element of the lease charge
ncludes heavy mantenance charges and charges based on mileage

An analysis of fees paid to the Group’s auditors 1s provided below

2012 201

£m £m

Fees payable to the Company’s audtors for the audit of the consolidated and parent Company accounts 0.3 03
Fees payable to the Company’s auditors and s associates for other services

The audn of the Company's subs:dianes 0.6 06

Other services 0.3 —

1.2 09
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Financial statements
Notes to the Consolidated Accounts continued

7 Employee beneflt costs
{a) Staff costs

2012 201
£m £m
Wages and salanes 657.3 704 4
Social secunty costs 96.1 956
Pension costs (note 34} 69 17
Share-based payment (note 8) 5.2 50
765.5 B167

The average number of employess, including Executive Directors, dunng the year was as follows
2012 201
Managenal and adrministrative 3,697 3318
Operatonal 35,937 35,603
39,634 38,921

Inctudsd In the above costs are the following costs related to the Group’s key management personnel who comprise the Directors of the

parent Cormpany

2012 2011
£m £m
Basic salanes 10 10
Benefits 03 03
Performance-related bonuses 11 t2
Share-based payment 15 10
39 35
{b) Share schemes

Datails of options or awards outstanding as at 31 December 2012 under the Group's share schemes are as follows
Number of Number of Future
share optons  share options Exercise exercise
2012 201 prce penods
Exacutve Share Option Plan 35,508 57,042 207p-354p 2013-2014
Long Term Incentive Plan 6,986,836 5,093,870 il 2013-2018
Share Matching Plan 1,089,251 1,026,550 nl 2013-2015
Deferred Annual Share Bonus Plan 1,325,234 1,075,762 nil 2013-2015
WMT Long Serwce Option Scheme 283,628 296,361 129p-604p 2013-2020
Sharesave Scheme - 923,603 n‘a nfa
Exacutive Deferred Bonus Plan 127,248 88,968 nil 2013

9,847,708 8,562,156
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7 Employee benefit costs continued

{b) Share schemes continued

(i} Executive Share Option Plan

The Company operates tax approved and unapproved executive share option schemes open to Group employees In senior managemert
positions Options granted by this Plan have a maximum term ot 10 years The options vest after three ysars subject to the satisfaction

of certain performance cntenabased on the achievemant of a target growth in earmings per share If the performance cntena are not met
when iniially tested, in some instances they may be reassessed dunng the term of the option From 2005 executive share option grants
have been replaced by awards made under the Long Term Incentive Plan, as descnbed in (1) There are no cash settlement alternatives

M Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP)

The LTIP was introduced in 2005 on the recommendation of the Remuneration Committee to replace the annual award under the
Executive Share Option Plan to Executive Directors and to certain senior emiployees Under the LTIP, a Performance Award o acquire a
spectfisd number of free shares may be made to the employee or Director In addition, a Matching Award may be made, as descrnbed in
(i) Performance conditions are attached to the vesting of Performance and Matching Awards based on both the achievement of target
growth 1n eamings per share and the relative total sharsholder return (TSR} of the Company against a comparator group of companies

If the parformance conditions are mat, Performance and Matching Awards vest on the third annversary of the grant date and remain
exercisable for a penod of up to six months following the vasting date There are no cash setilement alternatives at present

In 2011 and 2012 HMRC approved share option plans were added as an appendix to the LTIP (‘Approved Plan’} A participant can only
hold an opticn under the Approved Plan over shares with a market value of up to £30,000 at the grant date Options under the Approved
Plan are granted in tandem with the usual options under the LTIP The options are structured such that on exercise, the proportion of the
gain in respect of the first £30,000 worth of shares (as measured at the date of grant) will be delivered under the Approved Option and the
LTP option shall be scaled back to deliver the remaimng gross gain that would have been delivered had the option been granted alone
The excess shares under the LTIP will be forferted such that both awards will never become fully vested

During 2012, a supplamentary five year long term incentive award was granted to the Chiet Exacutive subject to targets hnked to the
Group's five year plan This compnsed a Performance Award fwith no matching element) If performance conditions are met, the
Performance award will vest on the fifth anniversary of the grant date and remain exercisable for a peniod of up to twehve months following
the vesting date There are no cash settlement alternatives at present

(i} Share Matching Plan (the 'Pian’)

The Share Matching Plan was introduced in 2005 as part of the new Long Term Incentive Plan arrangements described in (i) Under the
Plan, a Matching Award to acquire a specified number of shares for free may be made d the employee pledges a number of shares as
nvestment shares which are then matched by the Company on up to a 2 1 basis with the number of shares that could have been
purchased with the gross-tax equivalent of the amount invested The Matching Awards vast on the third anniversary of the grant date
and remain exercisable for a period of up 10 six months following the vesting date There are no cash settlement alternatives at present

(iv) Deferred Annual Share Bonus Plan

The Deferred Annual Share Bonus Plan 1s a discretionary scheme which forms part ot the bonus arrangements for certan senior
employees Under the schems, part of any bonus may be received in cash whilst the remainder I1s used to make an award of il cost
options which vest three years after the award date The options must be exercised within six months of vesting There are no cash
settlernent altematives at present

{v) West Midlands Travel Ltd (WMT) Long Service Option Scheme

The WMT Long Service Option Scherne utilses a fixed amount of shares set aside for this purpose following the acguisiion of WMT n
1995 and i1s open to all WMT employees who have been in service for more than 25 years The options are exercisable between three
and ten years following the grant date There are no cash settlement altematives

(w1} TWM Share Incentive Plan (the ‘SIP’)

The TWM SIP exssts for the benefit of WMT employees At the end of the year, 965 {2011 908} Natonal Express Group PLC shares
were held for the benefit of the Trustee Dmidends on shares held in the SIP forfeted shares account are waived There are no cash
settiement attermatives
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Financial statements
Notes to the Consolidated Accounts continued

7 Employee benefit costs continued

(b} Share schemes continued

{vi)) Savings Related Share Option Scheme (Sharesave Scheme)

The National Express Group approved Sharesave Scheme enabled eligble UK employees, including Executive Directors, to acquire shares
in the Company through monthly savings over a three-year penod, at the end of which they also recenved a tax free bonus The savings
and borus could be used to purchase shares at a discounted option price set at the beginning of the savings contract The options
matured three years after the grant date and could be exercised for a penod of up to six months after this date There are no cash
seftlement aiternatives

fvin) Executive Deferred Bonus Plan

As detaled in the Directors’ remuneration report, the Committee considered it appropnate for bonuses awarded in respect of the calendar
year to be deferred for a penod of one year and that these would vest, subject to the terms of the award and the relevant Director's
continuing employment The deferred forfeitable ordinary shares are awarded under the terms of The National Express Group Executive
Deferred Bonus Plan which was adopted by the Board of the Company on 10 March 2009

The pnncipal terms of awards under the Executive Deferred Bonus Plan are summansed below

e awards under the Plan may be cash awards, condihonal awards or forfertable shares awards,
* awards normally vest one year from the date of grant, subject 1o the relevant Director’s continued employmant with the Company,

+ the Committee may decide that participants shall be entitted to recewve a benefit determ:nad by reference to the value of the dmidends
that would have been paid on the vested shares in respect of dividend record dates occurrng during the penod between the grant
date and the date of vesting, and

+ the awards will normally lapse on cessation of employment save in certain compassionatse 'good leaver’ circumstances (eg death or
cdisability)

In the event of a vanation of the share capiial of the Company, the Committee may make such adjustments to the awards as it considers
appropriate
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8 Share-based payment

The charge In respect of share-based payment transactions included in the Group’s income statement for the year is as follows

2012 2011
£m £m
Expense ansing from share and share option plans - continung operations 52 50

There were exceptional costs included within the charge dunng the year of €0 1m (2011 £nil}

COunng the year ended 31 December 2012, the Group had eight share-based payment arrangements, which are described in note 7(b)

fBarens no uo BuuenpQ

For the following disclosure, share opttons with a nil exercise price have been disclosed separately to avoid distorting the weightisd average
exercise prices The number of share options in existence dunng the year was as follows

MEV] SSUISNg

EIUBLUBIE]S [E1ouBULY

2012 2011
Weighted Weighted
average average
Number exercise Number exercise
of share price of share prce
optons p options ]
Options without a nil exercise price
At 1 January 1,277,006 445 1,460,728 442
Granted dunng the year 26,660 252 14,140 242
Forferted dunng the year (9,708) 424 (133,651) 410
Exarcised dunng the year (29,877) 146 (2,735) 143
Expired dunng the year (944,945) 475 (61,576) 434
Outstanding at 31 December! 319,138 368 1,277,006 445
Exercisable at 31 December 211,343 430 247,755 M1
Options with & ru exercise pnce
At 1 January 7,285,150 ml 6,116,309 il
Granted dunng the year 4,754,977 nil 4,143972 nil
Forferted dunng the ysar (333,117) nil (1,245,344) il
Exercised dunng the year (1,954,978) nil (1,172,720) nil
Expired dunng the year (223,462) il (657,067) gl
Qutstanding at 31 December 9,528,570 nil 7,285,150 nil
Exercisable at 31 December 197,069 444,461
Total outstanding at 31 December 9,847,706 8,662,156
Total exeraisable at 31 Decemnber 408,412 £92,216

' There are no options (2011 21,342) for which no expense has been recogrsed in accomdance with the transiional provisions of IFRS 2 as the options
were granted before 7 November 2002 Although there has been subsequent modification to the options, no IFRS 2 charge has been recogrised as the

amounts are not matenal

The options outstanding at 31 December 2012 had exercise prices that were between 128p and 604p (2011 between 129p and 604p})
aexcluding options with a ril exer¢ise pnce The range of exercise pnees for options was as follows

Exercise pnoe (0) 2012 2011
0-300 123,278 127,710
300-350 12,141 33,483
350-850 183,717 1,115,813

319,136 1,277,006

The options have a waighted average contractual ife of one year (2011 one year) Opticns were exercised regularty throughout the year

and the weighted average share price at exercise was 225p (2011 241p)
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8 Share-based payment continued

The weighted average far value of the share options granted dunng the year was calculated using a stochastic model, with the following

assumptions and inputs

Sharse opticns without nil exertise pnce Share options with nil exercise pnoe

2012 2011 2012 2011

Risk free interest rate 0 50%-1.16% 270% 0.50%-0.55% 130%-1 44%
Expected volatility 36.8%-400% 36 4% 40.0%-44.5% 51 5%-51 6%
Peer group volatity - - 38.5%-45.5% 55 1%-57 0%
Expected option Ife in years 3-6 years 8 years 3-5years 3 years
Expected dvdend yeld 397%-4.16% 3 60% 4 16%-4.56% 347%-364%
Waeighted average share pnce at grant date 239p 242p 225p 242p
Weighted average exercise price at grant date 252p 242p nil gl
Waeighted average far value of options at grant date 49p S56p 171p 153p

Expenence to date has shown that approximatsly 24% (2011 24%;) of options are exercised earty, prnncipally due to leavers This has been

incorporated into the calculation of the expected option Iife for the share options without nil exercise price

Expected volatiity In the table above was dstermined from hisioncal volatility over the last eight years, adjusted for one-off events that were

not considered to be reflectve of the volatiity of the share price going forward The expected dividend yeld represents the dividends

declared in the 12 months preceding the date of the grant dwided by the average share price in the month preceding the date of the grant

For share ophons granted duning the year under the LTIP, the TSR targets have been refiected in the calculation of the farr value of the

ophons above
9 Net finance costs

2012 2011

£m £m

Bond and bank interest payable {47.4) 46 2)
Finance lease interest payable 4.7 (0]
Other interest payable (0.2 02
Unwind of provision discounting (1.3) an
Finance costs {53 6) 63 1)
Other financial ncome 4.4 87
Net finance costs {49.2) (46 4)
Of which, from financial nstruments
Cash and cash equivalents (16 on
Financial liabiities measured at amortised cost (46 9) (40 2)
Dervatives used for hedging 40 38
Loan fee amortisation {2.4) 22)
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10 Taxation
{a) Analysis of taxation charge in the year
2012 2011
£m £m
Current taxation
UK corporaton tax 16 132
Overseas taxation 70 79
Current incoma tax charge 86 211
Adjustments with respect to pnor years — UK and overseas (0.5) {1 1)
Total current Income tax charge 8.1 200
Deferred taxaton (note 27}
Ongnation and reversal of temporary differences — centinuing operations (03) 68
Adjustiments with respect to pnor years — UK and overseas 07 -
Deforred tax charge 04 68
Total tax charge 8.5 268
The tax charge i1s disclosad as follows
Tax charge on profit befors intangible asset amortisation and exceptional tems 327 415
Tax credit on mtangible asset amortisation and exceptional tems {24.2) {14 7)
85 268
Tax credt on ntangble asset amortisation and exceptional items 15 analysed as follows
Tax credt on ntangble asset armortisation {151) (14 7)
Tax credit on exceptional terns {9.1) -
{24.2) {147)
{b) Tax on items recognised in other comprehensive income or equity
2012 201
£m £m
Current taxation
Credit on exchange movements offset in reserves - 70
- 70
Deferred taxation
Deferrad tax (charge)/credit on share-based payment | {0.1) 0t
Deferrad tax credit on actuanal losses 7.2 04
Deferred tax credit/{charge} on cash fiow hedges 49 (o]5)}
Deferred tax credit/{chargs) on exchange 16 41}
136 42
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Financial staternents
Notes to the Consoldated Accounts continued

10 Taxation continued
(c) Reconciliation of the total tax charge
2012 201

fm £m
Accounting profit before income tax 69.8 1294
Notional charge at UK corporation tax rate of 24 5% (2011 26 5%) 171 343
Non-deductible goodwill impamment and intangible amortisation 07 05
Recognition of a deferred tax asset for previously unrecognised tax losses (3.9) (12
Effact of reduction in UK tax rates {note 10g) 1) 04
Prior year adustments within current and deferrad tax 02 (11
Spanish renvestment relef and other tax credits {16) 09
Effect of overseas tax rates 68 57
Tax on Spanish goodwill and intangibles (5.8) 62
Oversaas financing deductions (¢1) 58
Non-deductible expendiure 42 19
Total tax charge reported i the income statement (note 10a) 8.5 268

(d) Temporary differences associated with Group investments

No deferred tax (2011 Entl} 1s recogrused on the unramitted earnings of subsidianes, associates and joint ventures, as the Group has
determined that thess undistributed proiits will not be distnbuted in the near future As a resuli of changes to tax legistation in 2009,
overseas dndends received on or after 1 July 2009 are generally exempt from UK corporation tax, but may be subject to withholding tax
There are no temporary differences (2011 £nil) associated with investments in subsidianes, associates and jomnt ventures, for which a
defarred tax hability has not been recognised but for which a tax bability may anse

{e) Unrecognised tax losses

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax loss carry-forwards to the extent that the realisation of the related tax benefit aganst
future taxable profits s probable UK and overseas deferred tax assets that the Group has not recognised in the accounts amount to
£9 4m (2011 £40 3m}, which anse In tax junsdictions where the Group does not expect to generate sufficent sutable future profits

In addition, there are capital losses of £5 9m (2011 £7 1m) which have not been recognised, racoverability of which 1s dependent

on capital gans ansing

The £5 9m of unrecognised caprtal losses will expire at vanous dates from 2013 through to 2016, as follows

2012
fm
2013 01
2014 35
2015 13
2016 10
59

(f) Deferred tax included in the income statement
2012 2011
£m £m
Accelerated capnal allowances T.2 68
Other short term temporary differences 1.2 36
Utihsabion of losses (5.6) 36
Deferred tax charge 04 68

Details on the balance sheet position of deferred tax are included in note 27

(g) Factors that may affect future tax charges

Qn 21 March 2012, the UK Chancellor of the Exchequer announced a 1% reduction in the UK corporation tax rate to 24% effectve from
1 Apnl 2012, along with two subsequent reductions to 23% from 1 Apnl 2013 and 22% from 1 Apnl 2014 On 5 December 2012, In the
Chancellor’s Autumn Staterment, a further reduction to 219% on 1 Apnl 2014 was announced

At the balance sheet date, a rate of 23% (2011 25%) was substantively enacted The change in rate from 25% to 23% has resulled Ina
tax credit of £0 1m to the ncome statement

The praposed changes to reduce the UK corporation tax rate from 23% to 21% on 1 April 2014 will have a similar effect in future years
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11 Discontinued operations

In 2012 and 2011 there were no matera movements ansing from discontinued operations

12 Dvidends paid and proposed

2012 2011
£m £m

Declared and paid during the year
Ordinary final dmdend for 2011 pad of 6 5p per share 332 305
Ordinary intenm dradend for 2012 of 3 15p per share 161 153

49.3 458
Proposad for approval {not recognised as a hahilty at 31 December}
QOrdinary final dvdend for 2012 of 6 6p per share (2011 6 5p per share) 33.7 333
13 Eamings per share

2012 2011
Basic eamnings per share 11.8p 18 9p
Nomalised basic eamings per share 25.5p 27 0p
Diluted earmings per share M7 18 8p
Normalised diuted eamings per share 25 4p 26 9p

Basic eamings per share Is calculated by dwding the eamings attnbutable to equity shareholders of £60 Om (2011 £101 2m) by the

waighted average number of ordinary shares in 1ssue during the year, excluding those held by employee share ownership trusts and those

held as treasury shares which are both treated as cancelled

For diluted earmnings per share, the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue duning the year 1s adjusted to include the weighted
average number of ordinary shares that would be 1ssued on the conversion of all the ditutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares

The reconciliation of basic and diluted weighted average number of ordinary shares s as follows

2012 201
Basic weighted average shares 510552927 509,388,824
Adjustrnent for diutive poterihal ordinary shares 1,628,921 1,556,324
Diuted weighted average shares 512,179,848 510945,148

The normahsed basic and norrmahsed diluted earmings per share have been calculated in addition to the basic and diluted earnings per
share required by 1AS 33 since, in the opimon of the Directors, they reflect the underiying performance of the business’ operations more

appropriately
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Financial statements
Notes to the Consolidated Accounts continued

13 Eamnings per share continued
The reconchation of the sarmings and earnings per share to ther normalised equivalent 1s as follows

2012 2011
BasicEPS  Diksted EPS Basc EPS  Diuted EPS
£m P P £m P p
Profit atinbutable to equity shareholders 600 118 17 1012 199 198
Intangible asset amortisation 517 101 101 508 100 100
Exceptional tems 426 83 83 - - -
Tax relief on goodwill and exceptional tems (24.2) 47 47 (147} 29 29
Nomnalised profit from continuing operabons
and atinbutable to equity sharehoiders 130.1 255 254 1373 270 269
14 Intangible assets
Customer Rail Contractual  Finite lfe
confracts franchise Brand Software relationships assets Goodwill Tota)
£m £m fm £m £m £m m £m
Cost
At 1 January 2012 41179 9.9 - 23.0 570 5078 1,0829 1,590.7
Acquistions 543 - 2.3 34 - 600 6586 1256
Addmions - - - 3.2 3.2 64 a1 95
Transfer from property, plant
and equipment - - - 30 - 30 - 3.0
Drsposal - (9.9) - - - {9.9) - 99
Foreign exchange (12.1) - - o7 (1.5) {14.3) (30.3) {44 6)
At 31 Decernber 2012 460 1 - 23 31.9 587 553 0 1,113 1,674.3
Amortisation and
imparment
At 1 January 2012 2723 97 - 18 - 283.8 844 3782
Charge for year 436 02 03 43 a3 51.7 - 517
Drsposals - (9.9 - - - 99) - (9.9)
Foreign exchange 71) - - {0.4) {01) 7 6) (10} (8.6)
At 31 December 2012 308.8 - 03 15.7 32 3280 834 4114
Net book value
At 31 December 2012 151.3 - 2.0 162 555 2250 1,0379 1,262.9
At 1 January 2012 1456 0.2 - 11.2 570 214.0 998.5 1,212.5

Duning the year the Directors revised therr estimate of the useful economic Iife of the Group's contractual retatonships to 8-20 years
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14 Intangible assets continued

Customer Rail Finte ife  Contractual Indefirte
contracts franchise Software assets  relabonships Goodwill I assets Totat
£m £m 'm £m £m £m £m £m

Cost
At 1 January 2011 4263 99 220 458 2 578 1,104 4 1,162 2 1,6204
Addrions 26 - 13 39 - 04 04 43
Forergn exchange (110 - 03 {113 {08) 219 (22 7) (34 0)
At 31 December 2011 179 99 230 4508 570 1,0829 1,139 9 1,5007
Amortisation and
impamnment
At 1 January 2011 2334 80 93 2507 - 855 855 3362
Charge for year 466 17 25 508 - - - 508
Forexgn exchange 77 - - 79 - (11 (11} 88
At 31 Becember 2011 2723 97 118 2938 - 844 844 3782
Net book value
At 31 December 2011 1456 02 112 1570 570 998 5 10555 12125
At 1 January 2011 1929 19 127 2075 578 1,0189 10767 1,284 2

Dunng 2011 and prtor years, contractual relationships were deemed to have an indsfinute Iife and together with goodwill were allocated o
ndmdual cash-generating units for annual Imparment testing on the basis of the Group's business operations The carrying valus of these

assets by cash-generating unit 1s as follows

2012 201
Contractual 2012 Cortractual 2011

relabonships Goodwill Total relationships Goodwil Total
£m £m fm £m £m £m
UK Coach - 13.2 132 - 132 132
North Amencan Bus 35.5 3305 3650 387 2761 3158
European Coach & Bus 20.0 694.2 714.2 173 7092 7265
55.5 1,037 9 1,093.4 570 g98 5 1,0555

In 2011 and prior years, the useful econcmic lives of contractual relatonships in North Amencan Bus and European Coach & Bus wers
deemed to be indefinite where historical expenence had shown that these contracts were consistently renewed Durng 2012, the Drrectors
rewised ther estimate of the useful economic Iife of the Group's contractual relationships to 8-20 years reflecting changes in legislation in
the contract tendenng process The customer contract and rall franchise intangible assets are amortised over the finite duration of the
contract or franchise as appropnate All amortisation charges in the year have been charged to operating costs

The recoverable amount of indefinite life intangible asssts has been determined based on a valua in use calculation using cash flow
projections based on financial budgets and forecasts approved by senior management covenng a five year penod The assumptions,
including growth rates and operating margins, are based on historical expenence, detaled budget plans as well as management’s
assessment of current market and economic conditions Growth has then been extrapolated forward from the end of the forecasts
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Financial statements
Notes to the Consolidated Accounts continued

14 Intangible assets continued
The calculation of valua in use for each group of cash-generating units 1Is most sensitive t¢ the assumptions over discount rates and the
growth rate used to extrapolate cash flows beyond the five year pernod of the management plan

The key assurnptions used for the cash-generating units, are as follows

Growth rate used to

Pre-tax ciscount axtrapolate cash flows

rate appledto beyond five year penod of

cash flow projectons management plan

2012 2011 2012 2011

UK Coach 119% 98% 2.0% 20%
North Amencan Bus 11.5% 11 3% 25% 20%
European Coach & Bus 90% 90% 2.0% 20%

The value in use of the North Amencan Bus dwsion exceeds its carning amount by £55 4m (2011 £31 5m) Sensitmty analysis has been
completed on each key assumption in isolation, and this indicates that the value in use of the division will be equal to its carrying amount
following an increase In the discount rate of 40 basis points (2011 30 basis points) or a reduction in the growth rates used to extrapolate
cash flows beyond the five year penod of the management plan of 150 basis points (2011 100 basis points)

The value in use of the European Coach & Bus division exceeds its carrying amount by £47 4m (2011 £176 8m} Sensitivity analysis has
been completed on sach key assumption in isolation, and this indicates that the value in use of the dvision will be equal to its camying
amount following, an increase in the discount rate of 30 basis points (2011 90 basis ponts} or a reduction in growth rates used to
extrapolate cash flows beyond five year pencd of management plan of 130 basis points (2011 410 basis points) The decrease in
headroom and increased sensitmty reflects the Spanish macro-economic nsks, which have been incorporated into the future cash flow
assumptions (see Principal nsk and uncertainties section for further details regarding how Group management recognises, priontises and
puts in place measures to mitigate these nsks})

it 1s beheved that any reasonably possible movement on key assumptons will not lead to an iImparment of goodwilt allocated to UK Coach

Sensitivities to other assumptions

In North Amencan Bus, a reduchon in operating profit margin in perpetuity of 60 basis points (2011 50 basis points) will resutt in the value
n use of the division being equal to its carrying amount In European Coach & Bus a reduction in operating profit margin in perpetuity of 80
basis points (2011 260 basis points} will also result in the value in use of the dvision being equal o rts carmying amount

The Directors consider the assumphons used to be congistent with the histoncal performance of each cash-generating unit and to be
realistically achievable in ight of economic and industry measures and forecasts

112 Natonal Express Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2012




15 Property, plant and equipment

Plant and
Long leasehold Public  equipment,
Freehold land property service fidtures
and buildings improvements vehicles and fittngs Total
£m £m £m £m £m
Cost
At 1 January 2012 951 4.2 1,025.5 1736 1,298.4
Additions 3.7 0.2 1176 123 1338
Acquistions of businesses 1.2 - 57.3 11 596
Transfer to intangible assets - - - B30) (3.0)
Disposals (0.5) 01) {30.1) (17.8) {48.5)
Foreign exchange (10) 0.2 {30.4) (1.9 (33.5)
At 31 December 2012 98.5 41 1,139.9 164 3 1,406.8
! Depreciation
j At 1 January 2012 130 20 401.3 1276 5439
Charge for the year 21 05 950 122 1098
Disposals {0.2) - (10.4) (10 5) (21 1)
Foreign exchange 05 {0.2) {12.3) 12 {13.2)
At 31 December 2012 154 23 473.6 1281 6194
Net book value
At 31 December 2012 831 18 666.3 36.2 787.4
At 1 danuary 2012 821 22 624.2 460 754.5

Cost of disposals includes £12 5m of divested assets relating to the acquisition of Petermann, as descnbed in note 19
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Financial statements
Notes to the Consolidated Accounts continued

15 Property, plant and equipment continued

Plant and
Long leasehold equipment,
Freehold land property  Public senvice fixtures
and bulldings  Improvements vehicles and fitings Total
£m £m £m £m em
Cost
At 1 January 2011 952 37 9068 1657 1,714
Addrtions 19 05 1397 147 156 8
Acquistions of businesses - - 15 - 15
Disposals - - (152 {(54) (20 6)
Foretgn exchange 20 - 73 {14) (10 7)
At 31 December 2011 951 42 1,0255 1736 1,298 4
Depreciation
At 1 danuary 2011 112 186 3279 1166 457 3
Charge for the ysar 19 05 867 164 1056
Disposals - - (107 47 (15 4)
Foreign exchange {01} [(OR}] {2 6) 07 {35)
At 31 December 2011 130 20 401 3 127 6 5439
Net book value
At 31 December 2011 821 22 6242 460 7545
At 1 January 2011 840 21 5789 491 714 1
Propenty, plant and esquipment held under finance lease agreements are analysed as follows
2012 2011
£m m
Land and buildings - cost 13 14
- depreciation {0 1) 01
Net land and builldings 12 13
Publc serice vetucles - cost 2554 2456
— depreciation (75 1) 61 5)
Net public service vehicles 1803 1841
Plant and equpment - cost 02 c9
— depreciation 0.2) 08
Net plant and equipment - 01
Total net book value 1815 1855

Finance leased assets and assets under hire purchase contracts are pledged as secunty for the related finance lease and hwe purchase
liabilties
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16 Subsidiaries

The companes listed below include all those which principally afiect the resuits and net assets of the Group A full list of subsidianes, joint
ventures and associates will be annexed to the next Annual Retum to Companies House The pnncipal country of operation in respect of

the companies below 1s the country in which they are incorporated

National Express Group PLC 1s the beneficial owner of all the equity shars capital, either iisslf or through subsidianies, of the companies
The Group's tran passenger services in the UK are operated through franchises awarded by DfT Ral, as delegated by the UK

Government

Incorporated in England and Walas

Natonal Express Uimited Administration and marketing of express coach services in Great Britan
Eurchnes (UK} Limited Administration and marketing of express coach services to Europe
Aurinks Arport Sericas Limited Operation of coach services

Natonal Exprass Rail Replacement Lmited Operation of coach serces

The Kings Ferry Limited Operation of coach serices

Woest Mdlands Travel Limited Operation of bus senices

¢2¢ Rail Limited Operation of tran passenger sevices

Incorporated in Scotland

Tayside Public Transport Co Limited (trading as Trave! Dundee) Operation of bus senices

Incomporated in the US

Durham School Serices LP QOperation of school bus serices

Patermann LLC Operation of school bus senaces

YCN Transportaton LLC Operation of school bus serces

The Jont Venture of Thompson Transtt Inc and YCN Transportation LLC
National Express Transit Services Corporation

Operation of transit bus senices
Operation of transit bus services

Incorporated in Canada

Stock Transportation Limited

Operabon of schook bus senices

Incorporated i Span

NEX Contirertal Holdings SL*
Tury Express SA
General Tecnica industnal SLU*

Holding company for operating comparues
Holding comparty for operating comparves
Holding company for operating companies

Incomorated in Morocco

GAT Groupe Alsa Transport SA (Marrakeshy) Operation of bus services
TVAM Transport de Voyageurs en Autocar Maroc SA (Marakesh) Operation of bus services
ACA Alsa City Agadir SA Operation of bus senaces

The man holdng companes of the ALSA Group
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Fmancial statements
Notes to the Consolidated Accounts continued

17 Derivative financial assets and avatlable for sale Investments

2012 2011
fm £m
Available for sale iInvestments - Unlisted ordinary shares 7.1 76
Denvative financial instruments - Interest rate denvatives 310 237
Denvatve financial nstruments — Fuel denvatves 01 73
Denvative financial iInstruments included in non-cument assets 3.1 310
Denvative financial nstrurments — Fue! dervatives 46 131
Denvatve financial instruments — Foreign exchange danvatves 01 B0
Derivative financial Instruments Included in current assets 47 211
Further information on the Group's use of fuel, interest rate and foreign exchange denvatives is included in note 31
Available for sale investments
2012 2011
£m £m
Cost or valuation and net book value
At 1 January 76 78
Disposals {0.3) -
Foreign exchange (0.2) 02
At 31 December 71 76
The principal avallable for sale investments are as follows
2012 2011
Proportion Proportion
held held
Name Country of registration Class of share % %
Metros Ligercs de Madnd, S A (MLM) Spain Ordinary shares 15 15
Vanous investments within ALSA and Continental Auto Spain Ordinary shares 1-16 1-16

116 National Express Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2012



18 Investments accountad for using the equity method
Investments accounted for using the equity method are as follows

2012 2011
fm £m
Joimt ventures 22 20
Associates 22 46
Total rwestments accounted for under the equity method 44 66
The Group's share of posi-tax results from associates and joint ventures accounted for using the equity methed 1s as follows
2012 2011
fm £m
Share of joint venture’s profit 0.1 01
Share of asscciates' profit 1.3 13
Total share of resutts from associates and joint ventures 1.4 14
{a) Investrments i joint ventures
The Group's Interests in jaint venturas are as follows
Proportion held
Name Country of regstraton Activty %
Ibero-Eurosur S L Span Holding company of Deutsche Tounng 20
The financial Information of this joint venture 1s summansed below
Ibaro
2012 2011
Share of joint ventura’s batance sheet and results £m £m
Non-current assets 3.5 35
Current assets - —
Share of gross assats 3.5 35
Non-current labxlites (0.9) (12)
Current liabilities (04) {03)
Share of gross liabities (1.9) {1 5)
Share of net assets 2.2 20
Revenue 0.2 01
Share of profit 01 01

The carrying amount of the Investment in joint ventures matches the Group’s share of the net assets
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Financial statements
Notes to the Consclidated Accounts continued

18 Investments accounted for using the equity method continued
{b) Investments in associates
The Group's Interests In associates are as follows

Country of Proporton held

Nama regstrabon

%

European Coach & Bus associates Spain

20-50

European Coach & Bus's associates are generally involved in the operation of coach and bus services, management of bus stations and

similar operations

The aggregate amounts related to associates are summansed below

2012 2011
Share of associates' balance sheets and results £m £m
Non-current assets 31 47
Current assets 39 59
Share of gross assets 70 106
Non-current kabilies 2.2) @4
Current labiities {2.6) (36
Share of gross labiles (4.8) 60
Share of net assets 22 46
Total revenue 127 156
Share of profit 13 13
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19 Business combinations
(a) Acquisttions

2012 acquisitions %
i} Petermann Partners Inc @
On the 1 May 2012, in the United States, the Group acquired the entire share capital of MGOP Petermann Holdings 2 LLC and, directly g
and indrrectly, the entire share capital of Petermann Partners In¢ (‘Petermann’) The business operates transportation for students, -
including transportation for special needs students 2
Farr value Far value §
Book value adustments total
£m £m fm
Intangible assets - 423 423 @
Property, plant and equpment 474 83 39.1 %
Irvertory 09 - 09
Trade and other recenvables 137 - 13.7 %
Cash and cash equivalents 76 - 76
Trade and other payables {105) 7 6 (181)
Deferred tax asset 130 {i16) 14
Net assets acqurred 721 148 86.9
Goodwill on acquishion 552
o g
Represented by g
Consideration 1230
Payment for cash acquired in the business 76
Worlang capital adjustment 39
Caprtal expenditure adustrmenst 79
Proceeds from asset sale 39
Related loss on cash flow hedges (net of tax) 36 J
1421 E
Add back tax on loss on cash flow hedges 11 a
Less net cash acquired {76) g
Net cash outflow 1356 &

The acquisition balance shest has been adjusted 1o reflect far value adjustments The intangible asset adjustment recogrises custormer
contracts and relationships acquired with Petermann (€38 3my}, trademarks (£2 3m) and the value of non-compste agreements (£0 7m}
The customer contracts are amortised over the Ife of the contracts, whichis on average 15 years, tha trademarks are amortised over 5
years being the length of expected continued use of the trademarks and the non-compate agresments over 3 years

The tangible fixed asset adjustment largely compnses a far value wnte down of the carmying value of buses acquired, along with a write
down of certain software assets and leassehold improvements The trade and other payables adjustment compnses provisions for
nsurance and anvironmental clams

The net consideration pad, including adjustments, was £138 5Sm Within this amount was a £3 9m receipt for the sale of certain assets in
Texas and Washington that were reguired to be divested by the Departrnent of Justice as a prerequisite for completing the purchase of
Petermann In addition, a cash ocutflow of £4 7m arcse from hedging the acquisiion using US dollar foraign exchange denvatives Cash
acqured in the business was £7 6m, therefore the net cash outflow for the Group was £135 6m

In addrtion £5 3m of acquisitton costs were incumed and have been expensed, of which €0 6m was expensed in 2011

Fram the date of acquisition the acquired business contnbuted £8 7m to operating profit If the combination had taken place at the
beginning of 2012 the Group operating profit in 2612 would have increased by £5 2m and revenue from continuing operations i 2012
would have increased by £39 6m

Included n the goodwill recognised above are certain ntangible assets that cannot be separately entified and measured due to their nature
This Includes control over the acquired business and increased scale in our North Amencan school bus operations Managsment believes that
goodwill represents value to the Group for which the recognition of a discrete intangible asset is not pernitted The majonty of the value was
assassed to compnse of synergy benefits expected to be achieved by merging the business into the Group's North Amencan operations
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19 Business combinations continued

il Other acquisitions

On the 23 March 2012, In the United States, the Group acquired the entire share capiial of The Joint Ventura of Thompson Transit Inc and
YCN Transportation LLC (*JV") The JV operates part of The Ride service for the Massachusetts Bay Transit Authonty, which provides
transpartation services under the Amencans tor Disability Act The tarr value of net assets acquired was £11 2m Consideration was

€16 7m, resulting in geedwill of £5 5m There was £0 2m of cash acquired in the business and £2 6m of deferred consideration, therstore
the net cash outflow was £13 9m

On the 23 March 2012, In the United States, the Group acquired the entire share capital of YCN Transportation LLC {'YCN') which
operates Spacial Education School Transportation Services in the City of Boston The tair value of net assets acquired was £2 6m
Canstderation was £4 7, resulting in goodwill of £2 1m There was £0 2m of cash acquired In the business, therefore the net cash
outflow was £4 5m

On the 24 July 2012, 1n the Unrted States, the Group acquired the trade and assets of Forsythe Transportation Inc which operates fixed-
route transit contracts for Adington County (Virginia) and the Westmoratand County Transit Authonty (Pennsylvania) Consideration was
£3 1m, resulting in goodwill of £1 Om

A number of small controlling Interests wera acguired within the Group’s Spanish dvision, ncluding Compafia Navarra De Autobuses SA
{Pamplona), Biobide {Bilbao) Urban Transport, Automowviles Casado and Alsa City Sightseeng in Morocco The combined cash pad for
thess businesses was £0 8m Included in the acquired balance shests was cash of £1 Om, therefore the net cash nflow was £0 2m

In addition, there wera bank borrowings and lease obligations in the acquired businesses of £1 4m

£0 6m of deferred consideration was paid relating to the 2010 acquisition of school bus operator Vogel Bus Company Inc

2011 acquisitions
During the year the Group paid £0 4m to acqurre a controlling mterest n Dainco S A, a company that operates coach services in Spain
Goodwill ansing on the acquisiion was £0 4m included in the acquired balance sheet was £1 Om of bank borrowings

(b) Disposals
2012 disposals
There were no business disposals in the Group In 2012

2011 disposals
Thers were ne business disposals in the Group 1n 2011 However, during the year £0 9m of deferred consideration was received In relaticn
1o the 2008 disposal of the Group’s Portuguese transport business

20 Non-current assets — trade and other recevables

2012 2011
fm £m
Trads recevables 11 47
Prepayments and accrued income 10 -
Other recevables 35 12
56 59

21 Inventones
am2 201
£m £m
Raw matenals and consumables 183 188

The movement on the provision for slow mowving and obsolete Inventory 1s Immaterial
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22 Current assets — trade and other receivables

2012 20114

£m £m

Trade recevables 1304 1558
Less provision for mpairment of recevables (10.1) (10 2)
Trade recenvables — net 120.3 1456
Amounts due from associates and joint ventures (note 36) ) 0.9 10
Amounts due from other related parties (note 36} 0.9 10
Other recenvables 38.2 a7 2
Prepayments and accrued income 345 533
194.8 2481

An analysis of the provision for mparment of recervables 1s provided below

2012 201

£m £m
At 1 January (10.2) {14 3)
Utiised in the year 01 41
At 31 December (10 1) {102

Included within trade recenvables are balances with a carrying value of £13 8m (2011 £27 6m) which are past due at the reporting date
The Directors believe that based on the ongoing contractual relationships with predominantly government bodies that these amounts will

be collected

23 Cash and cash equlvalents

2012 20Mm

£m £m

Cash at bank and in hand Mn7 648
Ovemight deposts 28.6 250
Other short term deposits 25 27
Cash and cash equivalents 72.8 925

Cash and cash equivalents include restricted balances of £6 7m (2011 14 0m) held by the Radl subsidianes (TOCs} Under the terms of the
tran franchise agreements, cash can only be distributed by the TOCs erther up to the value of retaned profits or the amount determined by
prescnbed hquidity ratios The restricted cash represents the balance that Is erther not avalable for distnbution or the amount required to

satisfy the iquidity ratio at the balance sheet date

Cash at bank and in hand eams interest at floating rates based on dally bank depostt rates Short term deposits are made for varying
penods of betwesn one day and three months depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group and earn interest at the

agreed short term floating deposit rate Tha far value of cash and cash equivalents Is equal to the carrying value

24 Current habilittes — trade and other payables

2012 2011

£m £m

Trade payables 133 1 1686
Amounts owed to associates and joint ventures (note 36) 0.8 10
Ameounts owed to other related parties (note 36} 36 07
Other tax and social securty payable 238 17 2
Accruals and deferred income 923 1828
Other payables 94.8 961
3484 466 4

Trade payables are non-interest beanng and are normally settled on 30 day terms and other payables are non-interest bearing and have
an average term of two months Included within other payables are deferred fixed asset grants from govemment or other public bodies

of £1 4m (2011 £2 6m)
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25 Other non-current liabllities

2012 201
£m £m
Defarred fixed asset grants 3.0 37
Other liabiliies 2.9 12
59 49
26 Provisions

Eurostar

onernus

Clams comract
provision! provision? Cther® Total
£m £m £m £m
At 1 January 2012 442 9.0 17 649
Charged to the income statement 215 - 17 232
Utitsed in the year {25.2) 90) 7.9 42.1)
Amortisation of discount 13 - - 13
Acqurred in business combinations 99 - 10 109
Exchange difference (1) - ©1 12
At 31 December 2012 506 - 64 570
Current 31 Decermber 2012 223 - 64 287
Non-current 31 December 2012 28.3 - - 28.3
506 - 64 570
Current 31 December 2011 214 a0 105 409
Non-current 31 December 2011 228 - 12 240
44 2 90 117 649

! The clams prowision anses from estimated exposures at the year end for auto and general iabidy, workers compensation and emaronmental claims,

the maorty of which will be uthsed in the next five years It compnses provisions for claims ansing mn the UK and North Amenca

Z A provision was recognsed in 2006 for the Group's onerous conract for Eurastar with ICRRL This was settled in 2012 wath a final payment of £9 Om

3 QOther includes amounts provided for restructunng actvities across the Group and dilapidation provisions n Rail
When the effect 1s matenal, the provisions are discounted to their net present value

27 Deferred tax

2012 2011

fm £m
Net deferred tax habity at 1 January (952} (84 1)
Charga to income staternent (0.4 6 8)
Credit/(charge) to cther comprehensive Income or equity 138 42
Exchange differences 30 14
Acquired in business combinations 20 {15
Net deferred tax hablity at 31 December {77.0) {95 2)

Based on current capital nvestment plans, the Group expects to be able to claim capital allowances in excess of depreciation

n future years at a similar leve! to the current year

Deferred tax assets and liabilties within the same junsdiction have been offset
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27 Deferred tax continued

2012 2011
Deferred tax assets £m £m
Accelerated tax depreciation (6.1) -
Losses camed forward 103 -
Other short term temporary differences 3.6 -
Total 7.8 -

2012 201
Deferred tax habies £m £m
Accealerated tax deprecation (158.3) {151 7)
Losses camed forward 421 301
Other short term ternporary ditferences 34 264
Total (84 8) (95 2)
28 Borrowings and derivative financial llabllities

2012 2011

£m £m
Non-current
Bank loans 37 55
Bonds 5900 583 4
Finance lease oblgations 1271 1292
Other debt payable 66.0 03
Non-current borrowings 786.8 7184
Fuel denvatves 22 24
Non-current dervatve financial instruments 22 24
Non-current bomowing and denvatve financial labilities 7890 7208
Current
Bank loans 1109 24
Bonds — accrued interest 292 299
Finance lease obiigations 276 221
Other debt payable 13 04
Current borrowings 169.0 548
Fuel dervatives 25 -
Foreign exchange denvatives 0.5 02
Current dervative financal instruments 3.0 02
Current borrowings and dermvative fnancial iabilihes 172.0 550
An analysis of intergst-bearing loans and borrowings is provided in note 29 Further information on dervative financial instruments is
provided In note 31
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Financial statements
Notes to the Consolidated Accounts continued

29 Interest-bearing borrowings
The effective interest rates on loans and borrowings at the balance sheet date were as follows

2012 Effectve 2011 Effectve
£m Mahurty nterest rate £m Maturty nterést rate

7 year Stering bond 360.1 January 2017 6.54% 3516 January 2017 654%
10 year Stering bond 2299 June 2020 6.85% 2318 June 2020 6 85%
Bonds 5900 5834
Accrued interest — bonds 292 209
European bank loans 79.4 August 2014' LIBOR + 145% -
European bank ioans 28.4 February 2013 12% -
European bank loans 5.8 2013-2017 502% 63 2012-2016 4 95%
European bank loans 1.0 2013-2017 EURIBOR + 2.85% 16 2012-2016 474%
Bank loans 1146 79
US dollar finance leases at fixed
rate 1276 2013-2019 2.34% 1173 2012-2018 267%
European finance leases
at fixed rate 60 2013-2019 5.88% 81 2012-2017 609%
European finance leases
at floating rate 45 20132018 EURIBOR +1.21% 58 2012-2017 EURIBOR + 1 07%
Sterling finance leases
at fixed rate 16.7 2013-2019 4 76% 201 2012-2018 4 76%
Fnance leases 154.7 1513
Euro Private Placement 652 August 2021 4.55% -
Accrued interest — Private
placerment 1.2 -
Eurc loans 0.9 2013-2016 07 2012-2014
Other debt payable 67.3 o7
Total 955.8 7732

' This date s the uttimate matunty date of the syndicated credtt facilty
Dunng 2012, the Group issued a €78 5m Private Placement, repayable in August 2021 at a fixed rate of 4 55%

Under the terms of the £1bn EMTN programme, there 1s a change in control put option such that, upon a changs of control event,
any holder of any MTN may require the Company to redeem or purchase that MTN

Details of the Group's interest rate nsk management strategy and associated interest rate dervatives are ncluded in notes 30 and 31

The Group 1s subject to a number of financial covenants in relation to its syndicated credn faciiies which, if contravened, could result
In its borrowings under the tacility becoming immediately repayable These covenants specify maximum net debt to EBITDA and minimum
EBITDA to net interest payable
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29 Interest-bearing borrowings continued
The following table sets out the camynng amount, by matunty of the Group's interest beanng borrowings

<1year 1-2years 2-3years 3-4 years 4-5 years >S5 years Total
As at 31 Decernber 2012 £m £m £m fm £m £m £m
Fixed rate
Bank loans (31.0) (1.4) (12) (0.6) - - (342)
Bonds - - - - (360.1) {229 8) (590.0)
Finance leases (26 1) (32.1) (20.9) (186) (28.2) {24.3) (150.2)
Other debt payable {13) (0.3) (05 - - (65 2) {67.3)
Floating rate
Cash assets 728 - - - - - 728
Bank loans (79 9) 03 02 - - - (80.4)
Finance leases (1.5) (12} {(11) (0.5) (0-2) - 4.5)
<1 year 1-2 years 2-3 years 3-4 years 4-Syears > 5 years Total
As at 31 December 2011 £m £m £m £m em £m £m
Fixed rate
Bank loans {15} (14) (15) (13 {06) - 63
Bonds - - - - - {613 3) 6133
Finance leases {20 3) (21 8} (34 8 (14 9) {127) (41 0} (145 5)
Other debt payable 04) 02 01 - - - 07
Floating rate
Cash assets 825 - - - - - 925
Bank loans 09 03} 03 (O} - - {1 6)
Finance leases (18 {12) (10 (11) {05) {02 (58)

30 Financial nsk management objectives and policies
Financtal risk factors and management
Tha Group's multinational operations and debt levels expose it to a vanety of financial nsks, of which the most matenal are market nsks
relating to fuel pnces, foreign currency exchange rates, interest ratas and the avallability of funding at reasonable margins The Group has
In place a nsk management programme that seeks to manage the impact of these nsks on the financial performance of the Group by using

financial instruments Including borrowings, committed facilities and forward foreign exchange, fuel and interest rate dernvatives

The Board of Directors has delegated the responsibility for implementing the financial nsk management policies laid down by the Board

to the Group Finance Director and Group Treasurer The pokcies are implemented by the Group Treasury department with regular

reporting to the Group Finance Director on its activities
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Financial statements
Notes to the Consolidated Accounts continued

30 Financial risk management objectives and policies continued

Foreign currency

The Group has major foreign operations in the US, Canada and Span and as a resutt 1s exposed to the movements in foreign currency
exchange rates on the translation of these foreign currency denominated net assets and earmings These movements can have a significant
impact on the Group's reported results The Group seeks to manage this foreign currency exchange movements nsk by aligning its foreign
currency denominated kabilities with the EBIT generated in each currency, such that some protection is afforded {o the net debt EBITDA
covenant within the Group's core borrowing facility This 1s achieved by a combination of foreign currency borrowings and finance leases,
and entenng into denvative financial nstruments such as cross currency interest rate swaps and foreign exchange swaps At the year end,
the Group had outstanding foreign exchange dervatives of €50 Om and US$50 Om, swaps of US$B0 5m, €5 Om, C$23 3m and finance
leases of US$207 2m and €13 Om

Denvatrve financial instrurents are designated as net investment hedges of foreign currency assets The effective portion of the gan or
loss on the hadga Is recogrised In the statement of comprehensive Income and recycled to the income statement at the same tme as the
underiying hedged net assets affect the ncome statement Any ineffectiveness 1§ taken to the Income statement

The table below demonstrates the sensitivity of the Group's financial instruments to a reasonably possible change in foreign exchange
rates, with all other variables held constant This would affect the Group's profit before tax and translation reserve The effect on the
translation reserve represents the movement in the translated vatue of the foreign currency denominated [cans and change in far value
ot cross-currency swap contracts These movements would be ofiset by an opposite moverment in the translated value of the Group's
overseas net investments It 1s estmated that a 10% change n the comesponding exchange rates would result in an exchange gan or
loss in the translation reserve of £19 1m

2012 2011

Effect Effact on Effect Effecton

Strengthening/ on profit transiation on profit transtaton

{weakening) before tax reserve before tax reserve

As at 31 December N currency £m £m £m £m
US dollar 10% - {8.0) - 15
Euro 10% - (116) - {196)
Canadian dollar 10% - 05 - 09
US dollar (10)% - 80 - (15
Euro {10% - 11.6 - 196
Canadian dollar {10)% - (0.5) - 09

Interest rate nsk

The Group 1s exposed to movements In interest rates on both interast-bearing assets and labilites It 1s the Group's policy to maintan an
appropriate balance betwean fixed and floating interest rates on borrowings in order to provide a level of certainty to Interest expense in the
short term and to reduce the year on year impact of interest rate fluctuations over the medium term To achieve the desired fixed/floating
ratio, the Group has entered into a saries of Interest rate swaps that hava the effect of converting fixed rate debt to floating rate debt The
net effect of these transactions was that as at 31 December 2012 the proporton of Group net debt at floating rates was 37% (2011 16%)

The table below demonstrates the sensiivity of the Group’s financial Instruments to a reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all
other vanables held constant, on the Group's profit before tax and on the Group’s hedging reserve

The sensiivity analysis covers all floating rate financial iInstruments, including the interest rate swaps If the nterest rates applicable to
floating rate instruments denominated n Sterling ware Increased by 100bps, i 1s estimated that the Group's profit before taxation would
decrease by approximately £1 6m 1f the interest rates apphicable to floating rate instruments denominated in US$ were increased by
50bps, 1t 1s estimated that the Group's profit before taxation would increase by approximately £0 1m If the interest rates applicable to
floating rate instruments denominated in Eure were increased by 75bps, it 1s estimated that the Group's profit before taxation would
reduced by £0 Sm The analysis assumes that the amount and mix of fioating rate debt, ncluding finance leases, remans unchanged from
that in place at 31 December 2012
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30 Financial risk management objectivas and policles continued

am2 2011

Increase/ Effect on Effect on Effect on Effect on

{decrease) profit hedging profi hedging

n bass before tax reserve betora tax resenve

As at 31 Dacember ponts £m £m &m m
Sterling 100 (16) - (13} -
US dollar 50 01 - - -
Euro 75 (0.5) - - -
Stering {100) 16 - 13 -
US dollar (50) 01 - - -
Euro (75) 0.5 - - -

Commodity prices

The Group 1s exposed to movements In commodity prices as a result of its fuel usage It s the Group's policy to hedge this exposure

n order to provide a level of certanty as to its cost in the short term and to reduce the year on year impact of price fluctuations over the
mediwm term This s achieved by entening into fuel dervatives At 31 December 2012, the Group had hedged approximately 100% of tts
2013 expected usage and 91% of its expected usage in 2014 (see the Finance Director's review for further details)

The table below demonstrates the effect of a reasonably possible vanation in fuel pnces, with all other vanables held constant, on the far
value of the Group’s financial Instruments and accordingly on the Group's profit before tax and on the Group's hedging reserve

The sensitivty analysis includes all fuel dervatives  The effect on the hedging reserve anses through moverments on the farr value of the
Group's fuel dsrivatives For these derivative contracts the sensitivity of the net far value to an immediate 20% increase or decrease
in all pnces would have been £40 9m at 31 December 2012 The figure does not Include any corresponding econemic advantage or
disadvantage that would anse from the natural business exposure which would be expected to offset the gan or loss on the denvatives

012 2011

Effect on Effect on Effect on Effsct on

Increase/ profit hedging profit hedging

{dacrease} before tax reserve before tax reserve

As at 31 December In pnce £m £m Zm m
Sterling denominated ULSD 20% - 149 - 116
US dollar denominated heating oil/diess! 20% - 96 - 121
Euro denomnated ULSD 20% - 184 - 134
Sterling denominated ULSD (201% - (14 9) - {11 6)
US dollar denominated heating oldiessl (201% - 96 - (121
Euro denominated ULSD {20/% - {16.4) - (134)

Credit nsk

The maxirmum credit nsk exposure of the Group 15 the gross camying value of each of its financial assets This nsk 15 miigated by a number
of factors Many of the Group's principal customers, suppliers and financial nstitutions with which it conducts business are publc (or
quasi-public) bodies, both national (DfT Rail and Network Rail in the UK) and local (school boards in North Amenca, municipal authorties

in Span and Moroceo, Transport for Londen and Centroin the UK) The Group does not consider these counterparties to pose a
significant credit nsk Outside of this the Group does not consider it has significant concentrations of credit sk The Group has
implernentad policies that require appropnate credit checks on potential customers before sales commence

The only elements of the Group's financial assets which are not impatred but are past due are certan trade recevable items An ageing
of the assets which are past dus 1S Included in the table below In terms of trade recevables that are neither impared nor past due, there
are no Indications as at the year-end reporting date that the debtors will not meet their payment obligations {see Risk and nsk management

saction for detalls of how management manages this process}
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Financial statements
Notes to the Consolidated Accounts continued

30 Financial nsk management objectives and policies continued
Qi which not mpaired and past due n the following penods

Cf which
nesther
Camying mpaired Less than Between Between
amount nor past due 30days 30and60days 61and90days Over 90 days
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Trade receivables at 31 December 2012 1214 967 94 47 1.7 8.9
Trade recenvables at 31 December 2011 1503 908 265 102 48 180

biquidity nsk

The Group's liguidity nsk 1s managed centrally by the Group Treasury department with operating units forecasting ther cash requirements
The Group actively maintains a mixture of long term and medium term committed faciliies that are designed to ensure the Group has
sufficient avallable funds to meet current and forecast funding requirements In managing the iquidity nisk, the Group has access to a range
of funding sources through the banking and capital markets

At 31 December 2012, the Group had committed bank borrowing and finance lease faciliies of £616 2m (2011 £620 Sm} The Group has
a £500m committed unsecured revolving bank facility, matunng in August 2014, of which £419 3m was unused at 31 December 2012
(2011 £500m} Letters of credit Issued to support Insurance retentions were £38 5m (2011 £30 8m)

The table below summanses the matunty profile of the Group's financial labilities at 31 December 2012 based on the contractual
undiscounted cash flows including interest cash flows As such the amounts in this table will not agree to the carrying amounts disclosed
in the Balance Sheet or other Notes The table includes cash fiows assoctated with denvative hedging instruments Their amounts reflect
the maturity profile of the farr value llabiity where the mstrument will be settled net, and the gross ssttiement amount where the pay leg
of a derrvative will be settled separately to the receive leg

Less than

On demand 1year 1-Syears > § years Total

Year ended 31 December 2012 fin £m fm £m fm
Bank loans - 1126 38 - 1164
Bonds - 368 4971 2697 803.6
Finance lease obligations - 207 1353 127 1777
Other debt payable - 38 186 76.8 92.2
Trade and other payables - 3470 29 - 349.9
- 5209 6507 3592 1,539.8

Foreign exchange denvatves - 04 - - 0.4
Interest rate denvatves - (56) (214 47 317
Fuel denvatves - neg 14 - (0.5)
- 71) {20 0) 47) (318

Less than

On demand 1 year 1-5 years > 5 ygars Total

Year ended 31 December 2011 £m £m £m £m £rn
Bank loans - 24 55 - 79
Bonds - 368 1471 6565 8404

Finance lease obfigatons - 312 929 450 1691
Other debt payable - 04 01 02 07
Trade and other payables - 463 8 12 - 4850
ICRRL onerous contract obligation - 90 - - 90

- 543 6 2468 7017 1,492 1

Foreign exchange denvatives - 80 - - (10}
Interest rate demvatves - {4 0} (123} (85 (24 8)
Fuel dervatives - (16 5) 67 - (22 2)
- {28 5) (180) (8 5) (55 0}
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30 Financlal risk management objectives and poficies continued

Caprtal nsk management

The Group seeks to adopt efficient financing structures that enable it to use its balance sheet strength 1o achusve the Group's objectives
without putting shareholder value at nsk The Group's capital struciure compnses its equity {refer to the Group Staterment of Changes

n Equity} and its net debt {refer to note 37)

The increase n the Group's net debt from £633 7m to £828 2m (excluding accrued interest) 1s explained in the Finance Director’s review
Information about the financial covenants in relation to the Group's borrowing facilities Is included in note 29

31 Financial Instruments (including cash, trade receivables and payables)
Far values
The table below dlustrates the far values of all financial assets and llabilities held by the Group at 31 December 2012

Loans and recaivables are non dernvative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market They
ars measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate msthod and the carrying value in all cases approximates to the fair value

Avallable tor sals Investments are non-denvative assets that are erther designated as avalable for sale, or are not classified as loans and
recevables or held to matunty investments The Group’s avalable for sale investments have no active market, and in the absence of any
other rebable external information are carned at cost or amaortised cost which approximates to the farr value

The far value of dervaives 1s esther determined by the third-party financial institution wrth which the Group holds the instrument, in ine
with the market value of smilar financial instruments or by use of valuation techniques using market data Dervatives, other than those
designated as effective hedging instruments, are classified as farr value through profit or loss and are camed on the balance sheet at ther
far value with gains or losses recognised in the Income statement Denvatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge
are camed on the balance sheet at ther far value For cash flow hedges and hedges of net Investments in foreign operations, the effective
porhon of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument 1s recogmsed directly in other comprehensive inceme, while the neffective portron

15 recognised in the iIncome statement Amounts taken to other comprehensive Income are transferred 10 the iIncome statement when the
hedged transaction aftects profit or loss or when the foreign operation 1s sold or partially disposed For far value hedges, all gains or losses
are recognised in the Incorme statement

Denvatives are the only instrument which the Group holds at far value The farr value measurement of these instruments 15 categonsed
within the Level 2 {ie the fair values are derved based on observable market inputs), N accordance with IFRS 7

The Group's bonds are held at a hybnd amortised cost with a fair value adjustment  After intial recogntion at fair value, the bonds are
measured at amortised cost using the eifective interest rate method A portion of the bonds are designated as the hedged iterm in an
effective fair value hedging relationship  As such the camying valus of this portion is adjusted for changes in far vatue attributable to the nsk
being hedged Thus net carrying value will differ 1o the far value depending on movements in the Group's credit nsk, movements in interest
rates on the un-hedged portion and unamortised fees

Ali other labilities including finance teases, banks loans, trade and other payables and other debt payable are held at amortised cost
After initial far value recognition, these instruments are measured at amortised cost using the effective interast rate method The carmying
value of these liabilities approximatas to the far value
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Financial statements
Notes to the Consolidated Accounts continued

31 Financlal instruments (inctuding cash, trade recseivables and payables) continued

Liabiltes
Available- Denvatves measured at At far value
Loans and for-sale used for amortsed through
Classificabion of financtal mstruments receivables assets hedging cost profitorloss Total
As at 31 December 2012 £m £m £m £m em £m
Assets
Investments - 71 - - - 71
Fuel dervatives - - 47 - - 47
Foraign exchange denvatves - - 01 - - 01
Interest rate dervatves - - 310 - - 310
Cash and cash eguivalents 728 - - - - 728
Trade and other recevablas 1651 - - - - 1651
2379 71 358 - - 280.8
Liabilities
Bank loans - - - {114 6) - {114.6)
Bonds including accrued mterest - - - (619.2) - (619.2)
Finance lease obligations - - - (154 7) - {(154.7
Other debt payable - - - 673) - (87.3)
Fuel dervatives - - @47 - - “.n
Foreign exchange denvatves - - (05) - - 0.5
Trade and other payables - - - (349 9) - (349.9)
- - 52 13057 - (1,310.9)
Avalabie- Denvatves Liabxibes At far value
Loans and for-sale used for measured at through
Classification of financal instruments recewvables assets hedging amorhsed cost profit or loss Total
As at 31 December 2011 £m £m £m £m £m £m
Assots
Irvestments - 76 - - - 76
Fuel demvatives - - 204 - - 204
Foreign exchange denvatives - - 80 - - 80
Interest rate denvatves - - 237 - - 237
Cash and cash equvalents 25 - - - - 925
Trade and other recevables 2007 - - - - 2007
2932 76 521 - - 352 9
Liabiliies
Bank loans - - - 79 - {79
Bonds including accrued interest - - - 6133 - {613 3)
Finance lease obkgations - - - (151 3} - {151 3)
Other debt payable - - - 07 - o7
Fuel dervatves - - 24 - - (2 4)
Foreign exchange denvatves - - 02 - - {02)
Trade and other payables - - - {485 Q) - {465 0}
ICRRL onerous contract obligaton - - - Q0 - 90}
- - 26 (1,247 2) - (1,249 8)

Other recevables and other payables are to be ssttled in cash in the currency they are held in

In accordance with IAS 39, ‘Financial Instrurments Recogrtion and Measurement’, the Group has reviewed all contracts for embedded
dervatives that are required to be separately accounted for No embedded denvatives have been dentified
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31 Financiat instruments (including cash, trade receivables and payables) continued

The Group assesses at each year-end reporting date whether a financial asset or group of financial assets 1s impared in the financial year
2012 there was no objective evidence that would have necessitated the impairment of loans and recevables or avalable-for-sale assets
except the provision for impaimment of recevables {see note 22)

Hedging actmities

The Group uses denvative financial nstruments to manage exposures to market nsk, such as movements in foreign exchange ratss,
fuel pnces and interest rates Such denvative financial Instruments are initrally recognised at far value and are subsequently re-measured
at far value In Ine wath 1AS 39 the Group classifies hedges as (a) far value hedges used to hedge exposure to changes in the far value
of a recognised asset or liability, (o) cash flow hedges used to hedge exposure to vanability n cash flows associated with a recognised
asset or lability or a highly probable forecast transaction, and {g) hedges of a net investment in a foraign operation

In 2012 the Group applted cash flow hedge accounting for hedging floating fuel pnce nsks in highly probable forecast purchase
transactions and for hedging net investments in US dollar and Euro foreign operations The Group appled fair value hedge accounting
for the far value interest rate nsk on £200m of the Group’s fixed rate bonds and €78 5m Pnvate Placement

The movement on derivative financial Instruments 1S detalled below

Foreign
exchange
Interest rate forward
swaps contracts  Fuel swaps Total
£m fm fm £m
Net asset at 1 January 2012 237 78 18.0 495
Transfers to the Income staterment on cash fiow hedges - - (20.2) (20.2)
Cash setflements/(accrual) 03 (4.2} - (39)
Revaluation through income statement 7.0 - - 70
Revaluation through other comprehensive income - - 2.2 22
Exchange differences - (40) - (40)
Net asset/{liabllity) at 31 December 2012 310 {04) - 308
Foreign
exchange
Interest rate forward
swaps coniracts Fuel swaps Total
£m m £m £m
Net (labiity)/asset at 1 January 2011 (13) (100) 193 80
Transfers to the Income statement on cash flow hedges - - (253) {25 3)
Cash settlerments/accrual 75 128 - 203
Revaluation through income statement 176 - - 175
Revaluation through other comprehensive Income - - 242 242
Exchange diferences - 50 02 48
Net assst at 31 December 2011 237 78 180 495
The movement on the hedging reserve 1s detaled below
2012 2011
£m £m
At 1 January 159 176
Transfarred to Income statement — operatng costs (20.2) (253
Revaluaton through other comprehensive Income 2.2 242
Tax on revaluation 49 {06)
At 31 December 28 159
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Financial statements
Notes to the Consolidated Accounts continued

31 Financial instruments (including cash, trade recelvables and payables} continued

Hedge of net iInvestments in foreign entities

The Group uses foreign currency borrowings and denvative financial instruments to hedge the net investment in matenal foraign currency
net assets of the Group and are used to reduce the exposure to foreign exchange rate movements At 31 December 2012, the Group had
designated €50m of synthetic debt in the form of foreign exchange denvatves, €100m of revolving credtt facility drawings, €78 bm prvate
placement, and €35m of other loans as net investment hedges of the net assets of its Spanish subsidianes  Simifarly, $50rn of synthetic
debt in the form of foreign exchange denvatives were designated as a hedge of the net assets of the Group’s US subsidianes

No meffectiveness was recogrised in relation to these hedges

Fue! denvatives

The Group has a number of fuel denvatives In place to hedge the different types of tuel used m each dmsion Uttra low sulphur diesel

15 used In the UK Bus, UK Coach and European Coach & Bus dwsions and is hedged by swaps in the same type of fuel Diese! used

In the North American division 1s hedged using the heating ol and diesel market The twming of the swap cash flows match undertying
fuel purchases from 2013 through to 2015 There was no significant element of hedge ineffectiveness requinng recogniion in the Income
statement

Duning the year £2 2m of farr value losses (2011 £24 2m gamns) have been transferred to the hedging reserve due to movements in market
fuel pnces Far value movements of £20 2m (2011 £25 3m) have been transferred from the hedging reserve to the iIncome statement
following settlement of fuel frades, of which £20 7rm was recognised in the hedging reserve at 1 January 2012 and the remander was
generated dunng the year due to the movement in market fuel prces

Fuel dervatives can be analysed as follows

31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December

2012 2011 2012 2011
Fair value Far value Volume Volums
£m £m mulbon litres milkon itres

Hedgs fue! derivatives
Sterling denominated — UK Bus, UK Coach and Rail {0.2) 34 76.9 806
US dollar denorminated — North Amencan Bus 01 32 66.9 745
Euro denominated — European Coach & Bus 22 B5 930 200
Fue! denvatives included in current asssts 2.1 131 236.8 2451
Sterling denominated ~ UK Bus, UK Coach and Rall {11) 28 790 360
US dollar denominated — North Amencan Bus {0.5) 08 62.0 397
Euro denominaied — European Coach & Bus {0.5) 27 770 450
Fusl denvatves included in non-current asssts/(labities) {2.1) 49 218.0 1207
Total hedge fuel derivatives - i80 454.8 3658
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31 Financial instruments (including cash, trade receivables and payables) continued

Interest rate swaps at fair value through profit or loss

in July 2010 the Group entered into four £50m denominated interest rate swaps on a total of £200m of the Group's Stering bonds These
Interest rate swaps all pay floating interest {LIBOR + a margin) semi-annually, receive fixed interest annually with matunties matching the
Group's Sterfing bonds {two swaps with {otal notional value £100m mature in January 2017, two swaps with notional value £100m mature
June 2020) and are designated as a far value hedge of the interest rate nsk on £200m of these bonds These swaps are measured at far
value through profit or loss, with any gamns or losses being taken immediately to the iIncome staterment to offset any far value gains or
losses due to changes In the nsk free interest rate on the swapped portion of the bonds As at 31 December 2012 a total farr value gain

of £5 4m was recognised in the ncome statement in relation to these swaps This I1s offset by a farr value loss of £56 4m on the undertying
hedged item, in this case changes in far value on the £200m of the Group’s bonds due to changes in the nsk free interest rate

In September 2012, the Group entered into two €39 25m denominated interest rate swaps equal In value to the Euro Pnvate Placerment
These interest rate swaps all pay floatng interest {EURIBOR+ a margin} semi-annually, recenve fixed interast annually with maturties
matching the Euro Prvate placement and are designated as a far value hedge of the interest rate nsk on the Pnvate Placement These
swaps are measured at far value through profit and loss, with any gains or losses being taken immediataly to the income statement to
offset any far value gains or losses due to changes in the risk free rate on the Euro Private Placement As at 31 December 2012 a total far
value gain of £1 7m was recognised 1n the income statement in relation to these swaps This is offset by a far value loss of £1 7m on the
undertying hedged item, in this case changes In fair value of the Euro Private Placement due to changes in the nisk free interest rate

32 Called-up share capital

2012 2011
£m £m
At 31 Decamber
Authonsed
800,000,000 (2011 800,000,000} ordinary shares of 5p each 400 400
Issued called-up and fully paid
511,732,603 (2011 511,726,026) ordinary shares of 5p each 258 256

The total number of share options exercised in the year by employees of the Group was 1,884,855 (2011 1,175,455) of which mi
exercisas were satisfied by newly issued shares (2011 nil) and 1,919,772 (2011 1,175,455) exercises were satisfied by transferring
shares from the National Express Employes Benefit Trust The remaining exercises were settled wa a direct purchase of shares from
the open market

Own shares

Own shares comprises 535,658 (2011 380,430) ordinary shares in the Company that have been purchased by the Trustees of the
National Express Employee Benefit Trust (the ‘Trust’} Dunng the year, the Trust purchased 2,075,000 (2011 991,615) shares and
1,919,772 (2011 1,175,455) shares were used to satisty options granted under a number of the Company's sharg schemes The market
value of these shares at 31 December 2012 was £1 1m (2011 £0 9m) The dwdends payable on these shares have been waived

The Group's treasury shares were sold dunng the year and therefore are nil 2011 1,668,688) No shares were added or cancelted
dunng the year (2011 nil)
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33 Other reserves

Merger Hedgng  Transtation
reserve reserve reserve Total
£m fm fm £m
A1 January 2012 154 159 686 2999
Hedge movements, net of tax - {131) - (131)
Exchange differences, net of tax - - (42.6) (42.6)
At 31 December 2012 154 28 26.0 44.2
Merger Hedging Translation
reserve resenve resene Total
£m £m £m £m
At 1 January 2011 154 76 921 1251
Hedge movements, net of tax - (17 - (17
Exchange differences, net of tax - - (235) {23 5}
At 31 Decamber 2011 154 159 686 999

The nature and purpose of the other reserves are as follows

* The merger reserve Includes the premium on shares issued 1o satisfy the purchase of Prism Rail PLC in 2000,

o The hedging reserve records the moverments on designated hedging items, offset by any movements recognised In equity on
undertying hedged items, and

» The translation reserve records exchange differences ansing from the transtation of the accounts of foreign currency denominated
subsidianes offset by the movements on loans and dervatives used to hedge the net investment in foreign subsidianes

34 Pensions and other post-employment benefits

{a) Summary of pension benefits and assumptions

The UK Bus and UK Coach dmsions operate both funded defined benehit schemes and a defined contnbution scheme The majonty of
employees of the Rail companies are members of the appropnats shared-cost section of the Ralways Penston Scheme (RPS), a funded
defined benefit scheme The assets of all schemes are held separately from those of the Group Contnbuiions to the schemes are
dstermined by indapendent professionally qualfied actuanes

Subsidianes m North Amenca contribute to a number of defined contnbution plans The Group also provides certain additional unfunded
post-employment benefits to employees In North Amenca and Spain, which are disclosed In section (¢} In the ‘Other’ category

Dunng the period, certan labikties of the Travel West Midlands Pension Fund relating to current and deferred pensioners valued at £238m
on an accounting bHasis, were insured at a cost of £272m at the transaction date Thes Insurance policy 15 a qualifying insurance policy,
and therefore the value of the policy and the value of the hiabiliies have been recognised within actuanal losses in the Group statement

of comprehensive income This buy-in has reduced nsk and volatiity, and brought greater stability to the Group's pension contnibution
commitments As a result of this transaction, further assets due to ths Travel West Midlands Pension Fund were identified and recovered
which substantially offset these losses

The total pension cost for the year was £6 9m (2011 £11 7m), of which £3 8m (2011 £3 5m) relates to the defined contnbution schemes

The UK Coach plan 1s now closed to all future accrual A funding plan aimed at bnnging the plan to self sufficiency over a six year penod
was agreed in 2010, National Express contnbutes £4 2m annually to thrs scheme In 2011 UK Bus agreed a £5 5m annua! deficit
repayment plan with the trustees of the West Midlands Passenger Transport Authorty Pension Fund to fund a £7 1m scheme funding
defict over 12 years The plan remans open to accrual for existing members only

The defined beneft pension (lability)/asset ncluded in the balance sheet 1S as follows

2012 2011

£m £m
UK Bus (32.9) (16 8)
UK Coach 166 186
Ral (1.8) 22
Other 12 4
Total (193 18
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34 Pensions and other post-employment benefits continued
{a) Summary of pension benefits and assumptions continued
The valuations conducted for financial reporting purposes are based on the triennial actuarial valuations A summary of the latest tnenrial

actuarial valuations, and assumptions mads, 1 as follows

UK Bus UK Coach Rall

Travel West

Tayside Midiands
31 March 31 March S5Apnl 31 December
Date of actuanal valuaton 2011 2010 2010 2010
Actuanal method used Aftaned age”  Attaned age” Projpctedunt  Projected unit
Rate of nvestment returns per annum 43%-6 9% 5 0%-7 0% 41% 55%-76%
INCreass In earnings par annum 50% 45% - 4 2%
Scheme assets taken at market value £45 5m £3820m £54 Bm £66 8m
Funding level 97% B4% 68% 95%-99%

* Amounts included in the ncome statement, othér comprehensve Income and the balance sheet are caloulated using the projected unt method

The range of funding levels and scheme assets for Rail reflects the range of funding levels and assets in the vanous sections of the RPS
relating to the ranchises which the Group operated at 31 December 2012 The plans do not provide medical benefits

The most recent tnenmial valuations are then updated by independent professionally qualified actuanies for financial raporting purposes,
In accordance with IAS 19 The main actuanal assumptions underiying the IAS 19 valuations are

2012 2011

UK Bus UK Coach Rail UK Bus UK Coach Rail
Rate of Increase in salanes 2.5% 2.5% 3.0% 30% 30% 30%
Rate of Increase of pensions 2.0% 2.8% 2.0% 20% 30% 20%
Discount rate 44% 44% 4 4% 50% 50% 50%
Infiation assumption {RP1) 2.8% 2.8% 28% 30% 30% 30%
Irflation assumption (CP1) 2.0% 2.0% 20% 20% 20% 20%
Expected rates of return on scheme assats
Equities 77% 7.7% T7% 77% 77% 77%
Bonds 30% 3.0% 30% 30% 30% 30%
Other 1.25% 1.25% 1.25% 125% 125% 125%
Post-retirement mortalty in years
Cumrent pensioners at 65 - male 210 24.7 209 245
Currant pensioners at 65 — male, pension under
£9,300 pa or pensionable pay under £35,000 pa 208 205
Currertt pensioners at 85 — male — others 28 226
Current pensioners at 65 — female 237 276 236 275
Cument pensioners at 65 — ferale, pension under
£3,300 pa or pensionable pay under £35,000 pa 25 22 4
Current pensioners at 65 — fernale — athers 249 248
Future pensioners at 65 - male 24 287 223 266
Future penstoners at 65 — male, pension under £5,300 pa
or pensionable pay under £35,000 pa 230 228
Future pensioners at 65 - male — others 250 249
Future pensioners at 65 - female 253 296 252 295
Future pensioners at 65 - female, pension under
£3,300 pa or pensionable pay under £35,000 pa 25.0 249
Future pensioners at 65 - female — cthers 273 271
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34 Pensions and other post-employment benefits continued

{a) Summary of penston benefits and assumptions continued

The demographic assumptions reflect those adopted in the most recent tnennial actuanal valuation For the Rail scheme, mortality
assumptions have been set by reference to the recent expenence of the scheme Mortality 1s assurned to improve in the future in ine
with the c¢ore projection” model published by the actuanal profession's Contnuous Mortality iInvestigation, ncorporating a fong term
improvement rate of 1 5% pa

The Directors regard the assumption around the discount rate to be the key assumption in the IAS 19 valuation, and the following table
provides an approximate sensitivity analysis of the impact of a 0 1% change in the discount rate assumption

UK Bus UK Coach Rail

£m £m £m

Defined benefit pension (iabilityl/asset at 31 December 2012 (32.9) 166 (1.8
Effect of a ¢ 1% increase n the discount rate 76 13 -
Cument service cost for the year ended 31 December 2012 (3-3) - 3.0)
Effect of a2 0 1% increase in the discount rate 01 - -

Scheme assets are stated at ther market values at the respective balance shest dates The expected rate of retum on scheme assets 1s
determined based on market returns on each category of scheme assets

(b} Accounting for the Rallways Pension Scheme

The majonty of employees of the Rail companies are members of the approprate section of the RPS, a funded defined benefit scheme
Tha RPS is a shared cost scheme, which means that costs are formally shared 60% employer and 40% employee To date, the Group
has expenenced eleven changes of Ral franchise ownership where the current owner has funded the scheme dunng the franchise term
and the pension deficit at franchise exit has transferred to the new ownar, without cash settlemant By entenng into the franchise contract,
the TOC becomes the designated emptoyer for the term of the contract and under the rules of the RPS must fund its share of the pension
liabiity in accordance with the schedule of contributions agreed with the Scheme trustees and actuanes

In determining the appropriate accounting policy for the RPS to ensure that the Group’s accounts present farly its financial posiion,
financial performance and cash flows, management has consulied with TOC industry peers and has concluded that the Group’s
constructive obligations should be accounted for In accordance with tAS 19 This accounting pohcy, which in all other respects is
consistent with that set out in this note for the Group's other defined benefit schemes, means that the Group's accounts reflect that
element of the deficits anticipated to be settled by the Group dunng the franchise term and will prevent gans ansing on transfer of the
existing RPS deficits to a new owner at franchise exit

In calculating the Group's constructive obligations i respect of the RPS, the Group has calculated the total pension deficits in each of the
RPS sections in accordance with IAS 19 and the assumptions set out above These deficits are reduced by a ‘franchuse adjustment” which
15 that portion of the defictt projected to exist at the end of the franchise and which the Group will not be required to fund The franchise
adjustment, which has been calculated by the Group’s actuarss, 1s offset aganst the present value of the RPS liabiliies so as to farrly
present the financial performance, position and cash flows of the Group's obligatons

The franchise adjustment decreased from £53 6m at 31 December 2011 to £18 1m at 31 December 2012 The principal reason for the
decrease was the handback of the East Angla franchise reducing the franchise adjustment by £49 Om in addition the adjustment
Increased due to interest on the franchise adjustment of £0 7m and other net actuanal movements of £6 8m in the pnor year, the franchise
adjustment decreased from £72 4m at 31 December 2010 to £59 6m at 31 December 2011 The decrease was caused by interest ¢n the
franchise adjustment of £3 9m and net actuanal movements of £16 7m
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34 Pensions and other post-employment bensfits continued

{c) Financtal results for pension benefits

The amounts charged to the Group incoma statement and Group statement of comprehensive income for the years ended 31 December

2012 and 2011 are set out in the following tables

UK Bus UK Coach Rail Total
2012 2012 2012 2012
Group mcome statement £m fmn £m fm
Amounts (chargedy/credited to Group operating profit/loss)
Cunent service cost (3.3) - (3.0) (8.3)
Expected retum on pension scheme assets 23.9 22 3.9 30.0
Interest on pension habdties {21 9) (2.4) (3.5) (27.8)
Imterest on franchise adjustment - - 0.7 o7
Total charge to ncome staternent {13) 0.2) (1.9) (3.4)
Actual retum on plan assets 32.5 2.7 19 471
UK Bus UK Coach Ral Tolal
2012 an2 2012 2012
Group statement of comprehensive income fm £m £m £m
Actual retum less expected retum on pansion scheme assets 86 03 78 167
Other actuanal gans and losses {33.1) [63) {84) (47 8)
Actuanal losses {24.5) (60) 08) (311)
UK Bus UK Coach Rail Total
2011 2011 201 2011
Group Income staterment £m £m m £m
Amounts (charged)/credited to Group operating profit/loss)
Current service cost {41) 01 (103) (14 5)
Expected retum on pension scheme assets 251 35 144 430
Interest on pension labilities (229 2 8} (148} {40 6)
Interest on franchise adjustment - - 39 39
Total (charge)/credit to income statement 19 05 68 82
Actual retum on plan assets 178 132 10 320
UK Bus UK Coach Rail Total
2011 2011 2011 2011
Group statement of comprehensive ncome £m £m £m £m
Actual retum less expected return on pension scheme assets (7 3) a7 {134) (110
Other actuanal gans and losses {12 4} 25 123 24
Actuana) {lossasygains {197} 122 (11} 86
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34 Pensions and other post-employment benefits continued
(c) Financial results for pension benefits continued
The amounts recogrised in the balance sheet at 31 December are

UK Bus UK Coach Rail Other Total

2012 xn2 212 2012 2012

As at 31 December 2012 £m £m fm £m m
Equries 856 - 629 - 148.5
Bonds 58.8 658 35 - 1281
Property a7 - - - 37
Insurance policy 2426 - - - 2426
Dversified growth fund 533 - - - 533
Other 4.0 73 07 - 12.0
Farr value of scheme assets 448.0 731 671 - 588.2
Present value of scheme labiities (480.9) {56.5) (99.3) {1.2) (637 9)
Franchise adjustment - - 181 - 181
Defined benefit obigaton (480 9) {56.5) (81.2) {1.2) (619.8)
Members' share of deficit - - 123 - 123
Defined benefit pension {deficit)/surpius {32.9) 186 (1.8) {1.2) {19.3)
UK Bus LUK Coach Rai Other Total

2011 2011 2011 20M 2011

As at 31 December 2011 £m £m £m om £m
Equites 917 - 3037 - 495 4
Bonds 234 2 636 151 - 3129
Property 36 - - - 38
Other 24 43 22 - 89
Far value of scheme assets 4319 679 3210 - 8208
Present value of scheme labirties {448 7) (49 3) (4233} {14 9227)
Franchise adjustment - - 596 - 596
Defined benefit obigation {448 7) (49 3) (363 7) (14) 863 1)
Members' share of deficit - - 405 - 405
Defined benefit pension (defictysurphus (16 8) 186 22 (149 (18

The movemert in the presant value of the defined benefit obligation in the year is as stated below For Rail, the RPS 1s a shared cost
scheme, which means that costs are formally shared 60% employer and 40% employee

The Group's defined benefit obligation compnses £618 6m (2011 £861 7mj} {including the members' share of the defict) ansing from plans
that are wholly or partly funded and £1 2m (2011 €1 4m) from unfunded plans

UK Bus UK Coach Rait Other Total
£m £m £m £m £m
Defined benefit cbligation at 1 January 2012 {448 7) {49 3) (363.7) (14) (863.1)
Current service cost 3.3 - 30) - (6.3)
Benefits pad 274 15 34 0.2 325
Contributions by employees (1.3) - {17 - 30)
Finance charge (21.9) (2.4} 3.5 - (27.8)
Interest on franchise adjustrment - - 0.7 - 0.7
Franchiss exit - - 3073 - 3073
Members’ share of movernent on liabilhes - - 123) - (12.3)
Actuanal loss recogrused in statement
of comprehensive Income {331) (6.3) (8.4) - (47.8)
Defined benefit obligation at 31 December 2012 {480.9) {56 5) {81.2) (1.2 {619.8)
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34 Pensions and other post-employment benefits continued
{c) Financial results for pension benefits continued

UK Bus UK Coach Radl Other Totat
£m Em £m £m m
Defined benefit ocbiigation at 1 January 2011 (434 8 596 {372 8) 14 {868 6}
Current sernce cost 41) {01 (103} - {14 5
Benefits pad 268 15 145 - 428
Contnbutions by employees (3 - 6 1) - 74
Finance charge 229) 29 (14 8 - (40 8)
Interest on franchise adjustrmenit - - 39 - 39
Settiement - 93 - - 93
Members' share of movement on kabilies - - 96 - 96
Actuanal {lossy/gan recognised in statement
of comprehensve iIncome (12 4) 25 123 - 24
Defined bensfit obligation at 31 December 2011 (448 7) (49 3) 3637) (14) (883 1)
The movement in the farr value of scheme assets 1s as follows
UK Bus UK Coach Rail Total
£m £m £m m
Fair value of scheme assets at 1 January 2012 a318 679 3210 8208
Expected retumn on plan assets 239 22 a9 300
Cash contnbutions — employer 97 42 29 16.8
Cash contnbutions — employes 13 - 17 30
Benefits pad {27.4) (1.5 34) (32.3)
Members’ share of retum on assets - - 7.8 1.8
Franchise ext - - {274 6) (274 6)
Actuanal gain recognised In statement
of comprehensnve INcome 86 0.3 7.8 167
Falr value of scheme asssets at 31 December 2012 4480 73.1 671 588.2
UK Bus UK Coach Raul Total
£m £m £m £m
Farr value of scheme assets at 1 January 2011 4295 596 3183 807 4
Expected retum on plan asssts 251 a5 144 430
Cash contnbutions — employer 100 60 a5 255
Cash contnbutions — employee 14 - 61 75
Benefits pad (26 8) (i 5 (14 5) {42 8)
Members’ share of retum on assets - - 06 06
Actuanal {lossy/gain recogrised in statement
of comprehensive income 7 3) 97 {13 4) {110}
Settlement - 94 - ©4)
Fauir value of scheme asssts at 31 December 2011 431 9 679 3210 8208
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34 Pensions and other post-employment benefits continued
{c) Financial results for pension benefits continued
The Group expects to contnbute £15 4m to its defined benefit pension plans in 2013

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
History of expenence gans and losses £m £m £m £m £m
UK Bus
Farr value of scheme assets 480 4319 4285 3999 362 8
Present value of defined benefit obligation (480.9) {448 7} {434 8) (446 3) {357 4)
Restnction on surplus - - - - @0
Defict in the scheme {32.9) (16 8} v3) (46 4) 36
Expenence adjustments ansing on habilities 50 (23 3) {01} 02 33
Expenence adiustiments ansing on assets 86 73 213 313 62 8)
UK Coach
Farr value of scheme assets 731 679 596 516 421
Present value of defined benefit obligation {56 5) 49 3) (59 6) (56 8) {43 3)
Surplus/(defict) in the scheme 166 186 - 62 {12
Expernence adustments ansing on labiities - 01 27 - -
Expenence adiusiments ansing on assets 05 97 23 38 {78
Rall
Farr value of scheme assats 671 3210 3183 284 4 4447
Present value of defined bensfit obhgation {812) {363 7) (3728 (342 0Q) (526 7)
Members' share of deficit 123 405 508 557 433
Defictt in the scheme {1.8) 22 @7 (19 387
Expenence adjustments ansing on habilibes 27 1:39)] 122 (1 1) 169
Expenence adjustments ansing on assets 80 134 61 232 (121 4)
Other
Far value of scheme assets - - - - -
Present value of defined benefit obligation {1.2) (14) {14 (14) {15}
Deficit n the scheme 12 (14 {14 (14 (15

Exparience adjustments ansing on liabilties - - - - -

The cumulative amount of actuanal gains and losses recognised In the statement of comprehensive Income since 1 January 2004 15

£50 3m loss (2011 £19 2m loss} The Directors are unable to deterrmine how much of the pansion scheme deficit recogrused on transition
to IFRSs and taken directly to equity of £51 9m s attributable to actuanal gains and losses since incephon of those pension schemes
Consequently the Directors are unable to determine the amount of actuanal gains and losses that would have been recogrised in the
statement of comprehensive incoms before 1 January 2004
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35 Commitments and contingencies
Operating lease commitments
The Group’s total operating lease commitments are as follows

2012 2011
£m £m

Future minmum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases
Within one year Land and buildings 23.3 366
Plant and equpment 195 46 4
42.8 830
After one year but nat more than five years Land and bulldings 329 312
Plant and equiprnent 234 435
56.3 747
Maore than five years Land and buildings 51.0 320
Plant and equiprment - 09
51.0 329
150.1 1906

Operating lease commitments

The majority of the Group's commitments anse in the Rail dvision Rail dwvision companies have ¢ontracts with Network Ral Infrastructure
Limited for access to the railway infrastructure (tracks, stations and depots) They also have contracts under winch roling stock is leased

The TOCs’ obligations to fulfil these commitments exist only as part of ther franchise agreement The table below reflects the

commitments up to the current franchise end dates unless an extension or new franchise agreement has been signed The commitments
are based on charges advsed by the Rall Regulator for the pened starting on 1 Apnl 2010 Commitments for future muimum rental

payments under these contracts are shown below

Land and Plant and

buldngs equipment

2012 2011 2012 2011

Rail drasion commtments fm £m m £m
Future minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases

Within one year Fixed track access 54 148 - -

Rolling stock - - 95 362

Cther 1.9 74 03 08

7.3 222 98 370

After one year but not more than five years Fixed track access - 41 - -

Rolling stock - - - 94

Other - 22 - 03

- 63 - 97

7.3 285 9.8 487

Fixed track access agreements have an average remaning Iife of 0 4 years (2011 1 0 years}, other land and buldings have an average
duration of O 4 years (2011 1 0 ysars} Roling stock agreements have an average hife of 0 4 years (2011 0 9 years} and other plant and

equipment 0 4 years (2011 1 2 years)

www nationalexpressgroup com

141

fBejens mo uo BuusaeQ

MBI ssausng

SBLLBNELS [E0UBLL




Financial staternents
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35 Commitments and contingencies contnued

Qutside of the Rail division the Group has entered into operating leases on certan properties, public service vehicles and vanous tems
of plant and equipment Commutments for future minimum rental payments under cancellable operating leases are shown below

Land and butidings Public savice vehicles Other
2012 201 2012 2011 2012 2011
Other dvsions' commaments £m £m £m £m £m £m
Within one year 16.0 144 93 92 04 02
After one year but not more than five years 329 249 230 335 04 03
More than five years 510 320 - 09 - -
999 713 323 436 0.8 05

The average remaning life of operating lease commitments in the other dvisions 1s 6 2 years (2011 4 O years) for Jand and builldings,
3 4 years (2011 3 5 years) for public service vehicles and 2 0 years (2011 2 4 years) for other plant and equipment

Operating lease agreernents where the Group 15 the lessor
The Group receives rent on properties as follows

2012 201
£m £m

Future minimum rentals recevable under non-cancellable operating leases
Within one year 04 14
After one year but not more than five years - 04
04 18

The leases have an average unexpired duration of 0 3 years (2011 1 3 years)

Finance lease commitments
The Group has finance leases for public service vehicles and vanous ntems of plant and equipment These leases have terms of renewal but
no purchase options and escalation clauses Renewals are at the option of the specific entity that holds the lease

2012 20114

Mmnmum  Present value Mirwmum  Present value

payments  of payments payments of payments

£m fm £m £m

Within one year 282 2715 226 221

After one year but not more than five years 134 1028 a54 859

More than five years 275 244 514 433

Total minmurm lease payments 1691 1547 1694 1513

Lass future financing charges {14.4) - {18 1} -

Present value of minimum leasa payments 154 7 1547 151 3 1513
Caprtal commitments

2012 2011

£rn £m

Contracted 48.3 437

The Group 15 committed to vehicle purchases and vanous land and buldings improvements

Contingent iabilities

Bonds and letters of credit

In the ordinary course of business, the Group Is required to 1ssus counter-indemnities In support of its operations As at 31 December
2012 there were Ral performance bonds of £4 Om (2011 £25 8m) and Rail season ticket bonds of £21 1m {2011 £92 3m) The Group
has other performance bonds which include the Enil (2011 £9 Om) performance bond in respect of Inter-Capital and Regional Rad Limited,
a performance bond with Birmingham City Council relating to the building of the new coach station of £0 2m (2011 £0 2m), performance
bonds in respect of businesses in the US of £104 7m {2011 £108 1m) and the rest of Europe of £23 5m (2011 £23 3m) Letters of cradit
have been 1ssued to support insurance retentions of £36 1m (2011 £30 8m}
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36 Related party transactions
Amounts dus from
Amount of transactions related parbes  Amounts due to related parties
2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011
£m £m £m Em £m m

Associates
ICRRL 90 90 - - - (90
Spain associates 23 26 09 10 {0.8) (10
Total associates 113 116 09 10 {0.8) (100}
Trade Investments
Span trade nvestmenis 44 43 05 06 (0.5) (05)
Property transactions
North Amenca 2.7 - - - (2.6) -
Span ar 50 04 04 {0.5) 02
Total other related parties 108 a3 0.9 10 (3.6) 07
Tota 221 209 18 20 (4.4) (107

A provision of £0 2m (2011 £0 2m) has been booked against amounts due from European Coach & Bus associates, which are

presented net

Duning the year the Group made a number of acquisitions  As part of the acquisition, certain personne! signed three year non-compete

agreements

A number of Spanish companies have leased properties from companies related to the Cosmen family Jorge Cosmen 1s a Non-Executive
Director of the Group and was appointed as Deputy Chairman in October 2008 These leases were In place before the Group’s acquisition

of ALSA and are for appropnate market rates
The detalls of the post-employment benefit plans operated for the benefit of employees of the Group are disclosed in note 34

Compensation of key management personnel of the Group

2012 201

£m £m

Total compensation paid to key management personnel (note 7) 39 35
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Financial statements

Notes to the Consolidated Accounts continued

37 Cash flow statement

The net cash inflows from operating actvties include outflows of £40 7m (2011 £8 2m) from continuing operations which are related

1o exceptional costs

{a) Reconciliation of Group profit before tax to cash generated from operations

2012 2011
Total operations £m £m
Net cash infiow from operating activities
Profit before tax from continuing operations 688 129 4
Net finance costs 492 464
Share of post-tax results under the equrty method (14) {14)
Depraciation of property, plant and equipment 109.8 1055
Intangible asset amortisation 51.7 508
Amortisation of fixed asset grants (1.2 (15
Profit on dispasal of property, plant and equipment (4.5) 11
Share-based payments 5.2 50
Decrease/(increass) in Invertones 04 {149
Decrease/{increase) in recevables 4 (18 8)
Decrease n payables (145.5) (28 9
Decrease N provisions — continuing operations {32.3) 370
Cash generated from operations 1696 2470
{b) Analysis of changes in net debt
At At
1 January Acquisthons/ Exchange Other 31 December
2012 Cash flow disposals differences movements 2012
m £m £m £m £m £m
Cash 648 (31.6) 9.0 {©5) - .7
Overmight deposits 250 36 - - - 28.6
Other short term deposits 27 02 - - - 25
Cash and cash eguvalents 92.5 {28.2) 90 {0.5) - 728
Other debt recevables 07 0.3 - - - 1.0
Bomrowings
Bank and other loans (7.9) {109.6) (0.3) 29 03 {114.6)
Bonds {583.4) - - - (6.6) (590.0)
Far value of hedging denvatives 164 - - - 70 234
Finance lease obhgations {161.3) 18.1 11 58 (26.2) (1547)
Other debt payalle 0.7) (65.4) - - - (66.1)
Total borrowings (726 9) (156 9) 14 87 (25.5) (902 0)
Net debt" 6337) (184.8) 76 8.2 (25.5) (828.2)

*  Excludes accrued nterest on long termn bormgwings

Short term deposits included wathun iquid resources relate to term deposits repayable within three months

Borrowings include non-current iInterest bearing borrowings of £786 8m (2011 £718 4m) as disclosed in note 28

Other non-cash movements in net debt represent finance lease addiions of £26 2m (2011 £43 7m) and a £0 7m net positive movement
in loan and bond arrangement fees (2011 £2 2m nat negative movement} The £7 Om increase to the far value of the hedging dervative
i1s offset by equal and opposite movernents in the farr value of the related hedged borrowings This compnses a £5 4m far value moverment
in bonds and a £1 6m far valug movement in other loans
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37 Cash flow statement continued
(b) Analysis of changes in net debt continued

At At
1 January Acquistons/ Exchange Other 31 December
2011 Cash flow disposals differences movements 2011
£m £m £m m £m £m
Cash 815 (163) - 04 - 648
Ovemight deposis 368 (118 - - - 250
Cther short term deposits 105 (7 8 - - - 27
Cash and cash equivalents 1288 (359} - {0 4) - 925
Cther debt recervables 07 - - - - 07
Borowngs
Bank lcans {39 8) 345 10 03 {19 79
Bonds (565 6) - - - (17 8} {583 4)
Far value of bond hedging dervatives (i1} - - - 175 164
Finance lease obhgations (131 8) 249 - 09 {437} (1513}
Other debt payable {18) 11 - - - {07)
Total borrowings (7399 805 o) {0 6) {45 9} {726 9)
Net debt” (610 4) 248 10 {10 (45 9) (6337}
" Excludes accrued interest on kong term bomowings
{c) Reconcihation of net cash flow to movement in net debt
2012 2011
£m £m
Decrease In cash and cash equivalents in the year (28 2) 359
Cash infiow from movement in other debt recenables 03 -
Cash {inflow)/outfiow from movement in debt and finance leases (156 9) 605
Change in net debt resuting from cash flows (184.8) 246
Change in net debt resuting from acquistions and disposals 76 {10
Change in net debt resuiting from non-cash movements (17 3) {46 9)
Movement in net debst n the year (194.5) (23 3)
Opening net dabt (633.7) (610 4)
Net debt (828.2) 633 7)

38 Post balance shest events
There are no post balance sheet events
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Financial statements
Independent Auditor’s Report
to the Members of National Express Group PLC

We have audited the parent Company financial statements of National Express Group PLC for the year ended 31 December 2012 which
compnse the parent Company Balance Sheet and the related notes 1 to 21 The financial reporting framework that has been applied in
their preparation 1s apphicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice)

This report 1s made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Compames Act 2006
Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members those matters we are required 1o state to them
N an auditor's report and for no other purpose To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone
other than the Company and the Company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the cpinions we have formed

Respective responsibilities of Directors and audstor

As explained more fully in the Diractors' Responsibilities Statement, the Directors are responsible for the preparation of the parent
Company financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and far vew Our responsibility 1s to audit and express an
opinion on the parent Company financial statements in accordance with apphicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and
Ireland) Those standards require us to comply with the Audiing Practices Board's Ethical Standards for Auditors

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance
that the financial statements are free from matenal misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error This includes an assessment of
whether the accounting policies are appropnate to the parent Company’s circumstances and have been consistenily applied and
adeqguately disclosed, the reasonablenass of significant accounting estimates mads by the Directors, and the overall presentation

of the financial statemants In addtion, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the annual report to identify matenial
inconsistencies with the audited financial statements If we become aware of any apparent matenal misstatements or Inconsistencies

we consider the implications for our report

Cpinion on financial statements

In our opinion the parent Company financial statements

* give atrue and far view of the state of the Company's affars as at 31 December 2012,

* have been property prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice, and

* have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006

Opinton on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

in our opinien

+ the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited has been property prepared in accordance with the Comparies Act 2006,
and

» the nformation given m the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the
parent Company financial statements

Matters on which we are required to repert by exception
We have nothing to report In respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you If, in our opinton

* adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent Company, or returns adequate for our audit have not bean recenved
from branches not visited by us, or

+ the parent Company financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited are not in agreement with
the accounting records and returns, or

« certan disctosures of Directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made, or

» we have not receved all the infermation and explanations we require for our audit

Other matter
Wv orted separately on the Group financial statements of National Express Group PLC for the year ended 31 December 2012
) F-:g

e re
Nige! Mercer (Senior statutory auditor)

for and on behalt of Deloitte LLP,

Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditor
Birmingham, UK

28 February 2013
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Fnancial statements

Company Balance Sheet
At 31 December 2012

2012 2011
Note £m £m
Fixed assets
Intangible assets 4 05 -
Tangible assets 5 01 01
Investments 6 1,605.1 1,1856
Denvative financal nstruments 7 310 237
1,636 7 1,209 4
Curmrent assets
Debitars 8 742.0 9738
Denvatve financial Instruments 7 01 80
Cash at bank and in hand 9 366 322
7787 10140
Creditors amounts faling due within one year 10 (944.9) {950 4)
Demvative financial nstruments 7 {0.5) 02
Prowsions for babiities and charges 12 {2.6) -
Net current (labilities)/assets (169.3) 634
Total assets less current liabilities 1,467 4 12728
Creditors amounts faling dus after more than one year 11 (655.2) (683 4)
Provisions for liabiities and charges 12 27 (14 5
Net assets 8095 6749
Shareholders’ equity
Called-up share capital 15 256 256
Shars premmum account 16 532.7 5327
Capiial redemption reserve 16 0.2 02
Cwn shares 16 (0.5) (14 0)
Profit and loss accournt Ty 16 2515 1304
Shareholders’ equity N \\ 809.5 6749

D Finch Group Chief Executive C){J\

J K Maiden Group Finance Director
28 February 2013

Company Number 2590560
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Financial statements
Notes to the Company Accounts

1 Accounting policies

Basis of preparation

The separate accounts of the parent Company are presented as required by the Companies Act 2006 The accounts have been prepared
on the going concern basis and under the histonc cost convention, except for the recognition of denvative financial instruments and
avallable for sale investments detalled below, and in accordance with applicable accounting standards in the United Kingdom

in applying thess policies managemsnt is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
habilities and disclosure of contingent assets and labilities at the date of the accounts and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses
dunng the reporting penod Actual results could differ from those estimates

No profit and foss account 1s presented by the Company as permitted by Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006
The retaned profit of the Company for the year1s £180 7m (2011 £84 7m)

Leases

Leases of tangible fixed assets where substantially all the nsks and rewards of ownership of the asset have passed to the Company are
classified as finance leases and the assets are caprtalised in the balance sheet as plant and equipment Finance leases are capitalised at
the present value of the minmum lease payments The capital element of future obhgations under hsre purchase contracts and finance
leases 1s Included as a hability in the balance sheset The interest element of rental obligations 1s charged to the profit and loss account

over the penod of the lease and represents a constant proportion of the balance of capital repayments outstanding Assets acqured under
finance leases are depreciated over the shorter of the useful hife of the asset and the lease term

Leases of assets where a significant portion of the nsks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating
leases Rentals paid under opsrating leases are charged to the profit and loss account on a straight-line basts over the term of the lease
Incentives receved under operating leases and inmhal direct costs in negotiating the lease are amortised to the profit and loss account
on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease, or to the first review if shorter

Tangible fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets are stated at histonc cost less accumulated depreciation and any imparment Tangible fixed assets are depreciated
on a straight-ne basis ovar their estimated usetul lives as follows w

Ptant and equipment - 3to5vyears !

The carrying value of fixed assets 1s revewed for mparment If events or changes in circumstances indicate that the current carrying value
may not be recoverable, and are wntten down immediately to ther recoverable amount Repars and mantenance are charged to the profit
and loss account during the financial penod in which they are incurred

Software

Computer software that 1$ not integral to an item of property, plant and equipment 1s recogrised separately as an intangible asset and

1s carmed at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated imparrment losses Costs include software licences, consulting costs !
attnbutable to the development, design and implementation of the computer software and internal costs directly attnbutable to the |
development, design and implementation of the computer software Costs in respect of training are expensed as incurred Amortisation |
Is calculated using the straight-line method so as to charge the cost of the computer software to the income statement over its estmated |
useful Iife (3 to 7 years) i

The carrying value of ntangibles 1s reviewad for impairment +f évents or changes in crcumstances indicate that the carrying value may I
not be recoverable

Investments in subsidianes
Investments are held at historic cost less any provision for imparrment

Available for sale nvestments

Available for sale financial assets are non-denvative financial assets that are designated as such, or that are not classified as a loan or
recevable, held to matunty or at farr value through profit or loss After inttial recognition these assets are measured at far value with gains
or losses being recognised as a separate component of eguity until the investment is derecogrised or the investment is determined to be
impaired, at which time the previously reported cumulative gain or loss 1s included in the income statement

Interest beanng loans and borrowings
Loans and borrowings are nitially recogrised at the fair vatue of the consideration receved, net of (ssus costs After intial recogrition,
interest-beanng loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the eifectve interest method

Hedge accounting 1s adopted where dernvatives such as fixed to floating interest rate swaps are held as far value hedges aganst fixed
interest rate borrowings Under farr value hedge accounting, fixed interest rate borrowings are revalued at sach balance sheet date by the
change in far value attnbutable to the interest rate being hedged
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1 Accounting policies continued

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a resuh of past events, 1t 1s probable
that an outflow of resources will be regurred to settls the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount can be made Where the
Company expects a provision to be rembursed the rembursement 1s recogrised as a separate asset but only when reimbursement
15 virtually certan

Pensions

The Company participates in both the Natianal Express Group multi-employer funded defined beneft scheme and a defined contribution
scheme The Company 1s unable to identify its share of the undertying assets and kabilities of the muti-employer scheme on a consistent
and reasonable basis, and therefore has accounted for the scheme as if it were a defined contribution scheme under the requirements
of FRS 17, ‘Retrement Benefits’

ABayens no uo Bueweq

Share-based payment
In accordance with the transition prowisions, FRS 20 has been applied to all grants after 7 November 2002 that were unvested as of
1 January 2005

MBING SSEUSNG

The Company awards equrty-settied share-based payment to certain employees Equity-settisd share-based payments are measured at
faur valus at the date of grant by an external valuer using a stochastic model Non-market-based performance-related vesting conditions
are not taken Into account when estimating the fair valus, instead those non-market conditions are taken into account n calculating the
current best estimate of the number of shares that will eventually vest and at each balance sheet date bsfore vesting The cumulative
expense I1s calculated based on that estimate Market-based performance conditions are taken into account when determining the fair
value and at each balance sheet date before vesting, the cumulative expense 1s calculated irespective of whether or not the market
conditions ara satisfied, provided that all other performance conditions are met

Deferred tax

Deferred tax 1s recogrised in respect of all matenal tming differences that have onginated, but not reversed, by the balance sheet date
Deferred tax 1s measured on a non-discounted basss at tax rates that are expected to apply in the penods In which the timing differences
reverse based on tax rates and laws enacted or substantively enactad at the balance sheet date Deferred tax assets are recognised where
it 1s mare likely than not that there will be suitable taxable profits from which the future reversal of undertying timing differences can be
deducted

Foreign currencies

Foreign currency assets and liabilites are translated nto sterling at the rates of exchange ruling at the year end Foreign currency
transactions ansing dunng the year are transtated into Sterling at the rate af exchange ruling on the date of the transacton Any exchange
differences so ansing are dealt with through the profit and loss account

Denvative financial instruments

The Company uses denvative financial Instruments such as foreign currency contracts and interest rate swaps to hedgs its nsks
associated with foreign currency and interest rate fluctuations Such dervative financial instrurnents are ntially recognised at far value and
subsequently remeasured to fair value for the reported balance sheet The far value of forward exchange contracts and interest raie swaps
Is calculated by reference to market exchange rates and interest rates at the penod end

SIULBIESS PruRLY

In relabion to cash flow hedgas which meet the conditions for hedge accounting, the portion of the gain or loss on the hedging mstrurment
that 15 determined to be an effective hedge 1s recognised directly in equity, and the neffective portion In the profit and loss account The
gains or losses deferred 1n equity In this way are recycled through the profit and loss account in the same penod in which the hedged
underying transaction or firm commiiment is recognised in the profit and loss account

Far dervatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting, ncluding the foreign currency contracts, gains or losses are taken directly to the
profit and loss account in the penod

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedging instrument expires, 1s sold, terminated or exarcised, or no longer qualifies for hedge
accountng

The Company has taken advantage of the exemption under FRS 29 for parent Company accounts The disclosuras are included within the
consolidated accounts
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Financial statements
Notes to the Company Accounts continued

2 Exchange rates
The most significant exchange rates to UK Stering for the Company are as follows

2012 2011

Closng rate  Average rate Closngrate  Average rate

US doltar 163 159 155 161
Canadian dollar 161 159 158 158
Euro 123 1.23 120 115

3 Directors’ amoluments
Detailed information concerning Directors’ emoluments, shareholdings and options 1s shown in the Directors’ remuneration report

4 Intangible fixed assets

Software
£m

Cost
At 1 January 2012 B
Addrions 06
At 31 December 2012 0.6
Amortisabon
Charge n the year o1
At 31 December 2012 0.1
Net bock value
At 31 December 2012 0.5

At 31 December 2011 -
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5 Tangible fixed assots
Plant and
equipment
Em
Cost
At 1 January 2012 and 31 December 2012 21
Depreciation
At 1 January 2012 and at 31 December 2012 20
Nat book value
At 1 January 2012 and at 31 Decamber 2012 01
Tangible fixed assets held under finance lease agreements are analysed as follows
2012 2011
£m £m
Plant and equipment
—cost 0.2 02
— depreciatron 0.2) {02)

Leased assets and assets under hire purchase contracts are pledged as secunty for the related finance lease and hire purchase liabiliies

6 Financial assets investments

Investments in
subsidianes
£m
Cost or valuation
At 1 January 2012 1,691.5
Addrtions 419.5
At 31 December 2012 21110
Provisions
At 1 January and 31 December 2012 (505 9)
Net carmyng amount
At 31 December 2012 1,605.1
At 31 December 2011 1,1856

The information provided below 1s grven for the Cormpany's principal subsidianes A full list of subsichanies and investments will be annexed
to the next Annual Retum to Companies House The pnncipal country of operation in respect of the companies below 1s the country in

which they are incorporated

The Group’s train passenger services in the UK are operated through franchises awarded by DIT Rall, as delegated by the UK

Government
The following holdings are 100% held directly by the Company
ncorporated n England and Wales

Natonal Express Intermediate Holdings Limited Holding company for all Group operating comparnies except Ral

Natonal Express Trains Limited Holding cornpany for Ral operating companies
Incorporated n Guemsay
Natonal Express Guemsey Limited Insurance captve

The £419 5m of additions represent shares acquired in National Express Intermedate Holdings Limited in relation to the Petermann and
Transt acquisitions, and shares receved from National Exprass Group Holdings Limited in exchange for an inter-company loan recevable
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Financial statements
Notes to the Company Accounts continued

7 Derivative financial instruments

2012 2011

£m £m
Interest rate dervatves 310 237
Dervative financial assets dus over one year 310 237
Forexgn exchange forward contracts 01 80
Denvative financial assets due under one year 0.1 80
Forexgn exchange forward contracts (0.5) {02
Derivative financial habiities due under one year (0.5) 02

Full details of the Group's financial nsk managemant objectives and policies can be found in note 30 of the consolidated accounts As the
holding company for the Group, the Company faces similar nsks over foreign currency and interest rate movements

The Company has taken acdvantage of the exemption under FRS 29 for parent company accounts The disclosures are included within the
consolidated accounts

8 Debtors

2012 2011
£m £m
Amounts owed by subsiciary undertakings 732.2 940 5
Corporation tax recoverable - 271
Deferred tax asset (ses note 13} 9.0 13
Other debtors 05 01
Prepayments and accrued Income 03 48
7420 973 8

9 Cash at bank and in hand
2012 2011
£m £m
Short term deposits 286 250
Cash at bank 8.0 72
366 322

Cash at bank and i hand eams interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates Short term deposits are made for varying
periods of between cne day and three months depending on the immediate cash requrernents of the Comparny, and eam nterest at the
respective short term deposit rates The fair valus of cash equals the carrying value

10 Creditors amounts falling dus within one year

2012 2011

£m £m

Bank overdraft 40.8 1256
Bank loans 1078 -
Tradg creditors 03 07
Amounis owed to subsidiary undertalangs 7410 7745
Corporation tax payable 6.8 -
Accruals and deferred Income 190 197
Bonds - accrued nterest 29.2 299
9449 950 4

Trade creditors are non-interest beanng and are normally settled on 30 day terms and other creditors are non-interest beanng and have
an average term of six months
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11 Creditors amounts falling due after more than one year

2012 201
£m £m
Bonds 590.0 5834
Cther debt payable 652 -
6552 5834
12 Provisions for llabilities and charges

Eurostar

Claims onerous
provision® contract? Other Total
£m £m £m £m
At 1 January 2012 50 90 0.5 145
Charged to profit and loss account 04 - - 04
Utdised in the year 01 90) (0.5} {96)
At 31 December 2012 53 - - 53

' The clams provision anses from estimated exposures at the year end, £2 6m of which will be utitsed in the nexd year and the remaining in five years

It compnses provisions for exasting clams ansing n the UK and North Amenca

2 A prowsion was recogrised In 2006 for the Comparty’s onerous contract for Eurostar with ICRRL. This was settled in 2012 with a final payment of

£90m

13 Deferred tax
The major components of the provision for deforred taxation are as follows

2012 2011

£m £m

Accelerated caprtal allowances 0.2 02

Other tming differences 0.2 04

Losses camed forward 86 Q7

Net deferred tax asset 90 13
The reconciliation of deferred tax balances is as follows

£m

Deferred tax asset at 1 January 2012 13

Credited fo profit and loss 77

Deferred tax asset at 31 December 2012 80

Timing differences associated with Group investments

No deferred tax (2011 Enil) 15 recognised on the urremitted earmings of subsichanes and associatas, as no dividends have been accrued

as recevable, and no binding agreement to distnbute the past earnings in future has been entered into by the subsidianes

Unrecegnised tax losses

Detferred income tax assets are recognised for tax [0ss carry-forwards 10 the extent that the realisation of the related tax benefit against

future taxable profits 1s probable Deferred tax assets that the Company has not recogrused in the accounts amount to £4 1m (2011
£9 2m), which anse where the Company does not expect to generate sufficient surtable future profits
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Financial statements

Notes to the Company Accounts continued

14 Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

The effective interest rates at the balance sheet date were as follows

2012 2011
£m Matunty Effective mterest rate £m Matunty Effactive mierest rate

Current
Bank overdrait 408 On demand LIBOR + 1% 1256 On demand LBOR +1%
European bank loans 794 August 2014! LIBOR + 1 45% - - -
European bark loans 284 Feb 2013 12% - - -
Bank loans 1078
Accrued interast 304 299
Total current 1790 1555
Non-currant
7 ysar Stering Bond 3601 January 2017 6 54% 3516 January 2017 6 54%
10 Year Stering Bond 2239 June 2020 6 85% 2318 June 2020 6 85%
Bonds 5900 5834
Euro Private Placerment 65.2 August 2021 4 55% -
Other debt payable 65.2
Total non-current 655.2 583 4

' This date s the ultimate matunty date of tha syndicated credit facilty

Detals of the Company’s interest rate management strategy and interast rate swaps are included in note 30 and note 31 of the

consoldated accounts

15 Called-up share capital

202 201
£m £m
At 31 December
Authonsed
800,000,000 {2011 800,000,000) ordinary shares cf 5p each 400 400
Issued called-up and fully paid
511,732,603 (2011 511,726,026) ordinary shares cf 5p each 256 256

The total number of share options exercised in the year by employees of the Group was 1,984,855 {2011 1,175,455) of which nil
exercises were satisfied by newly 1ssued shares (2011 ni) and 1,919,772 (2011 1,175,455) exercises were satisfied by transfermng
shares from the National Express Employse Benefit Trust The remaining exercises were settfed via a direct purchase of shares from

the open market
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16 Sharahotders’ funds and statement of changes in shareholders’ equity

ABayens ma uo Buuaaq

Capital
Share Share redemption Owm Profit and
capital premmum reserve shares loss account Total
fm m £m £m £m fm
At 1 January 2012 256 532.7 0.2 (14 0) 130.4 6749
Shares purchased - - - (4.8) - {4.8)
Own shares released to satisfy employee share
schemes - - - 4.5 (4.5) -
Disposal of own shares - - - 13.8 (9.8) 40
Share-based payments - - - - 40 40
Profit for the year - - - - 1807 1807
Dmidends - - - - (49.3) (49 3)
At 31 December 2012 256 532.7 0.2 {0.5) 2515 8095
Own shares

Own shares compnses 535,658 {2011 380,430) ordinary shares In the Company that have been purchased by the Trustees of the
National Express Employee Benelit Trust (the ‘Trust’) During the year, the Trust purchased 2,075,000 (2011 991,615) shares and
1,919,772 (2011 1,175,455) shares wers used to satisty options granted under a number of the Company’s share schemas The market
value of these shares at 31 December 2012 was £1 1m {2011 £0 9m) The dividends payable on thesa shares have been waved

The Group's treasury shares were sold dunng the year and therefore are il (2011 1,668,688) No shares were added or cancalled durng
the year (2011 nil)

AMOINGI SSEUINY

Capnial
Share Share redemption Own Profit and
caprtal prenmium resene shares loss account Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m
At 1 January 2011 256 5327 0z {14 1) 914 6358
Shares purchasad - - - 27} - 27)
Own shares released 1o satisfy employee share
schemes - - - 28 28 -
Share-based payments - - - - 28 29
Profit for the year - - - - 847 847
Dmdends - - - - {458) {458)
At 31 December 2011 256 5327 02 (14 0} 130 4 6749

SIVBLLIBIELS [EroUeLy

17 Retrement benefits

The Company participates in both the National Express Group Stati Pension Fund {(a multi-employer funded defined benefit scheme) and
the WM Pension Scheme (a defined contnbution scheme) The Company 1s unable to identify its share of the undertying assets and
labilities of the muli-employer scheme on a consistent and reasonable basis, and therefore has accounted for the scheme as f it were a
defined contnbution scheme under the requirements of FRS 17, 'Retirement Benefits” Contnbutions to this scheme are determined by
independant professionally qualfied actuanes The details of the latest actuanal valuation are detaled in note 34 to the consolidated
accounts

The total pension charge for the year, ncluding contributions to the defined benefit scheme above the normal charge, amounted to
£4 2m (2011 £59m)
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Financial statements
Notes to the Company Accounts continued

18 Share-based payment

Dunng the year ended 31 December 2012, the Company had the following share-based payment arrangements, which are deseribed in

note 7(b) to the consolidated accounts

For the following disclosure, share options with a nil exercise pnce have been disclosed separately to avoid distorting the weighted average

exercise pnces The number of share options in existence dunng the year was as follows

2012 201
Weighted Weighted
Number average Number average
of share exercise pnce oishare  exercise pnce
options ) options P}
Options without a ni exercise prce
At 1 January 15,035 479 26,724 385
Forferted dunng the year - - (16,544} 339
Group transfers dunng the year - - 12,511 474
BExpired dunng the year {15,035) 479 (7.656) 448
Qutstanding at 31 Decemnber - - 15,035 479
Exercisable at 31 December - - - -
Options with a nil exercise pnce
At 1 January 3,819,477 nil 3,115,965 nil
Granted dunng the year 2,564,947 nil 2,103,653 nil
Forterted dunng the year (208,594) nil (595,456) ni
Group transters dunng the year 313,161 ni 220,151 il
Exercised dunng the year (796,482) nil {597 .633) ni
Expired dunng the year (223,462) nit (427,203) ni
Quistanding at 31 December 5,469,047 nil 3,819,477 il
Exercisable at 31 December 193,928 444 461
Total outstanding at 31 December 5,469,047 3,834,512
Total exercisable at 31 December 193,928 444 A61

There were no options outstanding at 31 December 2012 excluding options with a nil exarcise pnce (2011 none} The range of exercise

pnces for options was as foliows

Exercise pnca (p) 2012 2011
300-600 - 15,085
- 15,035

The options have a weighted average contractual Iife of one year (2011 one year) Options were exercised throughout the ysear and the

weighted average share price at exercise was 223p (2011 244p)
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18 Share-based payment continued

The wenghted average far value of the remaining share options granted dunng the year was calculated using a stochastic mode, with the

following assumptions and inputs

Share options with nil exercise pncs

2012 2011
Risk free Interest rate 0 50%-0 55% 1 30%-1 44%
Expected volatiity 40 0%-44.5% 51 5%-51 6%
Peer group volatity 38.5%-45.5% 55 1%-57 0%
Expected option life in years 3-5years J years
Expected dvdend yeld 4 16%-4.56% 347%-364%
Waeghted average share pnce at grant date 223p 244p
Waerghted average exercise pnce at grant date nil nil
Waeighted average far value of options at grant date 167p 144p

Expenence to date has shown that approximately 24% (2011 249%) of options are exarcised early, pnncipally due to leavers This has been

incorporated Into the calculation of the expected option s for the share options without nil exercise pnce

Expected volatility 1n the table above was determined from histonc volatility over the iast nine years, adpsted for one-off events that were
not considered io be reflective of the volatility of the share pnce going forward The expected dwdend yeld represents the dvidends
declared In the 12 months preceding the date of the grant dvded by the average share price in the month preceding the date of the gramt

For share options granted dunng the year under the LTIP, the TSR targets have been reflacted in the calculation of the far value of the

options above

19 Commitments and contingencies
Operating lease commitments

The Company has entered into operating leases on certain properties Annual commitments under non-cancellable operating leases are as

follows
Land and buldings
2012 201
£m £m
Operating leasaes which expire
Within one year 0.1 01
Within two to five years 02 03

Contingent habilities
{a) Guarantees
The Company has guaranteed crediit faciities totaling £159m (2011 £156m) of certan subsidiaries

(b) Bonds and letters of creait

In the ordinary course of businass, the Company 15 required to issue counter-indemnitios n support of ts operations As at 31 Decemnber
2012 thare was a performance bond for £nil (2011 £9 Om) in respect of Inter-Capital and Regronal Ral mited Letters of credit have been

1Issued 1o support insurance retentions of £36 1m (2011 £30 8my}
20 Related party transactions

The Company has taken advantage of the exemption in paragraph 3c of FRS 8, ‘Related party disclosures’ from disclosing transactions

with whoily owned subsidianes

21 Post balance sheet events
There are no post balance sheet events

www nationalexpressgroup com
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Financial staterments
Shareholder information

Shareholder electronic communications

By registering for electronic communications you can help
us to reduce pnnt, paper and pestage costs Log on to
wwiw shareview co uk if you would kke to

* register your e-mad so that you are able to access future
shareholder information, Including the Annual Report
and Accounts glectronically,

« check the balance of your shareholding,
¢ sat up a dvidend mandate onlne,

+ change your registered postal address or your dvidend
mandate details, or

* submit your vote online pnor to a general meeting

To sign up for the first tme you should click on ‘Register’
and follow the smple Instructions — you will need your
shareholder reference number from your share certificate
or dwvidend voucher or any other cormespondence sent to
you by Equin Limnted

Dividends paid direct to your bank account
Hawving dividends pad direct to your bank account has the
folowing advantages

» avoids the nsk of chegues being lost and incurring a
replacement fee,

* saves you time in presenting the cheque for payment, and

» the dividend Is credited to your account on the payment
date

Consolidated Tax Vouchers

The Company currently 1Issues tax vouchers to shareholders
with every dividend payment  Following a review of this
procedure, the Company will now 1ssue a Censolidated

Tax Voucher (CTV) once a year 1o all shareholders save for
corporate and Institutional shareholders The frst CTV will be
despatched with the 2014 AGM mailing and will contain the
tax and payment information for dmdends paid dunng the
tax year 2013/2014

To set up a new dvidend mandate please log on

to shareview co uk or contact the Registrar,

Equintt Limited, Aspect House, Spencer Read, Lancing,
West Sussex BN93 6DA Sharsholder helpline number
0871 384 2152° or +44 121 M5 7047 from overseas

* Calls to thes number cost Bp per minute plus network extras
Lines open 8 30am to 5 30pm Monday to Fnday

158

Share dealing service

A telephone and intemet share dealing service, which
provides a simple way to buy and sell shares, s avalable
through our Registrar, Equinhy For further information

log on to shareview co uk/dealing or telephone

08456 603 7037" or +44 121 415 7560 from overseas

* Calls to thus number are charged by BT at the tocal rate

Company website

The Comparny website at nationalexpressgroup com

has information about the Group, Ncluding press releases,
share price data and coptes of the half year resufts

and annual report and accounts as well as corporate
responsibility reporting The Company no longer publishes
the half year results In hard copy These will now only be
avallable via the website

ShareGift

ShareGift 1s an ndependent chanty share donation scheme
administered by the Orr Mackintosh Foundation (reqgistered
chanty nurmber 1052686) Those shareholders who hold
only a small number of shares, the value of which makes

it uneconomic to sell them, can denate the shares to
ShareGift who will sell them and donate the proceeds to a
wide range of charties Further nformation about ShareGift
can be obtained from its webste at sharegift org

and a ShareGift transfer form can be downloaded from
nationalexpressgroup com

Unclaimed assets register

The Company participates in the Unclaimed Assets
Register {UAR) which provides a search facirty for
shareholdings and cther financial assets that may have
been forgotten For further information contact UAR by
email at uarenguines@uk expenian com, Tel 0844 481 8180
or wisit uar couk

National Express Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2012



Financial statements .
Dividends and financial calendar

Final dwvdend ex dvdend date
Fnal dvdend record date
Annual General Meeting

Final dvdend payment date

Half year results announced
Intenm dmdend ex dwvdend date
Irtenrn dmidend record date
Intenm dividend payment date

24 Apri 2013
26 Apri 2013

9 May 2013

17 May 2013

25 July 2013

4 September 2013
6 September 2013
20 September 2013

wiww natonalexpressoroup Com
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Financial statemgents
Corporate information

Secretary and registered office
Michael Hampson

National Express Group PLC

National Express House

Birmingham Coach Station

Mill Lane

Birmingham

B5 60D

Tel +44 (008450 130130

www nationalexpressgroup com

Registered number
2590560

Audrtor

Deloitte LLP
Four Brndley Place
Bimingham

Bt 2HZ

Registrar

Equinit Limited

Aspect House

Spencer Road

Lancing

West Sussex

BN99 6DA

Shareholder helpline 0871 384 2152+
or +44 321 415 7047 from overseas

* Calls to this number cost 8p per mnute plus natwork extras
Lines open 8 30am to & 30pm Mondzay to Fniday

Prncipal banker
HSBC Bank plc

8 Canada Square
Londen

E14 5HQ

Corporate solicitors
Ashurst LLP

Broadwalk House

5 Appold Street

London

EC2A 2HA

Financial advisors

Bank of Amernca Memll Lynch
2 King Edward Street

London

EC1A 1HQ

Stockbrokers

Bank of America Mermnll Lynch
2 King Edward Street

Londion

EC1A 1HQ

Morgan Stanley
25 Cabot Square
Canary Wharf
London

E14 40A
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Financial statements

Glossary

8PS
BSOG

CPI

CSOG

The Company
cTv

EBT
EBIT
EBITDA

EFQM
EPS

ETR

EU
EURIBOR
Gearing ratio

The Group
HMRC

Net capitaf expendrture

Net debt

Net interest expense

NXEA

Basis points

Bus Senvce Operators Grant

The UK Corporate Governance Code pubhished by the Financial Reporting Council in June 2010
Consurmer Prce Index

Coach Service Operators Gramt

National Express Group PLC

Consolidated Tax Voucher

Department for Transport

Employee Benefit Trust

Earmings Before Interest and Tax

15 'Eamings Before Interest and Tax plus Depreciation and Amortisation’ |t 1s calculated by taking normalised
operating profit and adding depreciation, fixed asset grant amortisation, normalised profit on disposal of non-
current assets and share-based payments

European Foundation for Quality Management

Earnings per share — the profit for the year attnbutable to shareholders, divided by the werghted average
number of shares i 1ssue, excluding those held by the Employee Benefit Trust and shares held n treasury
which are treated as cancelled

Effectve tax rate
European Union
Euro Interbank Offered Rate

For debt financing purpeses Is caiculated as net debt, adjusted to reflect any cash which is restncted
" usa, dvided by EBITDA

The Company and s subsidianes

Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs

International Accounting Standards

International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee
International Financial Reporting Standards

Key Performance Indicator

London and Continental Raiway Ltd

London interbank Offered Rate

Long Term Incentive Plan

National Association of Pension Funds

15 the increass N net debt ansing on the purchase of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets

less proceeds from disposals of proparty, plant and equipment it excludes capital expenditure ansing from

UK rail franchise entry and exats and discortinued operations, which are mcluded i thess headings Growth
capital expenditure 1s calculated as nvestment in fleet for new contracts and concessions, after deducting fleet
released from contracts and concessions lost and fleet re-used In new contracts and concessions

15 defined as cash and cash equivalents {cash overnight deposds, other short term deposits), and other debt

recenables, offset by borrowings (loan notes, bank loans and finance lease obligations) and other debt payable

1s finance costs less finance Income

Naticnal Express East Anglia

www natonalaxpressgroup com
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Financial statements
Glossary contnued

Normalised earnings per
share

Normahsed operating profit

Normalised profit margm

Normalised results

Operating cash flow
RCF

Return on caprtal employed
{ROCE)}

Return on equity

Return on tangible assets
RPS

RREV

SPAD

TiL

Underlying revenue

TOC
TSR

UK GAAP
ULSD

earnings per share, excluding the profit or loss on sale of businesses, exceptional profit or loss
on the disposal of non-current assets, intangible asset amortisation, exceptional terns and tax
relief on qualifying exceptional terms

are the statutory results excluding profit or loss on the sale of business, exceptional profit or loss on sale of
non-current assets and charges for goodwil imparment, intangible asset amortisation, exceptional tems
and tax relef thereon The Board believes that the normalised resutt gives a better iIndication of the underlying
performance of the Group

18 normalised profit dvided by revenue, expressed as a percentage

are defined as the statutory results before the following, as approprate profit or loss on tha sale of business,
exceptional profit or loss on sale of non-current assets and charges for goodwil mpairment, intangible asset
amortisation, exceptional rems and tax relief thereon

18 Intended to be the cash flow equivalent of narmalised operating profit
Revolving Credit Facility

1s normalised operating profit dvided by the sum of net assets and net detit

1s normalised profit after tax less the post-tax amortisahon of ntangible assets dwvided by
shareholders’ equity

15 normalised operating profit dvidend by the sum of net assets {excluding intangble assets) and net debt
Raillway Pension Scheme

Research Recommendation and Electronic Voting — a corporate governance advisory senvice

Signat Passed at Danger

Transport for London

compares the current year with the prior year on a consistent basis, after adjusting for the impact
of curency, acquisitions, disposals and ral franchises no longer operated

Tran Operating Comparny

Total Shareholder Return ~ the growth in value of a shareholding over a specified perod assuming
that dmdends are reinvested to purchase additional shares

UK Generally Accepted Accounting Prnciples
Ultra low sufphur diesel
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Financial statements
Five year summary

2012 201 2010 2009 2008
£m £m £m £m £m

Bus and Coach (Non-Rail)
Revenue 1,6361 15497 14884 1,5214 14345
Normahsed operating profit” 1852 1818 1704 1478 1726
Return on caprtal (pre tax)™ 10 6% 106% 102% 93% 91%
Basic eamings per share 21 6p 207p 188p 277p 291p
Group normalised®
Revenue 1,8312 22380 21259 27111 27670
Normahsed operating profit” 2119 2252 2042 1598 2539
Return on caprtal {pre tax)™ 12 2% 14 1% 132% 107% 14 4%
Diluted sarmings per share! 254p 26 9p 235p 304p 486p
Group Statutory
Revenue 18312 22380 21259 27111 27670
Operating profit 1176 174 4 859 {06) 1678
Profitiloss) before tax 698 1294 a02 (835 1009
Basic earnings/{loss} per share' 11 8p 199p 120p (176)p 404p
Dnndends per share - declared 9 75p 950p 600p - 2272p
Net {debt)/funds
Cash at bank and in hand 728 925 1288 1058 1059
Other debt recevable 1.0 07 07 08 09
Loan notes - - - - {08)
Bonds (5900) {583 4) {565 6) - -
Bank and cther loans (114 8) 79 @398 (6877) (11508)
Farr valus of bond hedging denvatves 234 164 (11) - -
Finance lease obligations (154 7) (1513 (131 6) {75 6) {1339
Other debt payable 66 1) o7 (18 12) {t1)
Net debt (828.2) 633 7) (6104) 6579 11798
Geanng rano 2 5x 19x 21x 25x 35x

Normafised results are defined as the statutory results before the folowing as appropriate profit or loss on sale of businesses, exceptional profit or loss on sale
of non-current assets, mtangible amortisabon property, plant and equipment Imparments, exceptonal tems and tax refief on qualiying exceptonal tems

*  Normalised operatmg profit/captal employed

' Earmings per share figures have been restated for the effect of the 2009 Rights Issue
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Cautionary statement

This Business Review 1s iIntended to focus on maters
which are relevant to the interests of shareholders of

the Company The purpose of this review 1s to assist
shareholders In assessing the strateges adopted and
performance delivered by the Company and the potential
for those strategies to succeed |t should not be rebed

on by any other party or for any other purpose

Forward looking statements are made in good faith,
based on a number of assumptions concerning future
events and nformation avalable to Directors at the tme

of their approval of this report These forward looking
statements should be treated with cauion due to the
inherent uncertainties undertying any such forward lcoking
information  The user of these accounts should not rely
unduty on these forward looking statemenis, which are
not a guaramee of performance and which are subject to
a number of uncertainties and other facts, many of which
arg outside the Company’s control and could cause actual
events to differ matenally from those in these statements
No guarantes can be grven of future results, tevels of
actmty, performance or achievements

Thes Annual Report and Accounts 1§ pnnted on Amadeus Sik and
Uncoated 100% Racyded which are papers with FSC certificaton
and EU Ecolabelled Thes is your agsurance that the wood fibres n thig
product have been sourced from responsible and renewable sources
with a ¢chan of custody covenng the whole process. The panting
process s also covered by ISC14001 the standard for erwwonmental
maragement, [t you have firushed reading this report and ne longer
wsh to retan i, please pass it on to other nterested readers or dispose
of it n your recycled paper waste
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